

UNITED KINGDOM · CHINA · MALAYSIA

Constitutive Release of Purines in Control of Vascular Contractility

Aali Alqarni, MSc. Pharmacology

School of Life Sciences Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences University of Nottingham

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

March 2023

Abstract

Most large and medium sized arteries are surrounded by perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT). PVAT was once considered a passive structural component of the vascular wall, not an active regulator of vascular homeostasis. However, PVAT releases several active mediators that have a paracrine effect on vascular tone. Adipocytes express P2X and P2Y receptors, whose activation influences a number of adipocyte functions including the release of adipokines. Adipocytes can also release nucleotides to control adipocyte activity. It is unknown whether this occurs in PVAT and alters the tone of the adjacent vasculature. The constitutive release of purines in blood vessels is relatively unknown. However, it is important to understand vascular control mechanisms to offer new therapeutic approaches for cardiovascular diseases such as hypertension. The main purpose of this study was to determine if nucleotides (ATP/UTP) are released constitutively from PVAT to regulate the vascular tone of porcine mesenteric artery. Further investigation was performed to examine the possibility that P2X, P2Y, and adenosine receptors may contribute to the vasorelaxant effect induced by AR-C118925XX (a P2Y₂ receptor antagonist). Additionally, I investigated whether the nucleotides ATP and UTP activate P2Y receptors to release adiponectin and leptin from 3T3-L1 adipocytes. I also examined whether the anti-contractile effect of PVAT in response to ATP and UTP in porcine splenic arteries may be associated with adiponectin release.

Isometric tension recordings were performed using mesenteric arteries obtained from large white hybrid pigs with and without PVAT. A direct vasorelaxant effect of suramin (P2 receptor antagonist), AR-C118925XX and MSG228 (P2Y₂ receptor antagonists) was found on U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone of porcine mesenteric arteries. Apyrase (metabolises nucleotides) abolished the vasorelaxant response of pre-

i

contracted mesenteric arteries to AR-C118925XX. Additionally, apyrase caused a dual effect of contraction and relaxation in pre-contracted mesenteric arteries. ARL67156 (ectonucleotidases inhibitor) directly caused an initial small contraction in U46619- pre-constricted mesenteric artery tone. Further experiments demonstrated that the connexin/pannexin channel inhibitors carbenoxolone and probenecid also caused a relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in porcine mesenteric arteries.

In this study, evidence ruled out the involvement of PVAT, endothelium and P2X and adenosine receptors in nucleotides release and responses to P2 receptor antagonists, suggesting that nucleotide release and actions involves the vascular smooth muscle. Relaxation of AR-C118925XX was also observed in further vascular beds and species in this study, specifically porcine coronary and splenic arteries, as well as rat mesenteric arteries.

Extracellular ATP was measured by luminescence directly from the Krebs solution in porcine mesenteric arteries. It appears that isolated mesenteric arteries are capable of releasing ATP and the presence of PVAT in this experiment increased the amount of ATP released from isolated mesenteric arteries. However, there were no differences in the effects of P2 receptor antagonists in the presence or absence of PVAT on mesenteric artery tone.

The present study also identified the role of extracellular nucleotides ATP and UTP in adiponectin release from 3T3-L1 adipocytes via activation of P2Y₂ receptors. Adiponectin release was not regulated by constitutive activation of P2Y₂ receptors. In isolated arteries, the presence of PVAT in splenic, but not mesenteric, arteries decreased the level of contraction induced by ATP and UTP. The anti-contractile effects of PVAT on porcine splenic arteries in response to ATP and UTP might be mediated by adiponectin and other relaxant factors.

Together, these results demonstrated that endogenous ATP/UTP is released constitutively from vascular smooth muscle via connexins and pannexins to act on vasocontractile P2Y₂ receptors.

ii

Publications

- 1- Alqarni A, Maneesai P, Dunn WR, Ralevic V. (2019). Direct vasorelaxant effect of the selective P2Y₂ receptor antagonist AR-C118925XX in mesenteric arteries: constitutive release of purines in control of vascular contractility? Pharmacology 2019. Edinburgh International Conference Centre, Edinburgh, UK.
- 2- Alqarni A, Maneesai P, Dunn WR, Ralevic V. (2019). Direct vasorelaxant effect of the selective P2Y₂ receptor antagonist AR-C118925XX in mesenteric arteries: constitutive release of purines in control of vascular contractility? UK Purine Club 10th Anniversary Symposium 2019, Sheffield, UK.
- 3- Alqarni A, Dunn WR, Ralevic V. (2021). Role of UTP-sensitive P2Y receptors, P2X receptors and the endothelium in the vasorelaxant effect induced by AR-C118925XX. Pharmacology 2021, Online, Worldwide.
- 4- Alqarni A, Dunn WR, Stocks MJ, Ralevic V. (2021).
 Constitutive release of purines in control of vascular contractility. (2021). UK Purines Virtual conference, 2021.
- 5- Alqarni A, & Baghdadi A. (2022). Functional role of adenosine via K_{ATP} channels in cerebral capillary endothelial cells and pericytes. Purinergic Signalling, Journal club.
- 6- Alqarni A, Dunn WR, Ralevic V. (2022). Roles of purinergic receptors in adiponectin and leptin release in adipocytes. Pharmacology 2022. ACC Convention Centre, Liverpool, UK.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisors, Dr Vera Ralevic and Dr William Dunn for their continuous support throughout my PhD journey. The guidance, patience and encouragement they have provided me since my first day have been invaluable.

I would like to thank Dr Michael Garle for his general support and advice in E34 laboratory. Also, a special thanks to all E34 staff and colleagues for their support.

My dearest mother and father deserve my eternal gratitude for their continuous encouragement and support. I am deeply grateful to my wife Salihah Alqarni, and my children Reema and Abdullah for their tolerance, patience, encouragement and understanding.

My special gratitude to Albaha University and the Saudi Arabian Cultural Bureau in London for funding my PhD.

Table of Contents

| Abstracti |
|---|
| Publicationsiii |
| Acknowledgements iv |
| Abbreviations ix |
| Chapter 1 |
| General introduction1 |
| 1.1 Blood vessel structure 2 |
| 1.1.1 Regulation of vascular tone 4 |
| 1.2 Purinergic receptors 9 |
| 1.2.1 Adenosine Receptors 10 |
| 1.2.2 P2X Receptors |
| 1.2.3 P2Y Receptors |
| 1.2.4 Nucleotides release |
| 1.2.5 Metabolism of nucleotides |
| 1.3 Adipose tissues |
| 1.3.1 Perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) |
| 1.3.2 Adipokines |
| 1.3.3 Purinergic receptors in adipose tissue |
| 1.4 Aims |
| Chapter 2 |
| Materials and Methods |
| 2.1 Porcine tissue preparation |
| 2.2 Isometric tension recording 44 |
| 2.3 Experimental protocols46 |
| 2.3.1 Effect of purinergic receptor antagonists on U46619-induced contractions of porcine arteries |
| 2.3.2 Effect of connexin and pannexin channel blockers on U46619-induced contractions of porcine mesenteric artery 47 |
| 2.3.3 Effect of AR-C118925XX on vascular tone in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries desensitised with UTP and α,β-meATP |
| 2.3.4 Effect of exogenous ATP and UTP on vascular tone in porcine-isolated mesenteric arteries |
| 2.3.5 Effect of ecto-ATPase and ecto-ATPase inhibitor on vascular tone in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries 48 |
| 2.3.6 Contraction response of ATP and UTP in porcine splenic arteries with and without PVAT |

| 2.3.7 Determination of ATP concentration in porcine isolated means arteries | senteric 49 |
|---|--------------------------|
| 2.4 Cell culture | 50 |
| 2.4.1 Oil red O staining of 3T3-L1 adipocytes | 52 |
| 2.4.2 Treatment of 3T3-L1 adipocytes | 53 |
| 2.4.3 Measurement of adiponectin and leptin concentrations | 54 |
| 2.5 Chemicals | 54 |
| 2.6 Statistical analysis | 56 |
| Chapter 3 | 57 |
| The possible release of nucleotides from PVAT in regulating vascular | r tone in |
| porcine mesenteric arteries | |
| 2.1 Introduction | ΓO |
| | |
| 3.2.1 Effect of suramin on vascular tone in norcine isolated mese | nteric |
| arteries | |
| 3.2.2 Effect of AR-C118925XX on vascular tone in porcine isolate mesenteric arteries | ؛ d 61 |
| 3.2.3 Effects of the selective $P2Y_2$ receptor antagonist MSG228 o tone in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries | n vascular 64 |
| 3.2.4 Effect of exogenous ATP and UTP on vascular tone in porci mesenteric arteries | ne isolated 66 |
| 3.2.5 Effect of combination of ATP and UTP in porcine isolated m arteries | esenteric 72 |
| 3.2.6 Effect of ecto-ATPase, apyrase, and ecto-ATPase inhibitor A on vascular tone in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries | ARL67156, 73 |
| 3.3 Discussion | 81 |
| Chapter 4 | 88 |
| Investigating the role of the endothelium and connexin and pannexi | n channels |
| in the vasorelaxant effect induced by AR-C118925XX, and the select | ive |
| involvement of P2Y ₂ receptors | 88 |
| 4.1 Introduction | 89 |
| 4.2 RESULTS | |
| 4.2.1 Effect of AR-C118925XX on vascular tone in endothelium d porcine isolated mesenteric arteries | enuded 91 |
| 4.2.2 Effect of AR-C118925XX on vascular tone of isolated meser arteries pre-contracted with KCI, phenylephrine and endothelin . | nteric 92 |
| 4.2.3 Effect of AR-C118925XX on vascular tone in porcine isolate mesenteric arteries desensitised with UTP | ي d 95 |
| 4.2.4 Effect of MRS2578, a P2Y6 receptor antagonist, on vascular | tone in |
| porcine mesenteric arteries | |

| 4.2.5 Involvement of P2X receptors in the vasorelaxant effect induced by AR-C118925XX in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries |
|--|
| 4.2.6 Involvement of adenosine receptors in the vasorelaxant effect induced by AR-C118925XX in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries |
| 4.2.7 Effects of connexin and pannexin channel blockers on vascular tone in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries |
| 4.2.8 ATP concentration in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries 106 |
| 4.2.9 Effect of AR-C118925XX on vascular tone in porcine isolated coronary and splenic arteries, and in human and rat mesenteric arteries |
| 4.3 Discussion |
| Chapter 5 119 |
| Investigating the region-specific anti-contractile effect of PVAT in porcine |
| arteries, and the role of ATP and UTP in adipokines release from 3T3-L1 |
| adipocytes |
| 5.1 Introduction |
| 5.2 RESULTS |
| 5.2.1 Effect of PVAT in the contractile response of mesenteric arteries 122 |
| 5.2.2 Contractile responses of ATP and UTP in mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT |
| 5.2.3 Effect of PVAT in the contractile response of splenic arteries |
| 5.2.4 Contractile responses of ATP and UTP in splenic arteries with and without PVAT |
| 5.2.5 Effects of nucleotides on the release of leptin from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes |
| 5.2.6 Effects of P2 receptor antagonists on the release of leptin from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes |
| 5.2.7 Effects of nucleotides on the release of adiponectin from cultured 3T3- L1 adipocytes |
| 5.2.8 Effects of P2 receptor antagonists on the release of adiponectin from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes |
| 5.2.9 Effect of the selective P2Y ₂ receptor antagonists AR-C118925XX and MSG228 on ATP and UTP-induced adiponectin release |
| 5.2.10 Effect of AdipoRon on vascular tone in porcine isolated splenic arteries with PVAT |
| 5.2.11 Effect of anti-Adiponectin antibody on contractile responses induced by ATP and UTP in splenic arteries with PVAT |
| 5.3 Discussion |
| Chapter 6 |
| General Discussion |
| 6.1 Overview of the main findings143 |
| 6.2 The selective involvement of P2Y ₂ receptors and nucleotides release 144 |

| 6.3 The interactions between nucleotides with | PVAT-derived mediators 149 |
|---|-----------------------------------|
| 6.4 Future studies | |
| 6.5 Conclusion | 153 |
| Appendices | |
| References | |

Abbreviations

| AC | Adenylyl cyclase |
|------------------|---|
| ADRF | Adipose-derived relaxing factor |
| BAT | Brown adipose tissues |
| BK_{Ca} | Calcium-activated potassium channels |
| cAMP | Cyclic adenosine monophosphate |
| cGMP | Cyclic guanosine monophosphate |
| COX | Cyclooxygenase |
| DG | Diacylglycerol |
| DMSO | Dimethyl sulfoxide |
| EDHF | Endothelium derived hyperpolarizing factor |
| EDRF | Endothelium derived relaxing factors |
| eNOS | Endothelial NO synthase |
| ENPP | Ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase family |
| GPCRs | G-protein-coupled receptors |
| H_2O_2 | Hydrogen peroxide |
| H_2S | Hydrogen sulphide |
| IP ₃ | Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate |
| MAPKs | Mitogen-activated protein kinases |
| MLC | Myosin light chain |
| MLCK | Myosin light chain kinase |
| NO | Nitric oxide |
| NTPDase | Ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase |
| PGI ₂ | Prostacyclin |
| РКС | Protein kinase C |
| PLC | Phospholipase C |
| PVAT | Perivascular adipose tissue |
| PVCF | PVAT-derived contractor factor |

- PVRF Perivascular-derived relaxing factors
- sGC Soluble guanylate cyclase
- TNFa Tumor necrosis factor alpha
- TXA₂ Thromboxane
- UCP Uncoupling protein
- VGCC voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels
- VSMCs Vascular smooth muscle cells
- WAT White adipose tissue

Chapter 1

General introduction

1.1 Blood vessel structure

The vascular system consists of a series of vessels that play a vital role in distributing the blood flow throughout the circulatory system. The blood vessels are divided into arteries, veins and capillaries. Arteries supply the organs with blood and carry oxygenated blood from the heart while veins carry deoxygenated blood back to the heart (Pugsley & Tabrizchi, 2000). Capillaries connect the smallest branches of vessels, arterioles and venules, and are responsible for exchanging oxygen, carbon dioxide, metabolites, and nutrients with tissues (Mazurek et al., 2017). The blood vessel wall in general consists of three main layers as follows: tunica intima, tunica media and tunica adventitia (Figure 1.1). The tunica intima or tunica interna, is an inner layer of endothelial cells, which lines the entire vasculature. A number of physiological and pathological functions are performed by the endothelium including modulation of vascular tone and blood flow, effects on cellular proliferation, immunity and inflammatory response regulation and blood coagulation. A number of substances and biologically active factors such as nitric oxide (NO), prostacyclin (PGI₂), thromboxane (TXA₂) and endothelium derived hyperpolarizing factor (s) (EDHF) are released by endothelium which modulate vasomotor function and affect homeostasis (Kang, 2014; Klabunde, 2011; Sandoo et al., 2010). NO for example is a key vasodilator released through the actions of locally released and circulating factors acting on endothelial receptors or in response to shear stress. NO also inhibits platelet adhesion and aggregation as well as suppressing abnormal vascular smooth muscle cell migration (Oparil et al., 2003).

The tunica media is the middle layer which is composed of smooth muscle cells and elastic connective tissue. In the tunica media of vessels, large or small, smooth muscle cells are the most common type of cells. The vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) are primarily responsible for regulating blood vessel tone through vasoconstriction and vasodilation. During vasoconstriction, smooth muscle in tunica media contracts, causing the

lumen to narrow and upstream arterial pressure to increase. Vasodilation increases blood flow as smooth muscle relaxes, thus widening the lumen and decreasing systemic blood pressure. A balance between vasodilator and vasoconstrictor responses regulates vascular tone. The sympathetic smooth innervates muscle via nervous system post-ganglionic noradrenergic neurons (Brozovich et al., 2016; Goodwill et al., 2017). The outer layer (tunica adventitia or tunica externa) contains collagen, fibroblasts, lymphatics and perivascular nerves and provides strength and flexibility to the arterial wall. The capillaries are composed of a single layer of endothelial cells and a basement membrane without smooth muscle. Tunica media and tunica adventitia are thicker in arteries than veins (Klabunde, 2011; Regan et al., 2015).



Figure 1.1: A diagram showing the three different layers of an artery wall, tunica intima, tunica media, and tunica adventitia. An arterial wall cross section showing the main vascular cells, VSMCs and ECs.

1.1.1 Regulation of vascular tone

Blood flow through the body is driven by arterial blood pressure, which is determined by total peripheral resistance and cardiac output. The length and the diameter of blood vessels control peripheral resistance. In addition to providing an important role for regional circulation of blood flow and tone, small resistance arteries (lumen diameter 50-400 µm) regulate blood pressure by controlling vascular resistance. The cardiac output which is the amount of blood pumped by the heart each minute, is determined by the heart rate and stroke volume. The control of vascular tone and vessel diameter are a very complex process controlled by neurogenic and endocrine factors (e.g. noradrenaline, angiotensin II, vasopressin), as well as local factors (e.g. endothelin, NO, acetylcholine and ATP) (Christensen & Mulvany, 2001; Gordan et al., 2015; Regan et al., 2015). VSMCs control blood pressure and blood distribution by dynamically contracting and relaxing. An increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration triggers VSMC contraction. It is possible to increase intracellular free Ca²⁺ concentrations either by releasing Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores in the sarcoplasmic reticulum and/or by allowing Ca^{2+} to enter the extracellular space through plasma membrane Ca²⁺ channels, particularly via L-type voltage-gated calcium channels. Calmodulin binds Ca²⁺ in the cytosol forming the Ca²⁺calmodulin complex and activating myosin light chain (MLC) kinase (Figure 1.2). Consequently, MLC is phosphorylated and a cross-bridge is formed with actin, which leads to smooth muscle contraction (Gao et al., 2013; Zhao et al., 2015). In addition to increasing extracellular Ca²⁺ influx, in response to some agonists such as hormones or neurotransmitters through GPCRs, release of intracellular Ca²⁺ can be stimulated through IP₃ receptors by activating phospholipase C, which in turn forms inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate (IP₃), which triggers Ca^{2+} release from the intracellular Ca^{2+} stores in the sarcoplasmic reticulum (Kuo & Ehrlich, 2015; Webb, 2003). Store-operated calcium channels (SOCs) are also important calcium signalling pathways. SOCs are mainly activated when intracellular calcium stores from sarcoplasmic reticulum are depleted (Parekh & Putney Jr, 2005). In addition, Ca²⁺-independent pathways are involved in contraction of VSMCs through Rho protein kinase pathways, a family of small GPTases mainly located at the plasma membrane of VSMCs. Rho kinase activation causes the inhibition of MLC phosphatase. This promotes a higher degree of myosin light chain phosphorylation, which stimulates smooth muscle contractions (Fukata et al., 2001).



Figure 1.2: Vascular smooth muscle contraction mechanism. Ca^{2+} enters the extracellular space through plasma membrane Ca^{2+} channels or by

coupling through a GPCRs, the cell increases phospholipase C (PLC) activity following this binding. Diacylglycerol (DG) and inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate (IP₃) are potent second messengers produced by the membrane lipid phosphatidylinositol 4, 5-bisphosphate by PLC. The DG, together with Ca²⁺, activates protein kinase C (PKC), which phosphorylates specific target proteins. PKC promotes contractions in smooth muscles. An increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ levels is further induced by IP₃ by releasing Ca²⁺ from the sarcoplasmic reticulum. Myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) is activated when calcium binds to calmodulin. A contraction is induced when myosin light chain (MLC) is phosphorylated by (MLCK). In addition, in response Ca²⁺ reduction in sarcoplasmic reticulum, SOCs are activated. The second mechanism involves activating a guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) that converts Rho-GDP into Rho-GTP via the GPCR. MLCP is inhibited and contractions are induced by ROCK/2 kinases activated by Rho.

Relaxation of smooth muscles is caused either by the removal of contractile stimuli, or by substances that directly inhibit contractility. Endogenous and exogenous substances can bind to GPCRs on the endothelium, stimulating EDHF and producing NO, PGI₂, and other diffusible mediators such as hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) . With regard to EDHF myoendothelial gap junction (MEGJ), electrically couple between VSMCs and endothelial cells, such that the hyperpolarizing current can reach adjacent VSMCs, ultimately causing hyperpolarization and relaxation. Increasing intracellular Ca2+ concentration in the endothelium contributes to activation of these vasodilator pathways. For example, by increasing Ca²⁺ concentration, calcium-calmodulin complexes will be formed, which activate the calmodulin-binding domain of the endothelial NO synthase (eNOS), resulting in catalysing the breakdown of L-arginine into NO (Quillon et al., 2015). Endothelial cells release NO which targets smooth muscle cells and relaxes them by activating a soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC) and elevating intracellular cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) levels, resulting in the activation of cGMP-dependent protein kinases (PKG). The cGMP/PKG

signalling works by dilating blood vessels through a number of pathways including activation of calcium-activated potassium channels (BK_{Ca}) resulting in the loss of intracellular potassium and hyperpolarization of the plasma membrane and decreased calcium influx through voltage-gated calcium channels. The cGMP/PKG also controls intracellular calcium levels through regulation of sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium release by phosphorylation of IP₃ receptors (Francis et al., 2010; Lincoln et al., 2001). In addition, a major role is played by cyclooxygenase (COX) in vascular endothelium in the production of PGI₂. Adenylyl cyclase (AC) is stimulated by PGI₂ by binding to the prostacyclin receptor (IP) on the VSMC membrane, which leading to conversion of ATP to cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), activating PKA and causing vasodilation (Barac & Panza, 2009) (Figure 1.3).

KCl is commonly used as a depolarizing agent and as a standard tool-set used in cardiovascular isometric tension experiments. KCl depolarizes muscle cells by increasing extracellular potassium concentrations. As a result of this depolarization, muscle contractions are triggered and calcium influx is increased through VGCC (Ratz et al., 2005).



Figure 1.3: Vascular smooth muscle relaxation mechanism. A response to external neuronal, humoral or mechanical stimulation calcium-calmodulin complexes will be formed as Ca²⁺ concentration increases, activating the calmodulin-binding domain of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) to catalyze the breakdown of L-arginine into NO. As NO diffuses to nearby smooth muscle cells (VSMC), it activates soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC), increasing intracellular cGMP production. The cGMP-dependent protein kinase (PKG), which regulates many target proteins, is activated by cGMP. Relaxation requires a decrease in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration, a

decrease in intracellular K⁺ levels and an increase in MLC phosphatase (MLCP) activity. Endothelial cells produce PGI₂. The prostacyclin receptor (IP) is the main target of PGI₂. Adenylyl cyclase (AC) and cAMP are increased by PGI₂/IP coupling to G_s. In turn, activation of cAMP can trigger the activation of PKA and the inhibition of MLCK, leading to relaxation.

1.2 Purinergic receptors

Nucleotide and nucleoside receptors are widely expressed in various organs. Purinergic signalling plays an important role in controlling many biological functions through activation of extracellular purine and pyrimidine receptors, which are expressed throughout the body system including cardiovascular, central and peripheral nervous, respiratory and gastrointestinal systems. Many types of cells within the vascular system express purinergic receptors, including endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, platelets and immune cells. A variety of vascular functions are regulated by purinergic receptors, such as vascular permeability, vascular proliferation and cell remodelling, migration, platelet activation, endothelium function and contractility. Several vascular diseases including atherosclerosis, hypertension and thrombosis are thought to be caused by the dysfunction of these receptors (Burnstock & Ralevic, 2014; Ralevic & Dunn, 2015). Currently, fifteen different purinergic receptors for adenine and uridine nucleotides and nucleotide sugars have been identified in mammals. The original nomenclature of the purinergic receptors was introduced in 1978 by Burnstock. This classification divided receptors into P1 for adenosine and P2 for ATP and ADP. Adenosine P1 receptors are divided into subtypes referred to as A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ which all belong to the G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) superfamily. P2 receptors were then classified into two types P2X and P2Y receptors. P2X receptors are ligandgated ion channel receptors and comprise seven receptor subtypes P2X1, P2X2, P2X3, P2X4, P2X5, P2X6 and P2X7 which are activated in response to extracellular ATP. P2Y receptors are typical GPCR and include eight mammalian subtypes $P2Y_1$, $P2Y_2$, $P2Y_4$, $P2Y_6$, $P2Y_{11}$, $P2Y_{12}$, $P2Y_{13}$, and

 $P2Y_{14}$. P2Y receptors are activated by a variety of extracellular nucleotides including ATP, ADP, UTP, UDP and UDP-glucose (Table 1.1) (Fredholm et al., 2021; Illes et al., 2021; Jacobson et al., 2020). Purinergic receptors have been identified in various porcine tissues, including A₁, A₂, P2X1 and P2Y₂ (Alefishat et al., 2015; Shatarat et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2019). The present thesis focusses on the role of purines in regulating vascular contractility.

| Table | 1.1: | Adenosine, | purine | and | pyrimidine | nucleotides | acting | at |
|--------|---------|------------|--------|-----|------------|-------------|--------|----|
| purine | rgic re | eceptors. | | | | | | |

| Agonist | Receptor | Reference |
|-------------|---|------------------------------|
| Adenosine | A ₁ , A _{2A} , A _{2B} , A ₃ | |
| ATP | P2X1-P2X7,P2Y ₁ P2Y ₂ , P2Y ₁₁ | |
| ADP | P2Y ₁ , P2Y ₁₂ , P2Y ₁₃ | (Fredholm et al., 2021; |
| UTP | P2Y ₂ , P2Y ₄ , P2Y ₆ | Illes et al., 2021; Jacobson |
| UDP | P2Y ₆ | |
| UDP-glucose | P2Y ₁₄ | |

1.2.1 Adenosine Receptors

Adenosine is the main agonist at P1 receptors; therefore, the term adenosine receptor is used to indicate these receptors. Adenosine is an endogenous nucleoside produced mainly from the metabolism of ATP. There are four different adenosine receptors (A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃). These receptors are widely distributed throughout the body. Adenosine signalling through these receptors is mainly mediated through adenylyl cyclase activation or inhibition. A₁ and A₃ receptors are coupled to the Gi/o protein and a-subunits which inhibit intracellular cyclic adenosine monophosphate

(cAMP) production and results in reduction of PKA activity. A_{2A} and A_{2B} receptors interact with Gs/olf proteins, which stimulate intracellular cAMP production and results in stimulation of PKA. Furthermore, adenosine receptors can stimulate further pathways involving phospholipase C (PLC), mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) and Ca²⁺. Adenosine receptors are involved in regulation of cardiac contractility, heart rate and vascular tone (Fredholm et al., 2001; Jacobson & Gao, 2006).

Adenosine receptors have been reported to cause vasoconstriction or vasodilation in different blood vessels and species (Ralevic, 2009). The adenosine vasorelaxant effects are mediated mainly by A_{2A} and A_{2B} receptors which are distributed in both the smooth muscle and endothelium (Headrick et al., 2013; Kemp & Cocks, 1999; Ralevic & Burnstock, 1998). It has been reported that endothelium plays a crucial role in adenosineinduced relaxation in a number of blood vessels such as the aorta (Arsyad & Dobson, 2016; Lewis et al., 1994). There is evidence that adenosineinduced vasodilation is associated with the activation of endothelial NO, prostanoids and hyperpolarizing factors (Mustafa et al., 2009; Ray & Marshall, 2006). In porcine vessels, it has been shown that adenosine generates concentration-dependent relaxation in mesenteric and coronary arteries and retinal arterioles (Alefishat et al., 2015; Riis-Vestergaard et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2019). It has been shown that adenosine stimulates K_{ATP} channels and induces hyperpolarization in mesenteric arteries smooth muscle and cerebral capillary endothelium by activating AC-cAMP-PKA pathways (Kleppisch & Nelson, 1995; Sancho et al., 2022). In addition to vosorelaxation, vasoconstriction mediated by adenosine receptors has been reported in several vascular beds. For example, contraction responses have been shown to be mediated by an A₁ receptors in mice aorta and afferent arterioles (Hansen et al., 2003; Kunduri et al., 2013).

1.2.2 P2X Receptors

It is well established that P2X receptors are widely expressed throughout arteries and veins and are involved in modulation of vascular tone. P2X

receptors are cell surface ligand-gated ion channels activated in response to extracellular ATP. Seven subunits of the P2X receptors have been cloned and recognised (P2X1-7) with 35–54% similarity in sequence. All P2X subunits have a common topology with two hydrophobic transmembrane domains with a large extracellular ATP-binding site loop and intracellular cytoplasmic amino and carboxyl termini containing binding sites of protein kinases. It is possible for P2X receptor subunits to form functional trimeric homomers (containing the same subunits) for example, P2X1 and P2X7 or heteromers (containing different subunits) such as P2X1/2, P2X1/4, P2X1/5, P2X2/3, P2X2/6, P2X4/6 and P2X4/7 and the properties are different for each (Browne, 2012; Coddou et al., 2011; Lewis & Evans, 2001; North, 2002). In response to ATP binding to the extracellular loop of P2X receptors, there is a conformational change in the transmembrane channel promoting efflux of K⁺ and influx of Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ through voltagegated Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ channels respectively, leading to membrane depolarization and vasoconstriction. Sympathetic nerves are an important source of ATP acting at vascular smooth muscle P2X receptors but other sources include contracting smooth muscle cells and damaged cells (Figure 1.4) (Li et al., 2010; Rummery et al., 2007). P2X1 and P2X3 receptors undergo rapid desensitization followed by long recovery periods until they can be activated again. P2X1 and P2X3 desensitization takes place within milliseconds, whereas P2X2, P2X4, P2X5 and P2X7 desensitize more slowly, taking 100 to 1000 times longer (Rettinger & Schmalzing, 2003).

There are two predominant types of P2X receptors expressed in smooth muscle cells in the vasculature: P2X1 and P2X4. P2X7 receptors are also present. In smooth muscle cells of the vascular system, P2X2, P2X3, P2X5, and P2X6 are either not expressed or rarely expressed (Harhun et al., 2015; Lewis & Evans, 2001). The contractile response which is mediated by P2X receptors activation has been shown in various blood vessels such as rat isolated pulmonary artery and vein (Liu et al., 1989), renal (Guan et al., 2007) and rat mesenteric vascular bed (Gitterman & Evans, 2000). This

vasoconstriction induced by ATP seems to be mediated mainly by P2X1 receptors as shown in mesenteric arteries of P2X1 receptors-deficient mice (Vial & Evans, 2002). In addition, immunohistochemical studies and realtime PCR and western blot assays have shown that P2X1 receptors are highly expressed in vascular smooth muscle (Lewis & Evans, 2000; Wang et al., 2002). Moreover, rat immunohistochemical studies have shown a higher degree of expression of P2X1 receptors in medium and small arteries than in large arteries (Lewis & Evans, 2001). Porcine mesenteric arteries are known to express contractile P2X1-like receptors sensitive to the metabolically stable analogue α_{β} -meATP (Shatarat et al., 2014). Furthermore, in porcine pancreatic arteries, there is evidence that P2X1 receptors are responsible for the contraction induced by ATP and α_{β} meATP. P2X4 receptors have been shown to be coexpressed with P2X1 in vascular smooth muscle cells of rat cerebral arteries (Harhun et al., 2015) and human omental arteries (Nichols et al., 2014). Moreover, pyrimidine nucleotides have been shown to induce contraction through activation of P2X receptors. For instance UTP can induce artery contraction via actions at vascular smooth muscle P2X1 receptors (Froldi et al., 1997; McLaren, Sneddon, et al., 1998). However, this effect might be due to contamination of the UTP stock.

The functional roles of the vascular smooth muscle cells P2X4 receptors remain unclear. There is some evidence that P2X₄ receptors are expressed in endothelial cells in addition to the vasorelaxant P2Y receptors. P2X4 has a high level of expression in human umbilical vein endothelial cells and contributes to vasodilation (Wang et al., 2002). ATP release, in response to stimulation by fluid shear stress mediated Ca²⁺ influx and resulted in increased intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations and endothelium-derived relaxing factors (EDRF) production such as NO and PGI₂ release (Yamamoto et al., 2000). Apyrase, which hydrolyses ATP and ADP, caused a reduction in shear stress-induced Ca²⁺ levels in endothelium of human pulmonary arteries which led the authors to conclude that P2X4 receptors are

stimulated by ATP released in response to stimulation by shear stress in endothelial cells (Yamamoto & Ando, 2004). In addition, a study in P2X4knockout mice has shown that Ca²⁺ influx and NO production were diminished and an increase in blood pressure was evident, suggesting that P2X4 receptors in the endothelium are essential for controlling vascular function and blood pressure (Yamamoto et al., 2006).



Figure 1.4: An illustration showing ATP release from sympathetic nerve, VSMCs or ECs via a number of mechanisms including exocytosis, connexin and pannexin channels or ABC transporters. Cell surface ectonucleotidases hydrolyses ATP. Signalling pathways of GPCR P2Y receptors in response to extracellular nucleotides via PLC and adenyl cyclase to increase IP₃ and cAMP production. Binding of ATP to ligand-gated ion channel P2X receptors promoting influx Ca²⁺ through voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels (VGCC) leading to membrane depolarization and vasoconstriction.

1.2.3 P2Y Receptors

P2Y receptors are GPCRs which are extracellular receptors for purine and pyrimidine nucleotides. P2Y receptors can be activated by a variety of extracellular nucleotides including ATP, ADP, UTP, UDP and UDP-glucose. A total of eight mammalian P2Y receptor subunits have been found ($P2Y_1$, P2Y₂, P2Y₄, P2Y₆, P2Y₁₁, P2Y₁₂, P2Y₁₃, and P2Y₁₄) (Jacobson et al., 2020). P2Y receptors are a family of purinergic GPCRs which consist of seven hydrophobic transmembrane domains connected by an extracellular amino terminus and an intracellular carboxyl-terminus. The extracellular loops are involved in nucleotide ligand binding while the intracellular loops are involved in signalling transmission, including the G protein activation (Jacobson et al., 2012; von Kuegelgen & Hoffmann, 2016). The P2Y receptors are further classified according to their endogenous agonists into adenine nucleotide-preferring receptors which are mostly responsive to ATP and ADP (human and rodent P2Y₁, P2Y₁₁, P2Y₁₂ and P2Y₁₃), uracil nucleotide-preferring receptors (human P2Y₄ and P2Y₆) and mixed selectivity receptors (human and rodent P2Y₂ and rodent P2Y₄) (Ralevic & Burnstock, 1998; von Kügelgen, 2006). Additionally, it is also possible to subdivide P2Y receptors into two groups based on the specific type of G protein coupling. The first subtype includes P2Y₁, P2Y₂, P2Y₄, P2Y₆, and P2Y₁₁ receptors which are coupled through G_{q/11} protein via phospholipase C (PLC) pathway. This results in increased synthesis of inositol triphosphate (IP₃) and causes release of Ca²⁺ from the endoplasmic reticulum leading to increased intracellular Ca²⁺ level and activation of protein kinase C (PKC). The second subtype includes P2Y₁₂, P2Y₁₃, and P2Y₁₄ receptors which are coupled to G_i protein and that inhibit the activity of adenylyl cyclase, thereby reducing intracellular cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP). The P2Y₁₁ can also couple to G_s protein and activate adenylyl cyclase and increase the intracellular cAMP (Abbracchio et al., 2006; von Kügelgen, 2006).

In both vascular smooth muscle and endothelium, P2Y receptors are expressed and play important roles in regulation of blood vessels tone (Wang et al., 2002). The principal functional P2Y receptors found in endothelial cells of blood vessels are P2Y₁ receptors (activated by ATP and ADP), P2Y₂ (equally activated by UTP and ATP) and P2Y₆ (activated by UDP) (Ralevic, 2009; Ray et al., 2002). P2Y₁ and P2Y₂ receptors have been shown to be expressed in various human and rodent endothelial vascular beds including human umbilical vein (Wang et al., 2002), human internal mammary artery, radial artery, saphenous vein (Ray et al., 2002) and rat mesenteric artery (Buvinic et al., 2002; Mistry et al., 2003). Endothelial P2Y receptors mediate vascular relaxation in response to extracellular nucleotides by release of prostaglandins and endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF) (Mistry et al., 2003; Wihlborg et al., 2003). Moreover, activation of P2Y₂ receptors by ATP and UTP in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) resulted in Ca²⁺ mobilization and mediating membrane hyperpolarization and NO production (Rageeb et al., 2011). In the rat mesenteric artery, binding of 2-MeSATP and UTP to $P2Y_1$ and $P2Y_2$ receptors mediated vasodilatation through increase in NO release and accumulation of cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) (Buvinic et al., 2002). In human and bovine endothelial cells, $P2Y_2$ receptors through $G_{q/11}$ have been shown to mediate fluid shear stress acting on the endothelium to induce the intracellular Ca2+ concentration and activation of the endothelial NO synthase (eNOS). P2Y₂ G_{q/11} deficient mice have shown a lack of flow-induced vasodilation associated with hypertension and reduced eNOS formation (Wang et al., 2015).

There are many studies which have demonstrated the existence of P2Y₁, P2Y₂, P2Y₄ and P2Y₆ receptors in vascular smooth muscle cells. Generally, P2Y₂, P2Y₄ and P2Y₆ receptors in vascular smooth muscles have been shown to mediate contraction and contribute in the regulation of vascular tone. This vasoconstriction has been shown in a range of vascular beds in different species including human coronary arteries mainly by activation of

P2Y₂ and P2Y₄ receptors by the stable pyrimidine agonists ATPγS and UTPγS (Malmsjö, Hou, et al., 2000). Moreover, it has been reported that ATP and UTP induce contraction with similar potencies in rat small pulmonary veins. The contractile response in this study to extracellular ATP is mediated by smooth muscle P2Y₂ receptors, and it was found that suramin and AR-C118925 inhibited contraction induced by ATP (Henriquez et al., 2018). According to a study, UTP and MRS2768, a selective P2Y₂ receptors (Alsaqati et al., 2014). Moreover, it has been reported that P2Y₂ receptor in porcine coronary artery smooth muscle is the mediator of the vasoconstrictor property of UTP (Rayment et al., 2007). In addition, in rat mesenteric artery, the role of contractile P2Y₂ and P2Y₄ receptors was confirmed and ATPγS and UTPγS were shown to be more potent than endogenous ATP and UTP due to ectonucleotidase activity (Malmsjö, Adner, et al., 2000).

P2Y₆ receptors are expressed in vascular tissues, and are activated by UDP and UTP. There is a greater affinity for UDP than UTP for the P2Y₆ receptor, and the nucleotides of adenine are mostly inactive (von Kügelgen, 2019). $P2Y_6$ receptors activated by the selective agonist UDP β S, have been reported to mediate contraction in human cerebral arteries and rat mesenteric artery (Malmsjö, Adner, et al., 2000; Malmsjö et al., 2003). In addition, it has been reported that myogenic tone is maintained through activation of P2Y₆ receptors in response to endogenous pyrimidine nucleotides release in mesenteric resistance arteries, and via a direct mechanical activation of P2Y₄ and P2Y₆ receptors without endogenous nucleotides release in cerebral arterioles (Brayden et al., 2013; Kauffenstein et al., 2016). P2Y₁₂ receptors in vascular smooth muscle have also been shown to mediate contraction after stimulation with ADP in human coronary and rat intrapulmonary arteries (Mitchell et al., 2012; Wihlborg et al., 2004). Additionally, $P2Y_{14}$ receptors activated by UDPglucose have been reported to induce contraction in mouse and porcine coronary and cerebral arteries and in porcine pancreatic arteries through

cAMP-dependent mechanisms (Abbas et al., 2018; Alsaqati et al., 2014; Haanes & Edvinsson, 2014). The pyrimidine nucleotides mediate contraction via different signal transduction pathways including coupling to $G_{aq/11}$, IP₃ to induce Ca²⁺ release from endoplasmic reticulum, promoting Ca²⁺ influx through voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels and Rho kinase and protein kinase C pathway (Sugihara et al., 2011; Tengah et al., 2018).

A recognised limitation in the study of P2 purine receptors has been the complex pharmacological profiles of endogenous nucleotides which can stimulate more than one P2 receptor subtypes. Furthermore, there is a lack of specific antagonists at some P2 receptor subtypes. The broad-spectrum P2 receptor antagonist suramin is known to inhibit P2X and P2Y receptors. Generally, suramin has been non-competitive with low potency for inhibiting the P2 receptor subtypes (Ralevic & Burnstock, 1998). Suramin has been used clinically to treat African sleeping sickness and as an antiparasitic drug. Although suramin targets a wide range of biological processes and signalling pathways, its potential applications are numerous and diverse (Wiedemar et al., 2020). Pyridoxalphosphate-6-azophenyl-2',4'-disulphonic acid (PPADS) is another non-selective P2 receptor antagonist that affects most P2X and P2Y receptor subtypes. PPADS has been widely used to study the physiological and pathological roles of these receptors. Its potency and selectivity can vary depending on the receptor subtype and experimental conditions (Ralevic & Burnstock, 1998). Aside from the broad spectrum P2 receptor antagonists, there are relatively potent and selective antagonists for some P2X and P2Y receptor subtypes (Table 1.2). A selective antagonist for P2Y₂ receptors, AR-C118925XX, was developed with submicromolar potency at recombinant human P2Y₂ receptors in CHO cells (IC₅₀ 0.0721 \pm 0.0124 μ M vs 500 nM UTP, and $0.0574 \pm 0.0196 \mu$ M vs 500 nM ATP) (Rafehi et al., 2017) and micromolar potency at inhibiting both mucin secretion from differentiated human bronchial epithelial cells (IC₅₀ \sim 1 μ M vs 100 μ M ATPyS) (Kemp et al., 2004) and calcium responses in primary human in vitro-differentiated adipocytes (IC₅₀ 0.683±116 µM vs ATP) (Ali et al., 2018). AR-C118925XX was inactive at all other P2Y receptors at 10 μ M (Kemp et al., 2004; Rafehi et al., 2017). In human vascular endothelial cells, AR-C118925XX (10 nM to 1 μ M) did not affect intracellular Ca²⁺ directly, but shifted the UTP concentrationrightward without changing response curve maximum response (Muoboghare et al., 2019). However, it also antagonised recombinant human P2X1 (IC₅₀ 2.63 \pm 0.49 μ M) and P2X3 receptors (IC₅₀ 0.819 \pm 0.102 μ M), thus making it about 50-fold and 14-fold selective for the P2Y₂ vs the P2X1 and P2X3 receptors respectively (Rafehi et al., 2017). AR-C118925XX was shown to be inactive at 35 other (non-purinergic) receptors at 10 μ M (Kemp et al., 2004). The commercial availability of AR-C118925XX has opened up opportunities to increase our understanding of the physiological roles of P2Y₂ receptors. MSG228 (compound 17) is a compound developed based on AR-C118925 and shown to be selective and high-affinity for human $P2Y_2$ receptor in calcium mobilization (PKd = 6.51) (Conroy et al., 2018).

| Receptor | Selective Antagonist | Reference |
|----------|----------------------|--------------------------|
| P2X1 | NF449 | (Burnstock, 2007; El - |
| | NF023 | Ajouz et al., 2012; |
| | NF279 | Illes et al., 2021; Tian |
| | PSB-2001 | et al., 2020) |
| | PSB-2014 | |
| P2X2 | NF770 | (Wolf et al., 2011) |
| P2X3 | A-317491 | (Illes et al., 2021) |
| | Gefapixant (AF-219) | |
| | | |
| P2Y1 | MRS 2179 | (Kim et al., 2003; von |
| | MRS 2279 | Kügelgen & Hoffmann, |
| | MRS 2500 | 2016) |

Table 1.2: Selective antagonists for P2X and P2Y receptors.

| P2Y ₂ | AR-C118925XX | (Kemp et al., 2004) |
|-------------------|--------------|------------------------|
| P2Y ₆ | MRS 2578 | (Mamedova et al., |
| | | 2004) |
| P2Y ₁₂ | Clopidogrel | (Huang et al., 2000; |
| | Ticagrelor | Savi et al., 2001; |
| | AR-C69931 | Springthorpe et al., |
| | | 2007) |
| P2Y ₁₄ | PPTN | (Barrett et al., 2013) |

1.2.4 Nucleotides release

Almost all tissues and cells show regulated release of ATP, which is accompanied by the release of UTP in some cases (Lazarowski, 2012). It is well established that ATP is co-released with noradrenaline from the perivascular sympathetic nerve terminals and functions as а neurotransmitter and to evoke excitatory junction potentials and vasoconstriction (Burnstock, 2009). ATP may also be released from other cell types including sensory nerves, erythrocytes, leucocytes, and platelets, and during inflammation and injury (Gorini et al., 2013). ATP and UTP are released from endothelial cells in response to hypoxia and shear stress (Erlinge & Burnstock, 2008). However, there is limited knowledge about the presence of UTP and other pyrimidines in synaptic vesicles. UTP and UDP have shown to be stored in granules of chromaffin cells and platelets and are present at about 10% of the ATP concentration (Anderson & Parkinson, 1997). In most cell types the intracellular concentration of ATP ranges from 1 to 10 mM whereas, in normal conditions, ATP at the extracellular is kept at the subnanomolar range (Gorini et al., 2013). Release of UTP was measured in medium bathing resting cultures of a selection of cell lines including platelets and leukocytes, airway epithelial cells and rat astrocytes. The extracellular UTP concentrations were found in the range from 1 to 10 nM, around one-third of the ATP concentration

(Lazarowski & Harden, 1999). It has been reported that both osteoclasts and osteoblasts constitutively release ATP (Brandao-Burch et al., 2012).

Regarding constitutive nucleotide release and activation of vascular P2 receptors, in vivo studies have shown that ATP is tonically released from glial cells in rat retinal arterioles and acts on P2X1 receptors on vascular smooth muscle cells to cause constriction; in this study removal of endogenous nucleotides with apyrase dilated the blood vessels and ectonucleotidase inhibition (to prevent nucleotidase metabolism) caused constriction; furthermore suramin and PPADS (P2 receptor antagonists) and NF023 (P2X1 receptor antagonist) dilated the arteries, consistent with a tonic release of ATP causing contraction (Kur & Newman, 2014). There is also evidence that pyrimidines are released in response to changes in arterial pressure to cause contraction (the myogenic response) in mouse isolated small mesenteric arteries; here P2Y₆ receptor deletion (P2Y₆-/mice) and antagonism (MRS2578) blocked the myogenic contractile response whereas ectonucleotidase inhibition potentiated it, consistent with nucleotide auto/paracrine activation of vascular $P2Y_6$ receptors (Kauffenstein et al., 2016). It has also been shown that myogenic tone of cerebral arterioles is mediated via direct mechanical activation of P2Y₄ and P2Y₆ receptors rather than the release of endogenous nucleotides (Brayden et al., 2013). It has been found that nucleotides can be released constitutively from adjocytes themselves to regulate adjocyte function, primarily via activation of adipocyte $P2Y_2$ receptors (Ali et al., 2018; Rossato et al., 2022).

A number of mechanisms have been proposed to control ATP and other nucleotides release including connexin hemichannels and pannexin channels. Connexin and pannexin channels play significant roles in regulation of purinergic transmission throughout the body (Lohman et al., 2012). Connexins are intercellular gap junction channels that allow diffusion of ions and small molecules including ATP between cells in vertebrates. Connexins come together in groups of six and form pores

named connexons or hemichannels (Sáez & Leybaert, 2014). A connexon hemichannel in the plasma membrane of one cell docks with a connexon hemichannel in the plasma membrane of adjacent cells. Docking of two connexon hemichannels creates intercellular gap junction channels that directly connects the cytoplasm of the two cells (Sáez et al., 2003). However, the connexin may remain undocked at the plasma membrane and mediate communication between the intercellular and the extracellular compartments of an individual cell (Harris, 2007). To date, about 20 connexin genes have been recognised in mice and 21 connexin isoforms have been identified in humans (Söhl & Willecke, 2004). All connexin subunits have a common structure with four transmembrane domains with two extracellular loops, an intracellular loop and intracellular cytoplasmic amino and carboxyl termini (Thévenin et al., 2013). Connexin proteins are generally named in terms of their specific molecular weights in kDa for example Cx37 is the connexin protein of around 37 kDa (Sohl & Willecke, 2003). Connexin hemichannels in the plasma membrane are considered to be closed under normal physiological conditions but they can be activated in response to several stimuli including decreases in extracellular Ca²⁺ concentration, membrane depolarization and mechanical stimulation (Patel et al., 2014; Sáez & Leybaert, 2014).

In addition to connexin, another protein family named pannexin was identified. Pannexins were initially proposed to form gap junctions between adjacent cells due to the structural similarity to connexins. However, pannexins only function as channels on the plasma membrane of cells and permit the passage of ions and molecules (less than 1 kDa) between the cytoplasm and the extracellular compartment (Sosinsky et al., 2011). Pannexins share no sequence homology to the connexins but they have a similar topology. In general, pannexins comprise four transmembrane domains, two extracellular loops and one intracellular loop with amino and carboxyl termini (Penuela et al., 2013). Three pannexin proteins have been cloned in rodent and human genomes, Panx1, Panx2 and Panx3. Panx1 and

Panx3 isoforms seem to assemble into hexamers, whereas Panx2 could form heptamers or octamers (Panchin, 2005). It has been shown that unlike connexin hemichannels, pannexin channels open under normal physiological condition. Pannexin channels can be activated in response to different stimuli including membrane depolarization, hypoxia, shear stress, and ATP binding to P2X and P2Y receptors (Bruzzone et al., 2003; Locovei et al., 2006; Pelegrin & Surprenant, 2006).

In the vascular smooth muscle and endothelial cells, four connexin isoforms have been found: Cx37, Cx40, Cx43, and Cx45 (Haefliger et al., 2004; Hakim et al., 2008). In addition, it has been reported that endothelial cells express Cx32 (Okamoto et al., 2009). Several studies have investigated ATP release via these connexin hemichannels on VSMCs and ECs. It has been reported that mechanical stimulation induced ATP release via connexin hemichannels in corneal endothelial cells. In this study, ATP release promoted calcium wave propagation. Also, ATP release was inhibited by connexin hemichannels blockers flufenamic acid and peptide Gap26 (Gomes et al., 2005). Another study has reported that Cx43 hemichannels mediated ATP release from human microvascular endothelial cells. This study revealed that release of ATP from these cells was significantly reduced by hypoxia (Faigle et al., 2008). Another study provided experimental evidence that connexin hemichannels control vascular tone in rat mesenteric arteries. In this study, blocking peptide of Cx43 hemichannels resulted in reduction of norepinephrine-induced contraction and calcium oscillations. Also, ATP release from smooth muscle cells was inhibited by blockage of Cx43 hemichannels (Bol et al., 2017).

Pannexin channels are also expressed in vascular cells. A number of studies have examined the involvement of pannexin channels in the release of ATP in different cells. It has been shown that ATP can be released via Panx1 channels upon sympathetic stimulation (phenylephrine) in mouse thoracodorsal resistance arteries and cultured human coronary arterial VSMCs. ATP then activates purinergic receptors on neighbouring cells and

increases vascular tone. In this study, pannexin channels blockers mefloquine, probenecid, and 10Panx1 were highly effective in decreasing the contractile response induced by phenylephrine (Billaud et al., 2011). It has also been reported that ATP can be released through Panx1 channels in response to thrombin in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. In this study, carbenoxolone, connexin hemichannels and Panx1 channel inhibitor, significantly inhibited thrombin-mediated ATP release (Gödecke et al., 2012).

1.2.5 Metabolism of nucleotides

Extracellular nucleotides including ATP, ADP, UTP and UDP have important roles in regulation of blood vessels functions by activation of P2X and P2Y These nucleotides are inactivated receptors. by enzymes called ectonucleotidases. These are cell surface metabolizing enzymes that rapidly hydrolyse extracellular nucleotides to respective nucleosides and free phosphate. Ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase (NTPDase) family hydrolyses tri and diphosphate nucleotides including ATP and ADP to AMP. Α member of the produce ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase family (ENPP) can hydrolyse ATP directly into AMP. Cell surfaces contain ectonucleotidases such as NTPDase1, NTPDase2, NTPDase3 and NTPDase8, as well as ENPP1 and ENPP3. A number of NTPDase enzymes are found intracellularly including NTPDase4, NTPDase5, NTPDase6, and NTPDase7 (Robson, Sévigny, et al., 2006). Ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73) is the main enzyme responsible for the conversion of AMP to adenosine (Figure 1.5). NTPDase can also hydrolyse other nucleotide including UTP to UDP to UMP to uridine (Baqi, 2015; Yegutkin, 2008; Zimmermann, 2000). The expression and activity of ectonucleotidases has been identified in blood vessels (Yegutkin, 2008). NTPDase1/CD39 protein is expressed in the vascular endothelium, platelets and leukocytes (Robson, Sevigny, et al., 2006; Zimmermann, 2000). It has been reported that shear stress imposed on the vascular endothelium induces release of ATP accompanied by an extracellular rise in the activity

of enzymes that hydrolysis both ATP (ATPases) and AMP (5'-nucleotidases) (Yegutkin et al., 2000). ARL 67156 is a competitive antagonist of NTPDase, and it was developed to inhibit NTPDase, which catalyses the hydrolysis of extracellular ATP to ADP and ADP to AMP. The potency of ARL 67156 against NTPDase1 and NTPDase3 and ENPP1 is moderate, but its inhibition of NTPDase2 and NTPDase8, ENPP3 and ecto-5'-nucleotidase is less (Levesque et al., 2007). It has been reported that ARL 67156 increased ATP responses and inhibited the ecto-ATPase activity in the rabbit ear artery (Crack et al., 1995) and guinea-pig vas deferens (Westfall et al., 1996). In addition, ARL 67156 has been shown to potentiate contractions elicited by UTP in the rat isolated tail artery (McLaren, Burke, et al., 1998).



Figure 1.5: The adenine nucleotide-hydrolysing pathway by ectonucleotidases. ATP can be hydrolysed directly to AMP by ectonucleotide
pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase (ENPP). ATP can also be hydrolysed by ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase (NTPDase) to ADP. ADP is hydrolysed by NTPDase to produce AMP. AMP is converted to adenosine by ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73).

1.3 Adipose tissues

Adipose tissue is the main endocrine organ that regulates energy equilibrium and lipid storage. Adipose tissue produces adipokines, which are bioactive factors that regulate several metabolic functions and communicate with other organs. Adipose tissue dysfunction is an important factor in obesity and its related diseases such as insulin resistance, diabetes. Adipocytes, cardiovascular disease and pre-adipocytes, macrophages, T cells, fibroblasts, nerves and endothelial cells are among the cell types in the adipocyte tissue (Rosen & MacDougald, 2006; Victorio et al., 2016). There are two main types of adipose tissues in mammalian species, identified based on colour i.e. white adipose tissue (WAT) and brown adipose tissues (BAT). These two types of adipose tissue have different colours, structures, metabolic roles, biological characteristics and gene expression forms (Cedikova et al., 2016; Park et al., 2014). A normal adult's body weight is approximately 20% WAT, which works mainly as an energy storage for triglycerides (Gil-Ortega et al., 2015). When the body requires energy during exercise or fasting and there is not enough stored carbohydrate, triglycerides are hydrolysed into glycerol and free fatty acids and released into the blood in a process called lipolysis. WAT can also be involved in endocrine processes, through the release of adipokines such as leptin, adiponectin, resistin and TNF- α (Gil-Ortega, Somoza, Huang, Gollasch, & Fernandez-Alfonso, 2015; Medina-Gomez, 2012). WAT is typically characterised by a yellow spherical morphology with a single unilocular large lipid droplet, enclosed by a thin layer of cytoplasm, with few mitochondria and small smooth endoplasmic reticulum. White adipose tissue can be classified into visceral or intra-abdominal white adipose tissue (vWAT), and subcutaneous white adipose tissue (sWAT). Among the fatty

deposits in the visceral are those in the retroperitoneum, the omentals, the mesenteric, the epicardial, and the gonadal area (Cedikova et al., 2016; Medina-Gomez, 2012).

Brown adipose tissue (BAT) is considered as the essential source of nonshivering thermogenesis to regulate body temperature by enhancing lipid metabolism. The thermogenic mechanism in BAT occurs due to the biochemical property of the mitochondria transport protein named uncoupling protein (UCP). UCP catalyses proton conductance and uncouples the respiratory chain from ATP synthesis through raising the permeability of the inner membrane of mitochondria, consequently, allowing the energy dissipation as heat. The thermogenic process is controlled by the sympathetic nervous system via noradrenaline acting on β 3-adrenoceptors (Cannon & Nedergaard, 2004; Giralt & Villarroya, 2013; Klaus, 1997). BAT is normally smaller in shape than WAT and characterised by an oval nucleus located centrally surrounded by a large cytoplasm with multilocular fat droplets, and high mitochondrial abundance (Stephens et al., 2011). In rodents and large mammals, BAT is mainly spread around the interscapular region (upper back), axillary and perirenal fat. In general, BAT displays more vascularization and innervation than WAT. BAT and WAT receive sympathetic nervous innervation (Park et al., 2014; Szasz et al., 2013). A third type of adipocyte has been recognised, called brite (brown in white) or beige adipocytes. The brite/beige adipocytes are brown adipocytes appearing within WAT and have mixed characteristics of both white and brown adipocytes. In the basal state, adipocytes of brite/beige adipocyte show a resemblance to those of WAT including a single large unilocular shape and the lack of UCP1 expression, while in response to stimulation, brite/beige adipocyte behaves more like BAT with multilocular fat droplets and UCP1 expression in a process known as browning. WAT can be transformed to brite/beige adipocytes by specific stimuli, such as cold exposure, catecholamines, β -adrenergic receptor agonists, fibroblast growth factor-21(FGF21), thiazolidinedione, peroxisome proliferator-

activated receptor gamma (PPAR-γ) agonist and polypeptide hormone irisin (Cedikova et al., 2016; Park et al., 2014; Rosenwald et al., 2013).

1.3.1 Perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT)

Perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) is a local adipose tissue surrounding most blood vessels, excluding capillaries and pulmonary and cerebral blood vessels. PVAT has a different phenotype from other adipose tissues, and it is broadly distributed over large arteries, veins and small vessels and skeletal muscle microvessels (Gil-Ortega et al., 2015). In addition, PVAT has been found within organs such as the kidney in the renal sinus around the renal vasculature (Restini et al., 2018). PVAT is highly likely to be the tunica adiposa, a fourth layer lining the vessel wall. PVAT lies directly on the external side of the adventitial layer without any anatomical barriers or elastic lamina between them which facilitates transient actions of bioactive cytokines that are released by PVAT into the adjacent blood vessel wall (Rajsheker et al., 2010; Szasz & Webb, 2012). These soluble factors can also travel between PVAT and blood vessel wall layers by direct diffusion or by the vasa vasorum (Gil-Ortega et al., 2015).

Adipocytes are the most abundant cells in PVAT. Based on the adipose tissue categories, PVAT can be white, brown adipose tissues or mixed PVAT. For example human and rodent mesenteric PVAT is characterised by unilocular WAT, whereas abdominal aortic PVAT is considered as a mixed PVAT which mostly resembles the classic BAT with multilocular fat droplets (Ramirez et al., 2017; Szasz et al., 2013). Thoracic aortic PVAT is a classic BAT, while PVAT in human coronary artery is categorized as WAT (Brown et al., 2014; Xia & Li, 2017). Based on its location and the type of vessel, PVAT exhibits morphological, anatomical, and developmental differences. Besides adipocytes, PVAT is comprised of further cells called the stromal vascular fraction (SVF), containing lymphocytes, macrophages, fibroblasts, mesenchymal stem cells and vasa vasorum endothelial cells. The SVF cells play an important role in regulating the secretion of adipokines and other bioactive materials from PVAT (Mariman & Wang, 2010; Szasz et al., 2013).

Until recently, PVAT was considered only as a connective tissue that provides vascular structural support and mechanical protection of the adjacent vascular beds, in addition to energy storage (WAT) and nonshivering thermogenic (BAT) functions (Szasz et al., 2013). PVAT has routinely been removed for isolated blood vessel functional studies. However, Soltis and Cassis (1991) reported the first study which showed that PVAT decreased the contractile response to adrenaline in the isolated rat thoracic aorta. They stated that this anti-contractile effect was caused by the uptake of adrenaline by the surrounding adipose tissue (Soltis & Cassis, 1991). More recent studies have shown that PVAT reduces the vasocontractile effect to further agonists, including phenylephrine, serotonin, angiotensin II and endothelin-1, due to releasing a transferable adipose-derived relaxing factor (ADRF) (Lohn et al., 2002). Since then, a number of studies have sought to examine the vascular role of PVAT, and have confirmed that PVAT is a metabolically active organ which participates in vascular tone regulation and homeostasis by producing a wide range of bioactive molecules (Britton & Fox, 2011; Brown et al., 2014). The main substances released from PVAT are adipokines including (adiponectin, leptin, resistin, adrenomedullin and visfatin) and cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFa), interleukin-1, interleukin-6, interleukin-8, monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1)). In addition to adipocytokines, PVAT releases reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as H_2S , NO, superoxide, and H_2O_2 . Furthermore, components of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) including angiotensinogen, angiotensin I & II, angiotensin (1-7), ACE1 and ACE2 are released by PVAT (Szasz et al., 2013; Szasz & Webb, 2012). These mediators work as autocrine factors to regulate PVAT metabolic process and perform paracrine/endocrine effects on blood vessels through controlling cellular process to alter vascular function, peripheral resistance and vascular tone (Cheng et al., 2018; Gollasch, 2012).

A number of these mediators can induce vasodilation (anti-contractile effects) and are known as adipocyte-derived relaxing factors (ADRF) or perivascular-derived relaxing factors (PVRF) (Figure 1.6) (Ramirez et al., 2017; Xia & Li, 2017). PVRF include leptin, adiponectin, interleukin 6, interleukin-1, TNF-alpha, angiotensin 1-7 and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Fernández-Alfonso et al., 2011; Gollasch, 2012). The release of PVRF causes vascular tone reduction by different processes including endothelium dependent mechanisms (NO release), and activation of K⁺ channels in vascular smooth muscle (Gao et al., 2007). Another mechanism for the relaxant effects caused by PVRF in rat aorta is related to ATPdependent K⁺ (K ATP) channel and tyrosine kinase in a mechanism not dependent on endothelial NO synthesis (Lohn et al., 2002). A study in human internal thoracic arteries has shown that PVRF induces relaxation through activation of calcium-dependent potassium channels (Kca) (Gao et al., 2005). Further findings proposed that PVAT regulates arterial tone through stimulation of voltage-dependent, delayed-rectifier K^+ (Kv) channels which trigger hyperpolarization of the vascular smooth cell membrane (Verlohren et al., 2004). In addition, other evidence has suggested that the activation of myocyte large-conductance Ca²⁺ activated K⁺ (BK_{Ca}) channels through PVAT-derived adiponectin has a role in reducing of vascular tone (Lynch et al., 2013). PVRF has been reported to act through endothelium independent and endothelium-dependent relaxation mechanisms on rat thoracic aorta via H₂O₂ and NO release and subsequent activation of soluble guanylyl cyclase (sGC) and K_{Ca} channels (Gao et al., 2007).

PVAT has also been reported to release contractile factors referred to as adipocyte-derived contractor factors (ADCF) or PVAT-derived contractor factor (PVCF) (Ramirez et al., 2017). In 2006 Gao et al. reported that PVAT enhanced the arterial contraction of rat superior mesenteric artery to perivascular nerve stimulation. This response involved the release of superoxide after activation of tyrosine kinase and the MAPK/ERK pathway

(Gao et al., 2006). An additional study in the rat mesenteric artery has demonstrated a role for angiotensin II released by PVAT in the potentiation of EFS-induced contraction (Lu et al., 2010). Another study has reported that PVAT inhibits coronary endothelial NO production by a PKC- β -dependent mechanism, which induces phosphorylation of endothelial NO synthase and Thr495 residue (Payne et al., 2009).



Figure 1.6: The effects of adipocyte derived relaxing factor (ADRF) and adipocyte derived contractor factor (ADCF) released from PVAT in the contractility of adjacent blood vessels. A number of ADRF such as leptin, adiponectin, nitric oxide (NO), prostacyclin (PGI₂), angiotensin (1-7), TNFa, H_2O_2 and H_2S induce vasorelaxation. In addition, ADCF such as leptin, chemerin, thromboxane, angiotensin II and noradrenaline cause vasoconstriction.

The sympathetic nervous system (SNS) innervates both WAT and BAT. It has been reported that five adrenergic receptor subtypes (a1, a2, β 1, β 2

and β 3) are expressed in adipocytes and are involved in the adrenergic regulation of white and brown adipose tissue function (Lafontan & Berlan, 1993). Noradrenaline released from the postganglionic nerve endings of the SNS modulates lipolysis of WAT, and stimulates UCP-1 synthesis to regulate non-shivering thermogenesis in BAT through β 3-adrenoceptors (Brito et al., 2008). It has been shown that β_1 , β_2 , and β_3 adrenoceptors in WAT stimulate lipolysis whereas a2 receptors inhibit lipolysis (Lafontan & Berlan, 1993). PVAT, in human saphenous vein receives sympathetic innervation as shown using immunostaining (Dashwood & Loesch, 2011). Activation of electrical field stimulation (EFS) of sympathetic nerves in PVAT activates β 3 adrenoceptors causing the release of the anti-contractile factor adiponectin from PVAT (Saxton et al., 2018). Sensory nerves also are expressed in both WAT and BAT (Bartness et al., 2010). In addition, it has been reported recently that sensory nerves are present in the PVAT surrounding rat mesenteric arteries. The PVAT is essential for sensory neurogenic vasodilation involving calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) release and crosstalk with leptin release (Abu Bakar et al., 2017).

1.3.2 Adipokines

It is believed that adipocytes secrete a wide range of adipokines that regulate adipocyte function in an autocrine/paracrine manner and affect whole body homeostasis among them are energy balance, insulin sensitivity, inflammation and immunity (Deng & Scherer, 2010).

1.3.2.1 Leptin

The first adipokine identified was leptin, one of the most important hormones released by adipose tissue. Leptin, 167 amino acid peptide hormone with a molecular weight of 16 kD and a product of the Ob gene, plays a critical role in energy homeostasis and appetite control. Apart from regulating energy expenditure, leptin is also responsible for regulating insulin sensitivity, glucose uptake, immune function and bone metabolism (Münzberg & Morrison, 2015; Zhang et al., 1994). The effects of leptin are

mediated by binding to leptin receptors (ObRs) expressed mainly in hypothalamus. In addition, there are leptin receptors throughout the body including adipose tissue, liver and pancreatic cells indicating that leptin has endocrine, paracrine and autocrine functions. There are six isoforms of ObRs (a, b, c, d, e and f) based on their intracellular domain lengths (Gorska et al., 2010). A significant correlation exists between serum leptin levels and adipose tissue mass. The amount of circulating leptin decreases during fasting or energy restriction, but increases after feeding. It is well known that obesity is associated with hyperleptinemia, and most obese people are intolerant to or resistant to leptin. Many factors regulate leptin expression and secretion including inflammatory cytokines, glucocorticoids, insulin and norepinephrine release (Dardeno et al., 2010; Münzberg & Morrison, 2015; Obradovic et al., 2021).

It has been shown that leptin and its receptors are expressed in the vasculature in both endothelial and vascular smooth muscle (Schroeter et al., 2007). In terms of its effects on the vasculature, leptin has been reported to have several conflicting effects. Cell proliferation and growth of vascular smooth muscle have been observed to be both stimulated and inhibited by leptin (Bohlen et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2010). It has been shown that leptin contributes to the development of atherosclerosis, vascular resistance and vascular permeability (Bodary et al., 2005; Cao et al., 2001). In addition, endothelin-1 secretion, sympathetic nerves and renin-angiotensin systems functions can be regulated by leptin, the net effect of which is to cause vasoconstriction and consequently increasing blood pressure (Dubey & Hesong, 2006). However other evidence suggests that leptin induces vasorelaxation both through independent and direct mechanisms (Benkhoff et al., 2012; Mohammed et al., 2007; Momin et al., 2006). A study conducted in vivo in rats showed that leptin intravenous infusion leads to lower arterial pressure by increasing levels of NO (Frühbeck, 1999). Moreover, leptin-induced vasodilation in isolated rat aorta is mediated by NO release via phosphorylation of endothelial NO

synthase (eNOS) at Ser1177 by activating Akt (Sahin et al., 2009; Vecchione et al., 2002). In human saphenous veins and internal mammary arteries, leptin is thought to cause vasodilation without affecting endothelium or NO (Momin et al., 2006). In addition, leptin-induced vasodilation in human coronary arteries may not be mediated by NO as well (Matsuda et al., 2003).

1.3.2.2 Adiponectin

Adiponectin was recognized for the first time in 1995 (Scherer et al., 1995). The peptide adiponectin which is a 244 amino acid protein with a molecular weight of 30 kD, is the most abundant peptide secreted by adipocytes. There are three receptors for adiponectin known as AdipoR1, AdipoR2 and T-cadherin. Adiponectin is an insulin-sensitizing hormone, stimulating glucose and fatty acid metabolism and reducing liver glucose production. Besides its essential role in metabolic regulation, adiponectin also plays a significant role in proliferation, inflammation and oxidative stress (Achari & Jain, 2017; Polito et al., 2020). Adiponectin levels decrease with obesity and are positively correlated with insulin sensitivity (Rasmussen et al., 2006). In the vasculature, adiponectin has direct vasodilatory effects, inhibits VSMC proliferation and mediates PVAT anti-contractility (Fésüs et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2005). The first demonstration of adiponectin's vasodilator properties was in rat and mouse aortic and mesenteric arteries, in which adiponectin inhibited serotonin-induced contractions. The relaxation response was endothelium-independent and a voltage-gated potassium (Kv) channel in the VSMC appears to be responsible for this effect (Fésüs et al., 2007). Adiponectin is also known to directly activate large conductance calcium activated potassium (BK) channel in rat and mouse mesenteric arteries (Lynch et al., 2013; Weston et al., 2013). The presence of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 receptors was associated with increased NO production caused by adiponectin in aortic endothelial cells (Tan et al., 2004). It has been shown that in healthy PVAT around human gluteal small arteries, adiponectin promotes vasodilation by increasing the bioavailability

of NO. After incubation with adiponectin blocking peptide, healthy PVAT from the vessels lost its anti-contractile effect. As compared to healthy vessels, obese arteries exhibited no anti-contractile effect. Additionally in this study, PVAT was found to have an anti-contractile effect in isolated mesenteric arteries of healthy rats, but this effect was abolished by adiponectin blocking peptides. The exogenous addition of adiponectin to the pre-contracted isolated vessels induced vasodilatation (Greenstein et al., 2009). It has been reported that AMPK has a critical role in maintaining the anti-contractile effects of mice thoracic aortic PVAT. Adiponectin's generation and vascular effects are also affected by a lack of AMPK isoforms in the vascular wall (Almabrouk et al., 2017).

1.3.3 Purinergic receptors in adipose tissue

As mentioned earlier, PVAT includes both white and brown adipose tissue, which are mainly responsible for energy storage and non-shivering thermogenesis respectively. It has also been reported that PVAT has a local effect on vascular smooth muscle cell contractility via the release of a number of bioactive substances and adipokines. In adipose tissue, all four subtypes of adenosine receptors (A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3) are expressed. Signalling of adenosine in adipocytes via its receptors has been shown to enhance insulin-stimulated glucose uptake, lipogenesis, and suppress lipolysis (Gnad et al., 2014; Johansson et al., 2008; Tozzi & Novak, 2017). It has been reported that A₁ receptors activation increases leptin levels in the blood in vivo studies and leptin secretion from isolated adipose tissue, indicating that A₁ receptors stimulate leptin secretion directly from fat cells (Rice et al., 2000). Adenosine is produced after the breakdown of ATP in rat isolated white adipocytes and has been shown to activate the A_1 receptor via the PLC-PKC pathway and promote insulin-induced leptin release (Cheng et al., 2000). The A_{2A} receptor mediated lipolysis and thermogenesis induced by adenosine in brown adipocytes. In addition, in mice, A_{2A} receptor antagonists reduce obesity induced by excessive fat intake. A_{2A} receptor agonists improve glucose homeostasis and adipose

tissue inflammation in obese mice, suggesting potential therapeutic applications (DeOliveira et al., 2017; Gnad et al., 2014).

Adipose tissue also expresses a number of P2 receptors including (P2X1–7, P2Y₂, P2Y₆, and P2Y₁₂). There is evidence that P2X and P2Y receptors play a role in regulating adipogenesis, glucose transport, inflammation, as well as adipokines secretion in adipose tissues (Bulloch & Daly, 2014; Tozzi & Novak, 2017). In white adipocytes from rats, both ATP and UTP have been shown to increase the intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration by activation of $P2Y_2$ and P2Y₁₁ receptors via the cAMP-PKA signalling pathway. Moreover, in human adipocytes, ATP, ATP γ S, UTP and α , β -meATP increased Ca²⁺ suggesting P2X and P2Y have a functional role (Rossato et al., 2022). Another study has shown that $P2Y_1$, $P2Y_2$ and $P2Y_{12}$ receptors are the only purinergic receptors that are functionally involved in intracellular Ca²⁺ responses induced by ATP, ADP and UTP in human adipocytes. This study also noted that selective antagonism of P2Y₂ receptors by AR-C118925XX or their knockdown caused a significant decrease in intracellular calcium concentration and increase in cellular cAMP, which led the authors to conclude that autocrine activation of P2Y₂ receptors is essential in regulation of basal lipolysis (Ali et al., 2018). There is evidence that $P2Y_2$ receptors are critical for regulating adipokine production and the promotion of adipogenesis and inflammation. In this study, a high-fat diet led to an increase in insulin, leptin and adiponectin levels in serum samples collected from wild type mice, whereas these increases were not detected in mice with P2Y₂ knock-outs (Zhang et al., 2020). P2Y₁₁ receptor activation has been shown to inhibit insulin-induced leptin production and stimulation of lipolysis (Lee, Jun, et al., 2005). P2Y₁ receptors have been reported to be expressed in rat white adipose tissue to contribute to leptin secretion after stimulation by ADP. The level of leptin was lower in mice deficient P2Y₁ receptor and when P2Y₁ receptor is inhibited by MRS2500 under insulinstimulated and basal conditions (Laplante et al., 2010). It has been shown in cardiac adipocytes that adiponectin secretion was inhibited by UTP or

MRS4062, and P2Y₄ receptor knockout mice showed higher levels of adiponectin secretion during hypoxia (Lemaire et al., 2017).

P2X7 receptors mediate adipogenesis and lipid metabolism in age and sexdependent ways (Beaucage et al., 2014). It has been reported that the P2X7 receptors play a role in inflammatory activation in adipose tissue. Activation of P2X7 receptors which are functionally expressed in human adipocytes modulates the release of inflammatory cytokines including TNFα, IL-6 and PAI-1 in human visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue (Madec et al., 2011). It has been shown in PVAT surrounding a small mesenteric artery that P2X7 receptor and inflammasome components are expressed at increased levels in smokers, enhancing inflammatory cytokines production including IL-1b and IL-18 (Rossi et al., 2014). In brown adipose tissues, ATP and UTP have also been reported to increase intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration (Lee, Vielhauer, et al., 2005). UCP-1 expression and browning were enhanced by ATP_γS in both wild type and mice lacking β-adrenergic receptors during low adaptive thermogenesis (Razzoli et al., 2016).

Nucleotides can be released from the adipocytes themselves to regulate adipocyte function, primarily via activation of adipocyte P2Y₂ receptors (Ali et al., 2018; Rossato et al., 2022). In addition, adipocytes are not the only possible source of endogenous purines acting at adipocyte P2 receptors. Sympathetic nerves, via noradrenaline acting at β -adrenoceptors, have long been recognised to regulate adipose tissue function e.g. mobilizing fatty acids and adipokines production and secretion from WAT (Ahmadian et al., 2010; Rayner, 2001) and in non-shivering thermogenesis of BAT (Hondares et al., 2011). However, despite ATP being an established cotransmitter with noradrenaline, it is not known whether ATP and (UTP) released from sympathetic nerves innervating PVAT has a role in regulation of adipocyte functions through activation of adipocyte P2 receptors including P2Y₂.

1.4 Aims

There is relatively little knowledge about the constitutive release of purines in blood vessels, although this is important for basic understanding of but also the vascular control mechanisms, pathophysiology of cardiovascular diseases such as hypertension for which it may offer new therapeutic approaches. PVAT surrounds most of the large and medium arteries. Prior to its recognition as an active regulator of vascular homeostasis, PVAT was considered a passive structural component of the vascular wall. There is no doubt that PVAT releases many active mediators that have a paracrine effect on vascular tone (Brown et al., 2014). In adipocytes, P2Y and P2X receptors are expressed, whose activation influences lipolysis and regulates the release of adipokines (Tozzi & Novak, 2017). The role of these receptors expressed in PVAT in the regulation of adjacent vasculature is less understood. In addition, it is possible for adipocytes themselves to release nucleotides to regulate adipocyte activity (Ali et al., 2018). Whether this occurs in PVAT and alters tone of the adjacent vasculature is unknown. Therefore, the aim of this study was to investigate if nucleotides (ATP/UTP) are released constitutively from PVAT to regulate the vascular tone of mesenteric arteries. In addition, the current study had the following specific aims:

- To investigate whether P2 receptor antagonists have direct effects on vascular tone as an indication of constitutive release of endogenous nucleotides.
- To investigate whether the relaxation responses induced by P2 receptor antagonists in the mesenteric artery are due to nucleotides released via connexin and pannexin channels. Also, to study the role of the vascular endothelium as a possible source of the nucleotides.
- The possible involvement of other P2X, P2Y and adenosine receptors in the vasorelaxant effect induced by AR-C118925XX (P2Y₂ receptor antagonist) was also investigated.

 To study whether the nucleotides ATP and UTP act on P2Y receptors on adipocytes to release adiponectin and leptin. The findings led me to investigate if adiponectin released from PVAT contributes to the anti-contractile action of PVAT.

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

2.1 Porcine tissue preparation

Mesenteries, hearts and spleens were obtained from large white hybrid pigs of both sexes from a local abattoir in Nottingham. The pigs were around 22 weeks old and weighed around 70 kg. The mesentery was isolated directly from the intestines and placed in a container of an ice-cold Krebs-Henseleit solution (NaCl 118, KCl 4.8, MgSO4 1.1, NaHCO3 25, KH2PO4 1.2, Dglucose 12 and CaCl2 1.25 mM) and was aerated with 95% O2 and 5% CO2. Then, the superior mesenteric artery and the first order branch arteries were dissected from the surrounding fat. They were then placed in a universal tube containing a pre-gassed Krebs-Henseleit solution and stored overnight at 4°C. In the coronary and splenic artery experiments, the anterior proximal artery and a sample of the dorsal branch, respectively, were dissected and stored in a Krebs-Henseleit solution at 4°C overnight in the refrigerator.

On the second day, a fine dissection was conducted to isolate the first order branch artery (large mesenteric artery) and prepare the artery rings. All surrounding fat was removed from the PVAT-free mesenteric artery segments (Figure 2.1). The same procedure was conducted to clear the porcine coronary and the splenic arteries of any surrounding connective tissue and fat. Arteries with and without PVAT were cut into rings around 5 mm in length. In experiments investigating the effect of PVAT, around 350 mg of surrounding fat remained attached to the 5 mm artery segments (Figure 2.2). In the endothelium-denuded mesenteric arteries, the endothelium was carefully removed with forceps by rubbing it against the internal surface. At the end of the experiments, the successful removal of endothelium was confirmed by the absence of a relaxation response to bradykinin in all U46619-pre-constricted endothelium denuded mesenteric artery segments.



Figure 2.1: The porcine-isolated mesenteric arterial bed shows the superior mesenteric artery and the large mesenteric artery. A fine dissection was conducted to isolate the first order branch artery (large mesenteric arteries, which were used in this study) and prepare the artery rings.



Figure 2.2: Rings of arteries with and without PVAT were cut at a length of around 5 mm, and around 350 mg of surrounding fat remained attached to the 5 mm artery segments.

2.2 Isometric tension recording

The tissues were then placed in 10 ml jacketed organ baths containing an oxygenated (95% O2 and 5% CO2) Krebs-Henseleit solution, which was maintained at 37°C using a water heater circulator (Techne Circulator C-85A). Then, the arterial rings were mounted onto a glass rod containing a stainless steel hook, with another hook attached to the tissue, and were then connected to an isometric force transducer (Figure 2.3). A Quad Bridge amplifier unit was used to allow the PowerLab (AD Instruments) to connect to the transducers. Tension was recorded by using LabChart data analysis software (AD Instruments version 7) on a Windows XP PC. The transducers were calibrated by using a 20 g weight, and then an initial tension of 10 g was applied to the artery segments. After applying the initial tension to all

segments, they were allowed to equilibrate for about 50 minutes and then relax to a final resting tension of between 1-2 g. When a stable baseline was obtained, the tissues viability and activity were tested with two responses to 60 mM KCI. Once the tone of the tissues had returned to the baseline and had stabilised, the thromboxane A2 (TP) receptor agonist U46619 (10 nM to 90 nM) was added to the artery segments to elicit a contraction of about 40-60% of the second KCI response.



Figure 2.3: An isolated tissue set up showing a 10 ml Krebs-Henseleit solution maintained at 37°C in oxygenated (95% O2 and 5% CO2) organ baths. A stainless steel hook was attached to a glass rod with arterial rings. Another hook was attached to the tissue and was connected by a thread to an isometric force transducer. The PowerLab was connected to the transducers using a Quad Bridge amplifier unit. The tension was recorded using LabChart data analysis software.

2.3 Experimental protocols

2.3.1 Effect of purinergic receptor antagonists on U46619-induced contractions of porcine arteries

To determine the effect of P2 receptor antagonists, the P2-purinoceptor antagonists suramin (100 μ M), AR-C118925XX (1 μ M and 10 μ M), MSG228 (1 μ M and 10 μ M), MRS2578 (10 μ M) and NF449 (30 μ M) were added directly to the stable tone of the U46619-pre-constricted mesenteric artery segments and incubated for 60 minutes. Theophylline (10 μ M) was also incubated to study the role of adenosine receptors. Some mesenteric arteries were incubated with P2 receptor antagonists in the presence of the attached PVAT. In some experiments, U46619-pre-constricted coronary and splenic arteries were incubated for 60 minutes with AR-C118925XX (10 μ M).

A different set of experiments were done to study the functional role of the endothelium in response to AR-C118925XX. AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) was added to endothelium denuded vessel segments of the mesenteric arteries and incubated for 60 minutes.

In a different set of experiments, porcine-isolated mesenteric arteries were pre-contracted using KCl (20 to 30 mM), phenylephrine (0.5 to 1 μ M) or endothelin (10 to 20 nM) to about 40-60% of the second KCl response. Phenylephrine and endothelin produced an unstable increase in tone of the mesenteric arteries. However, a stable contractile tone in the mesenteric arteries was achieved with KCl (20 to 30 mM). AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) was incubated for 60 minutes in the KCl-pre-constricted mesenteric arteries.

Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (0.1% v/v) or distilled water ($10 \text{ }\mu\text{I}$) was added to the adjacent artery segment from the same animal as a control.

2.3.2 Effect of connexin and pannexin channel blockers on U46619induced contractions of porcine mesenteric artery

The connexin and pannexin channel blockers carbenoxolone and probenecid (100 μ M) were added directly to the pre-constricted tone of mesenteric artery segments and were incubated for 60 minutes. Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (0.1% v/v) or distilled water (10 μ I) was added to an adjacent mesenteric artery segment from the same animal as a control. In some experiments, AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) was added to U46619-pre-constricted porcine mesenteric arteries together with either carbenoxolone (100 μ M) or probenecid (100 μ M).

To investigate whether carbenoxolone and probenecid had a damaging effect on porcine mesenteric arteries smooth muscle and endothelium, KCl (60 mM) and bradykinin (10 μ M) were added at the end of the experiments.

2.3.3 Effect of AR-C118925XX on vascular tone in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries desensitised with UTP and α , β -meATP

P2Y receptors were desensitised by preincubation with UTP (300 μM). UTP was added several times (3 to 4 times), with an interval of 20 to 30 minutes between each addition. UTP (300 μM) was added to the U46619-preconstricted porcine mesenteric arteries, without washout between additions. Once stable tone was achieved, the P2Y₂ receptor antagonist AR-C118925XX (10 μM) was incubated. A different set of experiments was conducted to desensitise the P2X1 receptors using α ,β-meATP, which was added (10 μM) at basal tone. The tone of mesenteric arteries was then raised by U46619. After a stable pre-contractile tone had been achieved with U46619, AR-C118925XX (10 μM) was added for 60 minutes.

2.3.4 Effect of exogenous ATP and UTP on vascular tone in porcineisolated mesenteric arteries

AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) was incubated for 20 minutes before the cumulative addition of ATP and UTP (10 μ M-1 mM) to study the effect of

exogenous nucleotides in U46619-precontracted porcine mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT.

The effect of the different concentrations of the exogenous ATP and UTP on the U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in porcine mesenteric arteries was studied. A combination of ATP and UTP (100 μ M, 300 μ M and 1 mM), and single additions of ATP (100 μ M, 300 μ M and 1 mM) and UTP (100 μ M, 300 μ M and 1 mM) were studied.

A different set of experiments was conducted to study the effect of PVAT on the contractile response of exogenous nucleotides. Cumulative concentrations of ATP and UTP (10 μ M-1 mM) were added to the U46619-pre-constricted mesenteric and splenic arteries.

2.3.5 Effect of ecto-ATPase and ecto-ATPase inhibitor on vascular tone

in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries

Apyrase (5 and 10 units/ml) was incubated with both PVAT and PVAT-free U46619-pre-constricted mesenteric arteries. The incubation time was extended by 120 minutes because apyrase 10 units/ml produced dual effects on the pre-contractile tone. In another set of experiments, apyrase (10 units/ml) was also added at the basal tone before pre-contraction with U46619 in PVAT and PVAT-free mesenteric arteries. After a stable pre-contractile tone had been achieved with U46619, AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) was added for 60 minutes.

ARL67156 (100 μ M), which is an ecto-ATPase inhibitor, was added for 60 minutes to both U46619-pre-constricted PVAT and PVAT-free mesenteric arteries.

2.3.6 Contraction response of ATP and UTP in porcine splenic arteries with and without PVAT

Cumulative concentrations of ATP and UTP (10 μ M-1 mM) were added to the U46619-pre-constricted splenic arteries to study the effect of PVAT on the contractile response of exogenous nucleotides.

To study the effect of adiponectin on the vascular tone of splenic arteries, AdipoRon (1 to 100 μ M), an adiponectin receptor agonist, was added cumulatively to U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone of splenic arteries with PVAT. Additionally, anti-adiponectin antibody (ABIN3208272, Antibodies-online) was incubated with splenic artery with PVAT and its effect on the PVAT-induced depression of responses to ATP and UTP was studied.

2.3.7 Determination of ATP concentration in porcine isolated mesenteric

arteries

To determine the amount of ATP released into a Krebs-Henseleit solution by PVAT and PVAT-free mesenteric arteries, luminescence method was used. Concentrations of ATP in the Krebs-Henseleit solution were measured using the Luminescent ATP Detection Assay Kit (ab113849, Abcam, Cambridge, UK). Luminescence was measured using an ATP assay in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions (Luminescent ATP Detection Assay Kit (Ab113849), 2022). ATP assays are based on the production of light caused by ATP reacting with firefly luciferase and luciferin. In the cell, the emission of light is proportional to the concentration of ATP as follows:

ATP + D-Luciferin + O2 Oxyluciferin + AMP + PPi + CO2 + Light

Segments of PVAT and PVAT-free mesenteric arteries were prepared, and the average weight of PVAT was about 350 mg remain attached to 5 mm mesenteric artery segments. Segments of isolated-mesenteric arteries were incubated in a 1 ml tube containing an oxygenated (95% O2 and 5% CO2) Krebs-Henseleit solution, which was maintained at 37°C for 20 minutes. ATP release was measured in isolated-mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT and in the presence and absence of apyrase (10 units/ml) and U46619 (50 nM). Samples were collected, and 50 µl volume of each sample and ATP working standards were transferred to opaque 96-well plates. 50 µl of detergent and substrates were added to the samples and

standards. Luminescence was measured by a luminescence microplate reader. An ATP standard curve was used to calculate the ATP concentration in each sample. Based on the standard curve, the range was 0.001 μ M-10 μ M (Figure 2.4). Results were expressed as nanomolar (nM) of the ATP released.



Figure 2.4: An example of ATP standard curve of Luminescent ATP Detection Assay Kit (Ab113849) used in this experiment. The range was 0.001μ M-10 μ M.

2.4 Cell culture

3T3-L1 mouse preadipocytes (ATCC-CL-173) were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA, United States). 3T3-L1 cells (passage 9 to 10) were cultured in basal medium 1 (BM1). This contained Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Sigma D6546), with 10% new-born calf serum (NCS) (Sigma N4637), 100 units/mL of penicillin, 100 mg/mL of streptomycin (P/S) (Sigma PO781) and 2 mM of L-glutamine (Sigma G7513) in a humidified incubator with 5% CO2 at 37°C, as recommended by the supplier (Table 2.1). In a T75 cm2 flask, 3T3-L1 cells were grown to 70% to 80% confluence. Afterwards, the cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) before being trypsinised with 1% trypsin and subcultured at a 1:5 ratio.

In a 6-well cell culture plate and at a density of 3×10^4 3T3-L1, adipocytes were seeded. An automated cell counter, BIO-RAD TC20TM, with 50% Trypan Blue, was used to count the cells. 3T3-L1 adipocytes were treated with prodifferentiator agents to transform from their fibroblastic phenotype to an adipocyte phenotype (Zebisch et al., 2012). 3T3-L1 adipocytes were grown to confluence, and the differentiation was stimulated by differentiation medium 1 (DM1). DM1 contains DMEM, 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Sigma F9665), P/S, L-glutamine, 1 µg/ml of insulin (Sigma 15523), 0.5 mM of 3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine (IBMX) (Sigma 17018), 0.25 of μ M dexamethasone (Sigma D1756) and 2 μ M of rosiglitazone (Sigma R2408). 3T3-L1 adipocytes were incubated with DM1 for 48 hours. After 48 hours, the media was replaced with differentiation medium 2 (DM2), which contains DMEM, 10% FBS, P/S, L-glutamine and 1 μ g/ml of insulin. 3T3-L1 adipocytes were incubated with DM2 for 48 hours. This was followed by changing medium to basal medium 2 (BM2), which contains DMEM, 10% FBS, P/S and L-glutamine. The cells were maintained by changing the medium every 24 and 48 hours for about 7 days. A small number of intracellular lipid droplets appeared around day 7 and increased in size over the next few days, and at 13-14 days post-induction of differentiation, almost all the cells were filled with lipid droplets of various sizes (Figure 2.5).

| Type of medium | Components | Days | Durations |
|-------------------------|--------------------|---------|-------------|
| Basal medium 1 (BM1) | DMEM NCS P/S | Day 0-3 | 48-72 hours |

Table 2.1: 3T3-L1 adipocyte growing and differentiation medium components.

| Differentiation medium 1 (DM1) | DMEM FBS P/S IBMX Dexamethasone Rosiglitazone Insulin | Day 3-5 | 48 hours |
|-----------------------------------|---|----------|----------|
| Differentiation medium 2 (DM2) | DMEM FBS P/S Insulin | Day 5-7 | 48 hours |
| Basal medium 2 (BM2) | DMEM FBS P/S | Day 7-14 | 7 days |
| Basal medium 3 (BM3) | DMEM P/S | Day 15 | 24 hours |

2.4.1 Oil red O staining of 3T3-L1 adipocytes

Differentiated and undifferentiated 3T3-L1 cells were stained with oil red O to confirm the presence of lipid droplets. The culture medium was removed from the 6-well plate, and PBS was used to wash the 3T3-L1 fibroblasts and adipocytes. A fixative solution of 4% (v/v) paraformaldehyde was then applied to the cells for 20 minutes at room temperature. An oil red O solution of 0.5% isopropanol (Sigma, O1391) was used. To prepare a fresh working solution, a stock solution was diluted with distilled water (3:2), and the solution was filtered through a 0.2 μ m filter. At room temperature, an oil red O working solution was applied to the cells for 1 hour. After washing

3 times with PBS, the cells were incubated for 2 minutes with 60% isopropanol. In the final step, the 3T3-L1 cells were washed with PBS, and the stained lipid droplets were visualised under a light microscope.



Figure 2.5: (Left) 3T3-L1 fibroblast before differentiation; (right) 14 days post-induction of differentiation, stained with oil red O to identify lipid droplets.

2.4.2 Treatment of 3T3-L1 adipocytes

The 3T3-L1 adipocytes were cultured in 6-well plates until day 15 of differentiation at 37°C in 5% CO2. Following differentiation for 15 days, the medium was changed to basal medium 3 (BM3), which contains DMEM and P/S without FBS, and experiments were conducted. To allow adipokines to accumulate, BM3 was changed to minimal amounts (1ml). As serum-free was used to incubate 3T3-L1 adipocytes with various drugs, it was assumed that the presence of serum could lead to conflicting results because it could contain adipokines, which can interfere with ELISA kits. The following reagents were added directly to the BM3: ATP (300 μ M), UTP (300 μ M), ADP (300 μ M), UDP (300 μ M), apyrase (10 units/ml), suramin (100 μ M), insulin (170 nM) and DMSO (0.1% v/v). The cells were then incubated for

24 hours. In addition, the effect of AR-C118925XX and MSG228 (10 μ M) on ATP- and UTP-induced adiponectin release was studied. The treated medium was collected and stored at -80°C for ELISA testing.

2.4.3 Measurement of adiponectin and leptin concentrations

In accordance with the instructions provided by the manufacturer, both adiponectin and leptin concentrations were measured using ELISA kits. A mouse adiponectin ELISA Kit (ab108785, Abcam, Cambridge, UK) was used to measure adiponectin levels in the media. Based on the standard curve, the range was 0.391 ng/ml-25 ng/ml, and the sensitivity was 0.62 ng/ml. Results were expressed as nanograms (ng) of adiponectin released per ml of media solution. Media leptin levels were also measured using a mouse leptin ELISA Kit (ab100718, Abcam, Cambridge, UK). The standard curve showed that the range was 4.1 pg/ml-1000 pg/ml, and sensitivity was 4 pg/ml. Results were expressed as picograms (pg) of leptin released per ml of media solution.

2.5 Chemicals

Table 2.2: Concentrations and solvents of drugs and chemicals used in this study.

| Drug | Stock concentration | Final concentration | Solvent |
|--------|------------------------|---------------------|-------------------|
| KCI | 3 M | 60 mM | H ₂ o |
| U46619 | 10 µM | 10 nM to 90 nM | methyl acetate |
| ATP | 1 M | 10 µM to 1 mM | H ₂ 0 |
| UTP | 1 M | 10 µM to 1 mM | H ₂ 0 |
| ADP | 100 mM | 300 µM | H ₂ o |
| UDP | 100 mM | 300 µM | H ₂ o |

| Suramin | 100 mM | 300 µM | H ₂ o |
|--|--------------|------------------------|------------------|
| AR-C118925XX | 10 mM | 1 and 10 µM | DMSO |
| MSG228 | 10 mM | 1 and 10 μM | DMSO |
| NF449 | 10 mM | 30 µM | H ₂ o |
| a,β-meATP | 10 mM | 10 µM | H ₂ o |
| MRS2578 | 10 mM | 10 µM | DMSO |
| Theophylline | 10 mM | 10 µM | H ₂ o |
| Apyrase | 100 units/ml | 5 and 10 units/ml | H ₂ o |
| ARL67156 | 100 mM | 100 µM | H ₂ o |
| Carbenoxolone | 100 mM | 100 µM | H ₂ o |
| Probenecid | 100 mM | 100 µM | DMSO |
| Bradykinin | 100 mM | 10 µM | H ₂ o |
| AdipoRon | 1 mM | 1 to 100 µM | DMSO |
| Insulin | 1 mg/ml | 170 nM and 1 ug/ml | |
| 3-isobutyl- 1methylxanthine (IBMX) | 0.5 mM | 50 mM | DMSO |
| Dexamethasone | 25 µM | 0.25 μM | DMSO |
| Rosiglitazone | 200 µM | 2 µM | DMSO |

All the drugs were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich UK, except for U46619, AR-C118925XX, α , β -meATP, NF449, bradykinin, MRS2578 and ARL67156, which were obtained from Tocris Bioscience UK. MSG228 was provided by Michael Stocks, School of Pharmacy, University of Nottingham.

2.6 Statistical analysis

For the organ bath pharmacology results, the data were expressed as a percentage of relaxation of the U46619-induced tone. Contractile responses were expressed as percentages of 60 mM KCI-induced contractions. All results were expressed as means \pm SEM; a minimum of six independent experiments, with n representing the number of animals used. For statistical analysis, a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with multiple comparisons Sidak's post hoc test was used. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant. Also, comparing two groups was done using the Student's t-test.

For the cell culture results, these data were expressed as (ng) and (pg) of adiponectin and leptin released per ml of media solution, respectively. All results were expressed as means ± SEM of five independent experiments, where n is the number of different passages through which 3T3-L1 fibroblasts were differentiated into adipocytes. For statistical analysis, a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with multiple comparisons Tukey's test was used. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant. Calculations, statistical analysis and data plotting were performed with Microsoft Excel and GraphPad Prism version 9.

Chapter 3

The possible release of nucleotides from PVAT in regulating vascular tone in porcine mesenteric arteries

3.1 Introduction

It is well established that PVAT has an important role in vascular homeostasis. PVAT has a local effect on vascular smooth muscle cell contractility via the release of a number of bioactive substances and adipokines (Brown et al., 2014; Chang et al., 2020). It is generally accepted that PVAT is anti-contractile, with most studies showing that when it is removed, vasoconstriction to stimuli is increased in the PVAT-free blood vessels; however, PVAT can also induce vasocontractile effects (see Chapter 1). Knowledge about mediators released from PVAT in the regulation of blood vessel contractility is important however, the mechanisms by which these mediators exert their effects remain unclear.

P2Y and P2X receptors are expressed in the vasculature in both endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells and participate in vascular tone regulation. A number of P2 receptors are also expressed in adipose tissues and have a variety of roles including lipolysis, lipogenesis and adipokine release, which is mediated through the binding of nucleotides to these receptors (Tozzi & Novak, 2017). Constitutive ATP release from the adipocytes themselves and subsequent activation of P2Y₂ receptors has been shown to regulate basal lipolysis in human adipocytes (Ali et al., 2018). It has been reported recently that basal ATP release from adipocytes mediated inflammatory cytokine secretion via activation of adipocyte P2 receptors (Rossato et al., 2022). Whether this occurs in PVAT and alters tone of the adjacent vasculature is unknown.

Adipocytes are not the only possible source of endogenous nucleotides acting at adipocyte P2 receptors. Sympathetic nerves, via noradrenaline acting at β -adrenoceptors, have long been recognised to regulate adipose tissue function e.g. mobilizing fatty acids and adipokines production and secretion from WAT (Ahmadian et al., 2010; Rayner, 2001) and in nonshivering thermogenesis of BAT (Hondares et al., 2011). ATP may also be released from other cell types including sensory nerves, erythrocytes, leucocytes, and platelets, and during inflammation and injury (Gorini et al.,

2013). However, despite ATP being an established cotransmitter with noradrenaline, it is not known whether ATP and UTP released from sympathetic nerves innervating PVAT has a role in regulation of adipocyte functions through activation of adipocyte P2 receptors including P2Y₂.

mRNA for multiple P2X and P2Y receptor subtypes has been shown in human visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue (Rossato et al., 2022). The present study was especially interested in the P2Y₂ receptor because of evidence that it has a functional role in cultured adipocytes in regulating basal lipolysis (Ali et al., 2018). ATP and UTP bind equally to P2Y₂ receptors which are distributed in the vascular smooth muscle and endothelium (Burnstock & Ralevic, 2014; Kennedy et al., 2013). Both ATP and UTP can induce vasoconstriction and/or vasodilation depending on the blood vessel and experimental conditions (see Chapter 1). Recognised limitations in the study of P2 receptors are that nucleotides can activate more than one P2 receptor subtype. In addition, these nucleotides are rapidly hydrolysed to nucleotides/nucleosides their respective by ectonucleotidases. Furthermore, there is a lack of selective P2 receptor antagonists for a number of receptors. In this study, two selective P2Y₂ receptor antagonists, AR-C118925XX and MSG228, were used in addition to the broad-spectrum P2 receptor antagonist suramin.

Therefore, the aim of this chapter was to examine if nucleotides (ATP/UTP) are released constitutively from PVAT to regulate the vascular tone of mesenteric arteries.

3.2 RESULTS

3.2.1 Effect of suramin on vascular tone in porcine isolated mesenteric

arteries

To investigate the possibility that there is a constitutive release of the nucleotides ATP/UTP involved in regulation of the tone of isolated mesenteric artery segments, the non-selective P2 receptor antagonist suramin (100 μ M) was incubated for 60 min, after pre-contraction with U46619, in both PVAT and PVAT-free porcine mesenteric arteries. Suramin (100 μ M) caused significant relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in porcine mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT. The relaxation response at 60 min to suramin in PVAT-free mesenteric arteries was 25.7 ± 6.8% (n = 7) which was significantly different to relaxation due to its solvent DMSO, at 2.6 ± 3.9% (n=7). Suramin also caused a relaxation response in mesenteric arteries with PVAT of 21.10 ± 3.9% (n = 8) at 60 min, significantly different to the relaxation induced by its solvent DMSO, which was 7.2 ± 3.2% (n = 8) (Figure 3.1).







Figure 3.1: The effects of incubating suramin (100 μ M) for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT. Distilled water (20 μ l) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 7-8). Compared to the controls * P<0.05, ** P< 0.01 and *** P <0.001, 2-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's post hoc test.

3.2.2 Effect of AR-C118925XX on vascular tone in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries

To investigate the possibility that nucleotides ATP and UTP are released constitutively from PVAT, porcine isolated mesenteric artery segments, with and without PVAT, were incubated for 60 min with the P2Y₂ receptor antagonist AR-C118925XX (1 μ M and 10 μ M) after pre-constriction with U46619. AR-C118925XX at 1 μ M did not alter the vascular tone in porcine mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT and there was no significant difference in tone of the arteries in the presence of AR-C118925XX at 10 μ M and the control DMSO (0.1% v/v) (n=6) (Figure 3.2). AR-C118925XX at 10 μ M caused a significant relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in both PVAT and PVAT-free porcine mesenteric arteries (Figures 3.3). The relaxation responses at 60 min to AR-C118925XX 10 μ M in PVAT and PVAT-free porcine mesenteric arteries (Figures 3.3).
7.8% (n = 8), respectively. The time course and relaxation response to AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) was very similar to that produced by suramin.



Figure 3.2: The effects of incubating AR-C118925XX (1 μ M) for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT. DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean ± SEM (n = 6).



63

Figure 3.3: (A) Representative traces showing the effects of incubating AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) and DMSO for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries without PVAT. The effects of incubating AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT (B) and (C). DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean ± SEM (n = 8-9). Compared to the controls * P<0.05, ** P< 0.01 and *** P <0.001, 2-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's post hoc test.

3.2.3 Effects of the selective P2Y₂ receptor antagonist MSG228 on vascular tone in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries

To further investigate if there is a constitutive release of nucleotides involved in regulation of the tone of isolated mesenteric artery, another selective antagonist of P2Y₂ receptor MSG228 (1 and 10 μ M) was incubated for 60 min. There was no significant difference in the vascular tone in porcine mesenteric arteries in the presence of MSG228 1 μ M and the control DMSO (0.1% v/v) (Figure 3.4, A). In porcine mesenteric arteries without PVAT pre-contracted with U46619, 10 μ M MSG228 elicited relaxation of 31.2 ± 6.5% at 60 min (n=8) which was significantly different to relaxation due to its solvent DMSO (0.1% v/v), at 14.4 ± 2.7% (n=8) (Figure 3.4, B).



Figure 3.4: The effects of incubating MSG228 (1 μ M) (A) and (10 μ M) (B) for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries without PVAT. DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 8 and 10). Compared to the controls * P<0.05 and ** P< 0.01, 2-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's post hoc test.

3.2.4 Effect of exogenous ATP and UTP on vascular tone in porcine

isolated mesenteric arteries

Cumulative concentration-response curves of ATP and UTP were used to study the effect of exogenous nucleotides in porcine mesenteric arteries. Cumulative concentrations of ATP and UTP (10 μ M to 1 mM) were added to U46619-pre-constricted mesenteric arteries after 20 minutes of incubation with AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) or DMSO (0.1% v/v) in both PVAT and PVAT-free segments. Both ATP and UTP induced concentration-dependent contraction in both PVAT and PVAT-free porcine mesenteric arteries, but AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) did not significantly affect this response (Figure 3.5, 3.6, 3.7 and 3.8). In addition, single concentrations of ATP (300 μ M) and UTP (300 μ M) induced contraction in the presence and absence of AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) (Figure 3.9).



Figure 3.5: An example of representative traces showed cumulative concentration-response curves of ATP (10 μ M to 1 mM) in the presence of AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) or DMSO (0.1% v/v) in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries without PVAT.



Figure 3.6: Cumulative concentration-response curves of ATP (10 μ M to 1 mM) in the presence of AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) or DMSO (0.1% v/v) in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT. Data are expressed as % of response to 60 mM KCl and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6).



Figure 3.7: An example of representative traces showed cumulative concentration-response curves of UTP (10 μ M to 1 mM) in the presence of AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) or DMSO (0.1% v/v) in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries without PVAT.







Figure 3.8: Cumulative concentration-response curves of UTP (10 μ M to 1 mM) in the presence of AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) or DMSO (0.1% v/v) in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT. Data are expressed as % of response to 60 mM KCl and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6).







Upon reaching the maximal contractile response induced by ATP and UTP, this response was followed by relaxation of vascular tone of mesenteric arteries and a return to baseline. The time (t50) at which the peak response was reversed by 50% was measured in control conditions and in the presence of AR-C118925XX (10 μ M). AR-C118925XX altered the time of recovery after the contractile response induced by ATP and UTP (300 μ M), and caused a more rapid relaxation of the vascular tone of mesenteric artery. In the presence of AR-C118925XX (10 μ M), t50 for ATP was 4.18 ± 0.39 min (n=7) which was significantly different to t50 for ATP in the control conditions, at 6.26 ± 0.79 min (n=7) (Figure 3.10). AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) also significantly decreased t50 for UTP which was 9.62 ± 0.53 min (n=6) compared to t50 for UTP in the control conditions, at 13.25 ± 1.14 min (n=6) (Figure 3.11).



Figure 3.10: Time t50 (minutes) at which 50% of the peak relaxation response was achieved after the maximum contractile response induced by ATP (300 μ M) with AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) or DMSO (0.1% v/v). Data are expressed as (minutes) ± SEM (n = 7). Compared to the controls * P<0.05, using two-tailed, unpaired Student's t-test



Figure 3.11: Time t50 (minutes) at which 50% of the peak relaxation response was achieved after the maximum contractile response induced by UTP (300 μ M) with AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) or DMSO (0.1% v/v). Data are expressed as (minutes) ± SEM (n = 6). Compared to the controls * P<0.05, using two-tailed, unpaired Student's t-test.

3.2.5 Effect of combination of ATP and UTP in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries

The effect of different concentrations of exogenous nucleotides ATP and UTP on the U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in porcine mesenteric arteries was studied. A combination of ATP and UTP, and ATP and UTP alone caused contraction of mesenteric arteries. There was no significant difference in the contraction responses induced by a combination of ATP and UTP, and ATP and UTP alone (Figure 3.12).



Figure 3.12: Contractile responses induced by different concentrations of a combination of ATP and UTP and ATP and UTP alone in U46619-induced tone of mesenteric arteries. Data are expressed as % of response to 60 mM KCl and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6).

3.2.6 Effect of ecto-ATPase, apyrase, and ecto-ATPase inhibitor ARL67156, on vascular tone in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries

To further investigate the possible ongoing release of nucleotides, the effects of apyrase (metabolises nucleotides) on tone of the pre-contracted arteries was studied. Apyrase (5 and 10 units/ml) was incubated with both PVAT and PVAT-free mesenteric arteries. Apyrase (5 units/ml) had no direct effect on U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in both PVAT and PVAT-free porcine mesenteric arteries (Figure 3.13). Addition of apyrase (10 units/ml) to U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone of mesenteric arteries caused complex alterations in the tone. There was a relaxation during the first 5 minutes of incubation, followed by contraction for about one hour. The maximum contraction induced by apyrase (10 units/ml) in PVAT-free mesenteric arteries (Figure 3.14). Then, apyrase evoked relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in some PVAT and PVAT-free

arteries (Figure 3.14) although this was not significantly different to the control when measured at 120 min. The relaxation response induced by apyrase (10 units/ml) in PVAT-free mesenteric arteries was $9.9 \pm 17.4\%$ (n = 6) compared to $4.0 \pm 0.48\%$ (n = 6) in the control condition. In PVAT mesenteric arteries, the relaxation response was 8.11 + 11.6% (n=6) compared to 2.1 + 1.8% (n= 6) in the control condition.

PVAT-Free







Figure 3.13: The effects of incubating exogenous ectonucleotidases apyrase (5 units/ml) for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT. Distilled water (10 μ l) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 8).





(C) PVAT-Free



(E) PVAT-Free



Figure 3.14: (A), (B) The effects of exogenous ectonucleotidases apyrase (10 units/ml) for 5 minutes, (C) and (D) for 2 hours, in U46619-preconstricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT. (E), (F) Representative traces showing the response of U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT to apyrase (10 units/ml). Distilled water (10 μ l) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 8).

Apyrase (10 units/ml) was also added at basal tone before pre-contraction with U46619 in PVAT and PVAT-free mesenteric arteries to investigate whether metabolism of endogenous nucleotides would affect the vasomotor response to AR-C118925XX. After a stable pre-contractile tone had been achieved with U46619, AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) was added for 60 minutes. In this experiment, AR-C118925XX had no significant effect on the tone of U46619-pre-constricted porcine mesenteric arteries (n=8) (Figure 3.15).

PVAT-Free



Figure 3.15: Effect of apyrase (10 units/ml) on AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) responses in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT. AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) was incubated for 60 minutes and DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6-8).

ARL67156 (100 μ M) which is an ecto-ATPase inhibitor, was added for 60 minutes to both PVAT and PVAT-free mesenteric arteries. ARL67156 at the first 10 to 20 minutes of incubation caused a small contraction of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in both PVAT and PVAT-free porcine mesenteric arteries. The maximum contraction induced by ARL67156 (100 μ M) in PVAT-free mesenteric arteries was 4.4 ± 1.9% (n = 8), and 6.5 ± 2.7% (n = 6) in PVAT mesenteric arteries (Figure 3.16). Although this was modest and so not statistically significantly different to the control.





Figure 3.16: (A) and (B) Representative traces showing the response of mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT to ARL67156 (100 μ M). (C) and (D) The effects of incubating ARL67156 (100 μ M), ecto-ATPase inhibitor, for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT. Distilled water (10 μ I) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6-8).

3.3 Discussion

The aim of this thesis was to investigate the possibility that nucleotides ATP/UTP are released constitutively from PVAT to regulate vascular tone of mesenteric arteries. Thus, in this chapter, the effects of suramin (P2 receptor antagonist), AR-C118925XX and MSG228 (P2Y₂ receptor antagonists) on the U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone of mesenteric arteries in the presence and absence of PVAT were investigated. Next, the effects of exogenous ATP and UTP were examined. Lastly, the effects of ecto-ATPase, apyrase, and the ecto-ATPase inhibitor ARL67156, on vascular tone in PVAT and PVAT-free porcine mesenteric arteries were studied. It was found that AR-C118925XX and MSG228 at 10 µM and suramin at 100 µM caused relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in both PVAT and PVAT-free mesenteric arteries. In addition, exogenous ATP and UTP induced concentration-dependent contraction in PVAT and PVAT-free mesenteric arteries. AR-C118925XX did not significantly affect the maximum responses to ATP and UTP but it reduced the time to recovery from the response. Apyrase and ARL67156 also altered U46619-pre-constricted mesenteric artery tone. The presence of PVAT did not influence mesenteric artery contractility. Responses to P2 receptor antagonists, ATP and UTP, and apyrase were similar in the presence and absence of PVAT.

Suramin, is a broad-spectrum P2 receptor antagonist which has been reported to antagonize various recombinant and endogenous P2X and P2Y receptors and this inhibition was mostly non-competitive with low potency (Ralevic & Burnstock, 1998). AR-C118925XX is a selective P2Y₂ receptor antagonist which is inactive at all other P2Y receptors at a concentration of 10 μ M and approximately 50-fold selective for the P2Y₂ over the P2X1 receptor (Rafehi et al., 2017). MSG228 is another selective P2Y₂ receptor antagonist. MSG228 is one of the compounds that was developed based on AR-C118925 and shown to be selective and have high-affinity for hP2Y₂ receptors (PKd = 6.50) in calcium mobilization activities (Conroy et al.,

2018). In this study, suramin induced a relaxation of U46619-preconstricted vascular tone in both PVAT and PVAT-free arteries. AR-C118925XX and MSG228 at a concentration of 10 μ M also induced a relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in both PVAT and PVATfree porcine mesenteric arteries with a similar time course and amplitude as suramin (~25% relaxation at 60 min), suggesting that the observed effects are not due to non-specific actions of the antagonists. It is not completely clear why these antagonists have a slow relaxation response, but it could be related to the distribution of P2 receptors and the permeability of these antagonists at different layers of the vascular wall.

ATP release from adipocytes has been shown to be through pannexin-1 channels; the ATP then acts in an auto/paracrine role to promote different functions in the adipocytes including modulation of insulin-stimulated glucose uptake and lipolysis (Adamson et al., 2015; Tozzi et al., 2020). ATP release from adipocytes can be regulated by adrenergic agonists, glucose and insulin (Tozzi et al., 2020). It has been reported also that ATP is constitutively released from adipocytes and subsequent activation of P2Y₂ receptors has been shown to regulate basal lipolysis in human adipocytes (Ali et al., 2018). Furthermore, basal ATP release has been shown recently to regulate inflammatory cytokine secretion (IL-6) through P2 receptor activation in human adipocytes (Rossato et al., 2022). The expression of functional P2X and P2Y receptors in adipose tissues has been identified, showing that extracellular nucleotides modulate the functions and activities of these tissues (Tozzi & Novak, 2017). PVAT also releases factors including adipokines, which are crucial in regulating vascular tone. PVAT has been reported to induce an anti-contractile effect in a number of vascular beds through ADRF (see Chapter 1). However, contractile responses in the presence of PVAT via ADCF have also been shown (Gao et al., 2006; Ramirez et al., 2017; Xia & Li, 2017). However, the effects observed in this chapter show that the source of nucleotides was not the mesenteric artery

PVAT, and the most likely source of nucleotides was smooth muscle or endothelium (investigated further in Chapter 4).

ATP is released from sympathetic nerves, vascular smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells and maintains the vascular tone of adjacent vasculature through activation of P2X and P2Y receptors (Burnstock, 1990; Erlinge & Burnstock, 2008). ATP may also be released from other cell types relevant to the regulation of vascular tone including sensory nerves, erythrocytes, leucocytes, and platelets, and during inflammation and injury (Gorini et al., 2013). Tonic release of ATP and its actions at P2X1 receptors have been shown to be involved in control of vascular tone in the in vivo rat retina (Kur & Newman, 2014). Furthermore, it has been shown that stretch of vascular cells caused by intraluminal pressure stimulates the release of endogenous pyrimidine nucleotides that promote the contraction via P2Y₆ receptor activation and maintains myogenic tone of mesenteric arteries (Kauffenstein et al., 2016). Constitutively release of ATP has been also reported in other cell types including osteoclasts and osteoblasts, olfactory epithelium and monocytes (Brandao-Burch et al., 2012; Hayoz et al., 2012; Sivaramakrishnan et al., 2012).

If nucleotide release is involved in the vasorelaxant effects of suramin, AR-C118925 and MSG228, then ATP and UTP would be expected to be vasoconstrictors of porcine mesenteric arteries. Both ATP and UTP have dual effects, vasoconstriction and/or vasodilation depending on the species, blood vessel and experimental conditions (Burnstock, 2008). In the present study, in U46619-pre-constricted porcine mesenteric arteries, both exogenous ATP and UTP caused vasoconstriction only. A combination of ATP and UTP also evoked vasoconstriction. This is consistent with the possibility that endogenous ATP/UTP is released constitutively to act at contractile P2 receptors. The equal potency of ATP and UTP indicates a possible involvement of P2Y₂ receptors (Jacobson et al., 2020). The failure of AR-C118925 to block ATP and UTP concentration-dependent contractions was, therefore, surprising. AR-C118925 did, however, decrease the time to

recovery after the peak of the response to single concentrations of ATP/UTP indicating an involvement of P2Y₂ receptors. This reduction in the duration of the ATP/UTP contractile response in the presence of AR-C118925 could be due to either inhibition of binding of the exogenous nucleotides to P2Y₂ receptors, or functional antagonism caused by vasorelaxation due to AR-C118925 (due to antagonism of endogenous nucleotide P2Y₂ mediated vasocontraction).

Regarding the AR-C118925-resistant component of exogenous ATP/UTPmediated contraction, P2Y₂ receptors are just one of several contractile P2 receptors expressed in blood vessels. Porcine mesenteric arteries express rapidly desensitizing contractile receptors sensitive to a,b-meATP, likely P2X1 (see Chapter 4). Contractile P2X receptors activated by ATP (predominantly P2X1) are expressed in most blood vessels including porcine and rat mesenteric arteries (Gitterman & Evans, 2000; Liu et al., 1989; Shatarat et al., 2014). UTP can also cause artery contraction via actions at vascular smooth muscle P2X (P2X1) receptors (Froldi et al., 1997; McLaren, Sneddon, et al., 1998). Regarding the UTP contractions, UTP acts mainly on P2Y₂, P2Y₄ and P2Y₆ receptors (Burnstock, 2007). It has been reported that P2Y₆ receptor in mouse aorta is the mediator of vasoconstriction to UTP and UDP (Kauffenstein et al., 2010). Therefore, it is possible that P2Y₄, P2Y₆ and/or P2X receptors, as well as P2Y₂ receptors, are involved in the contractile responses to exogenous UTP/ATP in the porcine mesenteric artery.

There is an apparent disconnect between AR-C118925-mediated inhibition of endogenous nucleotide contraction (leading to vasorelaxation) and its failure to block most of the exogenous nucleotide (ATP/UTP) response. The reason is not entirely clear but it may involve the relative concentrations of endogenous vs exogenous nucleotides, diffusion (or limited diffusion) across the many cell layers of the media, and region specific expression of P2 receptors throughout the blood vessel wall. Specifically, AR-C118925 likely diffuses though the many smooth muscle cell layers of the media to

antagonise endogenously activated P2Y₂ receptors, expressed throughout the media (Haanes et al., 2016; Wallace et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2003), leading to its slow relaxation response (Figure 3.3). In contrast, the rapidly achieved high concentrations of exogenously applied ATP/UTP may act at AR-C118925-insensitive P2X receptors located at the adventitial surface to evoke rapid contraction (Figures 3.8, 3.9) before being quickly metabolised by ectonucleotidases. In this respect immunohistochemical labelling has shown clustering of P2X1 receptors at the adventitial surface of the media (in association with nerve varicosities) (Hansen et al., 1999). However others have reported a more even distribution of P2X1 and P2X4 receptor immunoreactivity throughout the blood vessel wall; P2X7 receptor immunoreactivity was associated with the outer adventitial layer (P2X2, P2X3 and P2X6 receptor immunoreactivity was not detected) (Lewis & Evans, 2001). Heteromeric receptor formation may also contribute to the AR-C118925-insensitive exogenous nucleotide responses.

If there is an ongoing release of endogenous nucleotides which contributes to contractile tone of porcine mesenteric arteries, it would be expected that apyrase (metabolises nucleotides) would have an effect on tone of the precontracted arteries. The addition of apyrase (10 units/ml) in this study caused a dual effect of contraction and relaxation in pre-contracted mesenteric arteries. I also observed that the vasorelaxant response of the pre-contracted mesenteric arteries to AR-C118925XX was abolished in the presence of apyrase (10 units/ml), likely due to the absence of endogenous ATP or UTP. Therefore, hydrolysis of endogenous nucleotides by apyrase produced the respective nucleotide forms (ADP or UDP) which could bind to P2X or P2Y receptors expressed in smooth muscles or endothelium to account for its vasomotor effects. The porcine mesenteric artery is known to express vasorelaxant $P2Y_1$ receptors sensitive to ADP (Alefishat et al., 2013). Apyrase did not cause a similar effect on tone of the pre-contracted arteries as the P2 receptor antagonists (relaxation) because apyrase induces endogenous nucleotides metabolism to different nucleotide

subtypes. Apyrase (1 and 10 units/ml) has been observed to reduce phenylephrine-induced constriction in mouse pressurised thoracodorsal resistance arteries (Billaud et al., 2011). In addition, apyrase in rat retina reduced endogenous ATP levels and dilated retinal arterioles by approximately 40% (Kur & Newman, 2014). It has been reported that apyrase supressed shear stress-induced Ca²⁺ influx in endothelial cells of human pulmonary artery (Yamamoto et al., 2003).

ATP and UTP are readily hydrolysed and the possible involvement of ectonucleotidase inhibition was also considered regarding relaxations to AR-C118925XX and suramin. At 10 µM AR-C118925XX acts as an ectonucleotidases inhibitor (Rafehi et al., 2017). In addition, it has been reported that suramin inhibits ecto-ATPase (Chen et al., 1996; Crack et al., 1994). Thus, both antagonists could cause vasorelaxation by enhancing possible vasorelaxant effects of endogenous ATP/UTP at P2 receptors in porcine mesenteric arteries. However, the ecto-ATPase inhibitor ARL67156 had no significant effect on artery tone suggesting that an involvement of ectonucleotidases is not a major mechanism in the relaxation response to the two antagonists. Interestingly, ARL67156 caused an initial small contraction of the mesenteric artery, which is consistent with the possibility that there is an endogenous release of vasocontractile ATP or UTP, the levels and therefore actions of which are increased by ARL67156. Nucleotide metabolism is regulated at the surface of VSMCs by ectonucleotidases, which contributes to the local regulation of vascular tone. It has been reported that a lack of NTPDase1 increased vessel contractility in the thoracic aortas. Contractions induced by exogenous ATP, UTP, ADP and UDP were potentiated in the preparation of NTPDase1 knockout mice. The ARL67156 also potentiated UDP-induced contractions in mice with NTPDase1 (Kauffenstein et al., 2010). An increase in myogenic tone of mouse mesenteric arteries is associated with reduced extracellular nucleotide hydrolysis caused by ARL67156 (Kauffenstein et al., 2016).

In conclusion, these data report a direct vasorelaxant effect of P2 receptor antagonists on vascular tone of porcine pre-contracted mesenteric arteries. In addition, these data indicate that hydrolysis of constitutively released nucleotides with apyrase induced relaxation and contraction of preconstricted mesenteric arteries. The evidence, thus far, suggests that this does not involve PVAT. It points to an involvement of endogenously released ATP or UTP, acting via vasocontractile P2X or P2Y receptors, which are blocked by the antagonists to cause vasorelaxation.

Chapter 4

Investigating the role of the endothelium and connexin and pannexin channels in the vasorelaxant effect induced by AR-C118925XX, and the selective involvement of P2Y₂ receptors

4.1 Introduction

The endothelium is a significant source of ATP released under basal conditions and in response to hypoxia, fluid shear stress and ischemia, and maintains vascular tone through activation of vasodilator endothelial P2 receptors (To et al., 2015; Yamamoto et al., 2006). A number of mechanisms have been proposed for ATP and other nucleotides release including connexin hemichannels and pannexin channels (Lohman et al., 2012). It has been reported that mechanical stimulation induced ATP release via connexin hemichannels in corneal endothelial cells. In this study, ATP release promoted calcium wave propagation, and ATP release was inhibited by the connexin hemichannel blockers flufenamic acid and peptide Gap26 (Gomes et al., 2005). Cx43 hemichannels-mediated ATP release from human microvascular endothelial cells was significantly reduced by hypoxia (Faigle et al., 2008). Another study provided evidence that connexin hemichannels control vascular tone in rat mesenteric arteries. In this study, use of a Cx43 hemichannel blocking peptide resulted in reduction of norepinephrine-induced contraction and calcium oscillations. Also, ATP release from smooth muscle cells was inhibited by blockage of Cx43 hemichannels (Bol et al., 2017).

In addition to connexin hemichannels, it has been shown that ATP can be released via Panx1 channels upon sympathetic stimulation (phenylephrine) in mouse thoracodorsal resistance arteries and cultured human coronary arterial VSMCs. ATP then activates purinergic receptors on neighbouring cells and causes contraction. In this study, the pannexin channel blockers mefloquine, probenecid, and 10Panx1 were highly effective in decreasing the contractile response induced by phenylephrine (Billaud et al., 2011). It has also been reported that ATP can be released through Panx1 channels in response to thrombin in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. In this study, carbenoxolone, a connexin hemichannel and Panx1 channel inhibitor, significantly inhibited thrombin-mediated ATP release (Gödecke et al., 2012). If there is an ongoing release of endogenous nucleotides

which contributes to contractile tone of mesenteric arteries, it would be expected that connexin and pannexin channel blockers would have a similar effect on tone of the pre-contracted arteries to the P2 receptor antagonists as reported in Chapter 3, i.e. that they would also cause a relaxation.

In Chapter 3, I found that both suramin (100 μ M), a non-selective P2 receptor antagonist, and AR-C118925XX and MSG228 (10 μ M), selective P2Y₂ receptor antagonists, caused a significant relaxation of U46619-preconstricted vascular tone in porcine mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT. In addition, data in Chapter 3 showed that there was no significant difference between the responses of PVAT and PVAT-free mesenteric arteries to P2 receptor antagonists, exogenous nucleotides, apyrase and ARL67156. Therefore, the present chapter has focused on PVAT-free mesenteric arteries only.

The principle aim of this chapter was to examine whether the relaxation responses induced by P2 receptor antagonists in the mesenteric artery are due to nucleotides released via connexin and pannexin channels. Also, to study the role of endothelium as a possible source of the nucleotides. AR-C118925XX, at 10 μ M, is selective for P2Y₂ receptors with no action at other P2Y receptors but it has been shown to antagonise human recombinant P2X1 and P2X3 receptors at this concentration (Rafehi et al., 2017). Therefore, the possible involvement of other P2X, P2Y and adenosine receptors in the vasorelaxant effect induced by AR-C118925XX was also investigated.

4.2 RESULTS

4.2.1 Effect of AR-C118925XX on vascular tone in endothelium denuded

porcine isolated mesenteric arteries

In order determine the functional role of the endothelium on the response to the selective P2Y₂ receptor antagonist, AR-C118925XX (10 μ M), was added to endothelium denuded vessel segments. AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) caused a relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in endothelium denuded porcine mesenteric arteries. The relaxation response in endothelium denuded arteries at 60 minutes was 18.43± 3.5% (n = 6) which was significantly different to relaxation due to its solvent DMSO (0.1% v/v), at 6.25± 2.9% (n=6) (Figure 4.1). In this experiment, the vasorelaxation response to AR-C118925XX was very similar in the absence or presence of the endothelium (n = 6) (Figure 4.2). Therefore, the response to AR-C118925XX, and possible endogenous nucleotides release, is largely endothelium-independent.



Figure 4.1: The effects of incubating AR-C118925XX (10 μ M), for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted endothelium denuded porcine isolated mesenteric arteries. DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean

± SEM (n = 6). Compared to the controls * P<0.05, ** P< 0.01 and *** P<0.001, 2-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's post hoc test.</p>



Figure 4.2: Effect of removal of the endothelium on AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) responses. AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) was incubated for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted endothelium intact and denuded porcine isolated mesenteric arteries. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean ± SEM (n = 6).

4.2.2 Effect of AR-C118925XX on vascular tone of isolated mesenteric arteries pre-contracted with KCl, phenylephrine and endothelin

It is unclear whether the relaxant response to AR-C118925XX and possible nucleotide release is associated specifically with the U46619-induced contraction. In order to study this, porcine isolated mesenteric arteries were pre-contracted using KCl (20 to 30 mM), phenylephrine (0.5 to 1 μ M) and endothelin (10 to 20 nM) to about 40-60% of the second KCl response. Phenylephrine and endothelin produced an unstable increase in tone of the mesenteric arteries and so could not be studied further. However, a stable contractile tone in mesenteric arteries was achieved with KCl (20 to 30 mM). AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) was incubated for 60 minutes in KCl-preconstricted mesenteric arteries only. AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) elicited relaxation of 10.48 ± 5.2% at 60 min (n=6) which was significantly

different to relaxation due to its solvent DMSO (0.1% v/v), at 1.9 \pm 3.2% (n=6) (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3: The effects of incubating AR-C118925XX (10 μ M), for 60 minutes in KCI-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries. DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6). Compared to the controls * P<0.05, 2-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's post hoc test.

The effect of AR-C118925XX on the basal tone of mesenteric arteries was also studied. AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) elicited relaxation on basal tone of mesenteric arteries. The relaxation response 30 minutes after the incubation of AR-C118925XX was 2.81 ± 0.3% (n=6) which was significantly different to relaxation due to its solvent DMSO, at 0.28 ± 0.8% (n=6) (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4: (A) Representative traces showing the effects of AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) and DMSO on the basal tone of porcine mesenteric arteries. (B) The effects of incubating AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) on the basal tone of porcine isolated mesenteric arteries at 30 minutes. DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. Data are expressed as % of response to 60 mM KCl and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6). Compared to the control * P<0.05, Student's 2-tailed unpaired t-test.

4.2.3 Effect of AR-C118925XX on vascular tone in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries desensitised with UTP

To find out whether AR-C118925XX acts at P2Y receptors to produce the vasorelaxation response, UTP (300 μ M) was added to U46619-preconstricted porcine mesenteric arteries to desensitise P2Y receptors (as described in Chapter 2). In this study, the first addition of UTP (300 μ M) induced contraction 17.4 ± 3.1% (n = 6). The subsequent additions of UTP elicited smaller contractions 6.1 ± 1.18% (n=6) and 2.9 ± 0.64% (n=6) due to UTP induced a desensitisation of P2Y receptors in porcine mesenteric arteries (Figure 4.5). AR-C118925XX 10 μ M had no significant effect on stable tone of U46619-pre-constricted porcine mesenteric arteries which were desensitised by UTP (n=6) (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.5: Contractile responses to multiple addition of UTP (300 μ M), and a representative trace showing the effect of P2Y receptors desensitised by UTP on AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) responses. UTP (300 μ M) induced a desensitisation in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries. Data are expressed as % of response to 60 mM KCl and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6), were 1= 1st response to UTP, 2= 2nd response to UTP and 3= 3rd response to UTP (300 μ M).



Figure 4.6: Effect of P2Y receptors desensitised by UTP on AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) responses in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries. AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) was incubated for 60 minutes and DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean ± SEM (n = 6).

4.2.4 Effect of MRS2578, a P2Y₆ receptor antagonist, on vascular tone in

porcine mesenteric arteries

P2Y₆ receptors are expressed in VSMCs, and are activated by UDP and UTP (von Kügelgen, 2019). If UTP is released constitutively from vascular cells, it could activate P2Y₆ receptors. In order to study the possible involvement of P2Y₆ receptors in the vasorelaxant effect induced by P2 receptor antagonists, the selective P2Y₆ antagonist MRS2578 (10 μ M) was incubated with U46619-pre-constricted mesenteric arteries. MRS2578 (10 μ M) had no significant effect on U46619-pre-constricted porcine mesenteric arteries (n=6) (Figure 4.7).



Figure 4.7: The effects of incubating MRS2578 (10 μ M), for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries. DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6).

4.2.5 Involvement of P2X receptors in the vasorelaxant effect induced

by AR-C118925XX in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries

In order to investigate the possible involvement of P2X receptors in the vasorelaxant effect induced by P2 receptor antagonists, a, β -meATP (10 μ M), which is hydrolysis resistant (Martínez-Cutillas et al., 2014), was added at basal tone before pre-contraction with U46619 to desensitise P2X1 receptors. The contraction induced by a, β -meATP (10 μ M) was 53.44 ± 4.7% (n=6). Once stable tone of U46619-pre-constricted was achieved, AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) was added. Desensitizing P2X1 receptors using a, β -meATP (10 μ M) had no effect on the relaxation response induced by AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) 23 ± 3.1% (n=6) (Figure 4.8). NF449, which is a selective P2X1 receptor antagonist, was also incubated with U46619-pre-constricted mesenteric arteries to further study the possible involvement of P2X1 receptors in the vasorelaxant effect induced by AR-C118925XX. NF449 (30 μ M) had no significant effect on U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in porcine mesenteric arteries (n=8) (Figure 4.9).


Figure 4.8: Effect of P2X receptors desensitised by a,β -meATP on AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) responses in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries. AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) was incubated for 60 minutes and DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6). Compared to the controls * P<0.05, ** P< 0.01, *** P <0.001 and **** P<0.0001, 2-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's post hoc test.



Figure 4.9: The effects of incubating NF449 (30 μ M), for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries. DW (30 μ l)

was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 8).

4.2.6 Involvement of adenosine receptors in the vasorelaxant effect induced by AR-C118925XX in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries

To find out whether the vasorelaxant response induced by AR-C118925XX involves adenosine acting through adenosine receptors, a non-selective adenosine receptor antagonist, theophylline, was used. Theophylline (10 μ M) had no significant effect on U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in porcine mesenteric arteries (n=6) (Figure 4.10).



Figure 4.10: The effects of incubating theophylline (10 μ M), for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries. DW (10 μ I) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6).

4.2.7 Effects of connexin and pannexin channel blockers on vascular tone in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries

In order to further examine the hypothesis that nucleotides are released constitutively, porcine isolated mesenteric artery segments were incubated for 60 min with the connexin and pannexin channels blockers carbenoxolone (100 μ M) and probenecid (100 μ M) after pre-contraction

with U46619. Carbenoxolone (100 μ M) and probenecid (100 μ M) caused a significant relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in endothelium intact and denuded porcine mesenteric arteries. The relaxation responses at 60 min to the combination of carbenoxolone (100 μ M) and probenecid (100 μ M) was 67.3 ± 3.3% (n = 8) (Figure 4.11). The relaxation response at 60 min to carbenoxolone (100 μ M) alone in endothelium intact porcine mesenteric arteries was 32 ± 5.3% (n= 7), and 33.8 ± 3.5% (n= 6) in endothelium denuded porcine mesenteric arteries (Figure 4.12). In addition, probenecid (100 μ M) induced a relaxation of U46619-preconstricted vascular tone in both endothelium intact and denuded porcine mesenteric arteries 25.2 ± 4.8% (n= 6) and 23.3 4.8% (n= 6) respectively (Figure 4.13). As a result, there was no difference in the response to carbenoxolone or probenecid between porcine mesenteric arteries with an intact endothelium and those with a denuded endothelium.



Figure 4.11: The effects of incubating a combination of carbenoxolone (100 μ M) and probenecid (100 μ M), for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries. DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 8). Compared to the controls **** = P<0.0001, 2-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's post hoc test.



А

В



Figure 4.12: The effects of incubating carbenoxolone (100 μ M), for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted endothelium intact (A) and denuded (B) porcine isolated mesenteric arteries. DW (10 μ l) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 7 and 6). Compared to the controls **** = P<0.0001, 2-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's post hoc test.



А

Figure 4.13: The effects of incubating probenecid (100 μ M), for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted endothelium intact (A) and denuded (B) porcine isolated mesenteric arteries. DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6). Compared to the controls ** P< 0.01, *** P <0.001 and **** P<0.0001, 2-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's post hoc test.

In order to further investigate the hypothesis that nucleotides are released via connexin and pannexin channels, acting via vasocontractile P2Y receptors to maintain the vascular tone of mesenteric arteries, AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) was added to U46619-pre-constricted porcine mesenteric arteries together with either carbenoxolone (100 μ M) or probenecid (100 μ M). The addition of carbenoxolone and probenecid together with AR-C118925XX caused no further effect compared to carbenoxolone and probenecid alone. Carbenoxolone (100 μ M) with AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) elicited relaxation of 39.5 ± 6.4% (n=8) which was not significantly different to relaxation by carbenoxolone (100 μ M) alone at 33.1 ± 4.6% (n=8). Probenecid (100 μ M) with AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) also caused relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone of porcine mesenteric arteries 46.5 ± 5.3% (n= 8) which was not significantly different to relaxation by probenecid (100 μ M) alone at 41.6 ± 7.6% (n=8) (Figure 4.14).

А





Figure 4.14: The effects of incubating AR-C118925XX (10 μ M), for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries together with carbenoxolone (100 μ M) (A) and probenecid (100 μ M) (B). The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6). P>0.10, 2-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's post hoc test.

In prolonged exposures, carbenoxolone and probenecid might have nonspecific effects on blood vessels (Rubinstein et al., 2014; Ullian et al., 1996). In order to investigate that carbenoxolone and probenecid do not produce a damaging effect on porcine mesenteric artery smooth muscle and endothelium, KCl (60 mM) and bradykinin (10 μ M) were added at the end of the experiments. Carbenoxolone and probenecid did not impair tissue contractile or relaxant function. KCl (60 mM) at the end of the experiments induced similar contraction to the second KCl response (n=6) (Figure 4.15). In addition, relaxation responses to bradykinin (10 μ M) were not affected by incubation of porcine mesenteric arteries with carbenoxolone and probenecid (n=6) (Figure 4.16).



Figure 4.15: Contractile responses induced by KCl (60 mM) at basal tone. 2nd response is the maximal contraction induced by KCl before incubation with carbenoxolone and probenecid. Final response is the maximal contraction induced by Kcl after incubation with carbenoxolone and probenecid at the end of the experiments. Data are expressed as gram (g) tension and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6).



Figure 4.16: Relaxation responses to bradykinin (10 μ M) in U46619-preconstricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries after incubation with carbenoxolone (100 μ M) and probenecid (100 μ M). DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6).

4.2.8 ATP concentration in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries

To further study the possibility that nucleotides are released tonically from mesenteric arteries, ATP levels were measured using luminescence directly from the Krebs'-Henseleit solution. In this study, ATP release was measured in isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT and in the presence and absence of apyrase (10 units/ml) and U46619 (50 nM). The presence of PVAT in this experiment increased the amount of ATP released from isolated porcine mesenteric arteries (Figure 4.17). The basal ATP concentration in mesenteric arteries with PVAT was $36.77 \pm 5.61 \text{ nM}$ (n = 5) compared to $9.29 \pm 1.22 \text{ nM}$ (n = 5) in mesenteric arteries with U46619 (50 nM) had no significant effect on the concentration of ATP released compared to the basal release. Furthermore, mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT incubated with apyrase (10 units/ml) released less ATP compared to basal conditions, but this was not statistically significant (Figure 4.18).



Figure 4.17: Concentrations of ATP released from isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT at the basal conditions. Data are expressed as concentrations of ATP (nM) ± SEM (n = 5). Compared to the PVAT-Free ** P< 0.01, Student's 2-tailed unpaired t-test.



Figure 4.18: Concentrations of ATP released from isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT. ATP levels were determined in the presence of apyrase (10 units/ml), U46619 (50 nM) and the basal release. Data are expressed as concentrations of ATP (nM) \pm SEM (n = 5). Student's 2-tailed unpaired t-test.

4.2.9 Effect of AR-C118925XX on vascular tone in porcine isolated coronary and splenic arteries, and in human and rat mesenteric arteries In order to determine how widespread the vascular effect of AR-C118925XX is in different porcine vascular beds, the effect of AR-C118925XX was studied in porcine coronary and splenic arteries. U46619-pre-constricted coronary and splenic arteries were incubated with AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) for 60 minutes. AR-C118925XX (10 µM) induced a significant relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in porcine coronary and splenic arteries $25.8 \pm 10.7\%$ (n=6) and $25.25 \pm 5.9\%$ (n=4) respectively (Figure 4.19). In order to investigate its relevance across species human and rat mesenteric arteries were used. In human mesenteric arteries, University of Nottingham Human Tissue Research Licence (no 12265), vasopressin alone or a combination of U46619 and endothelin were used as vasoconstrictors (n=5). However, unstable vascular tone of the human mesenteric arteries was observed and all vasoconstrictors caused rhythmic contraction (Appendix A). My colleague Putcharawipa Maneesai performed and provided data on the rat mesenteric arteries in this study. In rat mesenteric arteries without PVAT, which were pre-contracted with U46619, 10 µM AR-C118925XX elicited relaxation of 70.79 \pm 13.44% (n=4) which was significantly different to relaxation by its solvent, DMSO, at $16.92 \pm 9.55\%$ (n=4). 1µM AR-C118925XX also elicited relaxation of 15.03 ± 9.67% (n=3)in rat mesenteric arteries but it was not significantly different to relaxation by DMSO (Figure 4.20).



А





Figure 4.19: The effects of incubating AR-C118925XX (10 μ M), for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated coronary (A) and splenic (B) arteries. DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6 & 4). Compared to the controls * = P<0.05, *** = P <0.001 and **** = P<0.0001, 2-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's post hoc test.



Figure 4.20: The effects of incubating AR-C118925XX (1 and 10 μ M), for 60 minutes in U46619-pre-constricted rat isolated mesenteric arteries. DMSO (0.1% v/v) was added as a control. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean ± SEM (n = 4). Compared to the controls ** P< 0.01, 2-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test.

4.3 Discussion

The general aim of this study was to investigate the possibility that nucleotides are released constitutively from VSMCs and/or endothelium to regulate the vascular tone of mesenteric arteries. This study also investigated whether the relaxation responses induced by P2 receptor antagonists in the vascular tone of mesenteric artery are due to nucleotides release via connexin and pannexin channels. In this study the possible involvement of UTP-sensitive P2Y receptors, P2X and adenosine receptors in the vasorelaxant effect induced by AR-C118925XX was studied.

The main finding from this chapter is that pharmacological inhibition of P2Y₂ receptors by AR-C118925XX elicited relaxation in endothelium denuded mesenteric arteries, and the relaxation response to AR-C118925XX was not affected by endothelium removal. The possible release of endogenous nucleotides and the response to P2 receptor antagonists are therefore endothelium-independent, and the source of nucleotides is the vascular smooth muscle cells. Furthermore, the involvement of P2X1 receptors in the present study was ruled out by the lack of effect of α , β -meATP on responses to AR-C118925XX and the lack of a direct effect of the P2X1 receptor antagonist NF449. The absence of the relaxation response to AR-C118925XX after P2Y₂/P2Y₄ receptors desensitization by UTP is consistent with a specific effect on P2Y₂ receptors. I also observed that pharmacological inhibition of connexin and pannexin channels induced relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone of mesenteric arteries.

A healthy endothelium provides vasodilator tone and inhibits platelet aggregation through the release of NO, PGI₂, and endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factors (Mazurek et al., 2017). Endothelial cells are also a major source of nucleotides released during basal and stimulated conditions (Erlinge & Burnstock, 2008). It has been reported that ATP is constitutively released from human endothelial cells and activates P2 receptors in an autocrine/paracrine manner (Schwiebert et al., 2002). An increase in ATP concentration in endothelium has been shown in response to various stimuli

including hypoxia, ischaemia and shear stress (Bodin & Burnstock, 1995; Bodin & Burnstock, 2001). The current study examined the possible functional role of endothelium in the endogenous release of nucleotides and in the responses to the selective P2Y₂ receptor antagonist AR-C118925XX. However, the relaxation response to AR-C118925XX was not affected by endothelium removal. Thus, the possible endogenous nucleotides release and the response to P2 receptor antagonists might be endotheliumindependent, and the most likely source of nucleotides is the vascular smooth muscle cells. Previous studies have shown that ATP can be released from vascular smooth muscle cells (Sedaa et al., 1990). In vascular smooth muscle cells, it has been reported that Panx1 channels release purines in response to phenylephrine stimulation, which control vascular tone via P2 receptors (Billaud et al., 2011).

Vascular smooth muscle cells are known to express a number of P2X and P2Y receptors. Generally, P2Y₂, P2Y₄ and P2Y₆ receptors in vascular smooth muscles have been shown to mediate contraction. UTP via P2Y₂ receptors mediates vasoconstriction in a range of vascular beds in different species including human coronary and cerebral arteries, porcine coronary artery and rat mesenteric artery (Malmsjö, Hou, et al., 2000; Malmsjö et al., 2003; Rayment et al., 2007). In addition to P2Y₂ receptors, UTP is a ligand for P2Y₄ receptors (Erb & Weisman, 2012). However, currently, there are no selective antagonists for P2Y₄ receptors. In this study, both ATP and UTP elicited concentration dependent vasoconstrictor responses in the porcine mesenteric arteries. To further support the possibility that nucleotides are constitutively released from smooth muscle cells and bind to the contractile P2Y receptors, UTP was applied three times to induce desensitization of P2Y₂/P2Y₄ receptors before adding AR-C118925XX. The absence of the relaxation response to AR-C118925XX after P2Y₂/P2Y₄ receptors desensitization by UTP in this experiment is consistent with specific effects on the $P2Y_2$ receptors.

Desensitization is a reduction in receptor ability to be stimulated over time which develops with high activation by agonist. Desensitization is a common feature of purinergic receptors which varies in speed of onset and recovery (resensitization) within the subtypes of these receptors (Gainetdinov et al., 2004; Giniatullin & Nistri, 2013). Desensitization of P2Y receptors, which are GPCRs, can be generally initiated by phosphorylation on serine and threonine residues in the intracellular domain and C terminus of the receptor. There are two known types of receptor desensitization, heterologous and homologous desensitization. In heterologous desensitization, receptor phosphorylation is induced by protein kinase PKA and PKC. For homologous desensitization, G protein-coupled receptor kinases (GRKs) involves in the specific phosphorylation of agonist-activated receptors which followed by the binding of β -arrestins. Binding of β arrestins producing uncoupling from their G-proteins and receptor internalization (Giniatullin & Nistri, 2013; Nishimura et al., 2017). P2Y receptors have shown a different degree of interaction with β -arrestins translocation pattern upon stimulation by nucleotides. Stimulation of P2Y₂ receptors by UTP causes a strong interaction with both β -arrestins1 and β arrestins2 while ATP only induces a strong interaction with β -arrestins 1 (Hoffmann et al., 2008). ATP and UTP cross-desensitization were used to investigate the mechanism of UTP-mediated vascular tone regulation and P2 characterization in bovine cerebral arteries (Miyagi et al., 1996). In addition, it has been reported that in human umbilical vein and bovine retina endothelial cells, the P2Y₂ receptor desensitizes with prior exposure to the extracellular UTP. Desensitization of P2Y₂ is manifested by a decrease in peak calcium responses when cells were previously activated by the UTP (Sanabria et al., 2008).

 $P2Y_6$ receptors are expressed in vascular tissues, and are activated by UDP and UTP. There is a greater affinity for UDP than UTP for the $P2Y_6$ receptor, and the nucleotides of adenine are mostly inactive (von Kügelgen, 2019). It has been reported that UTP and UDP show different contractile and

relaxant responses in proximal and distal mouse coronary arteries through binding to P2Y₂ and P2Y₆ receptors, and that UTP can induce relaxation downstream after its hydrolysis to UDP, without affecting the contractile pyrimidine receptors (Haanes et al., 2016). Moreover, P2Y₆ receptorknockout mice showed an absence of endothelium-dependent relaxation responses induced by UDP in thoracic aorta (Bar et al., 2008). P2Y₆ receptor in human cerebral arteries has been shown to mediate contraction, and it may possibly be a potential therapeutic target for cerebral vasospasm (Malmsjö et al., 2003). In addition, it has been reported that myogenic tone is maintained through activation of P2Y₆ receptors in response to endogenous pyrimidine nucleotides release in mesenteric resistance arteries, and via a direct mechanical activation of P2Y₄ and P2Y₆ receptors without endogenous nucleotides release in cerebral arterioles (Brayden et al., 2013; Kauffenstein et al., 2016). The myogenic tone in mesenteric arteries and human subcutaneous arteries was sensitive to inhibition of P2Y₆ receptor by the selective antagonist MRS2578 (Kauffenstein et al., 2016). The possible contribution of $P2Y_6$ receptors in this study was studied. However, the role of P2Y₆ receptors and UDP was ruled out due to the lack of effect in vascular tone of mesenteric arteries to MRS2578.

Most vascular smooth muscle cells express the P2X1 receptor subtype which has been identified to induce vasoconstriction in a number of vascular preparations (see Chapter 1). Porcine mesenteric arteries are known to express contractile P2X1-like receptors sensitive to the metabolically stable analogue α,β -methylene ATP (Shatarat et al., 2014). Although AR-C118925XX is selective for P2Y₂ receptors, its IC₅₀ for P2X1 receptors is 2.63 µM (Rafehi et al., 2017), which means that when used at 10 µM as in the present study it would be expected to block P2X1 receptors (as well as P2Y₂ receptors). Thus, endogenous ATP may be constitutively released to activate P2X1 receptors to contribute to contractile tone, and when blocked by AR-C118925XX this leads to relaxation. Tonic release of ATP and its actions at P2X1 receptors have been shown to be involved in control of

vascular tone in the in vivo rat retina (Kur & Newman, 2014). In addition, there is some evidence that UTP can cause contraction via action at vascular smooth muscle P2X1 receptors (Froldi et al., 1997; McLaren, Sneddon, et al., 1998). P2X1 and P2X3 receptors can be desensitized by α,β -MeATP in hundreds of milliseconds (Rettinger & Schmalzing, 2003). In this study, response to AR-C118925XX was not affected by desensitization of P2X1 receptor by α,β -MeATP. However, it was difficult to prove that P2X1 receptors are desensitized with a single addition of α,β -MeATP. Pharmacological blockade of P2X1 receptors by NF449 did not alter the vascular tone of mesenteric arteries. This finding is consistent with a specific effect of the P2Y₂ receptor antagonists. It could have been useful to directly test AR-C118925XX and NF449 against contraction to a,b-MeATP which would strengthen the findings.

Extracellular ATP level is regulated by membrane ectonucleotidases which induce ATP hydrolysis to ADP, AMP and adenosine. As a result of ectoATPase actions, adenosine is produced and activates adenosine receptors, which are highly expressed in vascular cells and known to maintain vascular tone. Adenosine has a vasorelaxant effect mediated mostly by A_{2A} and A_{2B} receptors expressed in both smooth muscle and endothelium (Reiss et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2021). The purpose of this experiment was to determine whether ATP released from VSMCs is hydrolysed, and whether adenosine is responsible for relaxing the mesenteric arteries. Theophylline, a non-selective antagonist of adenosine receptors, but not by adenosine.

It is unclear in this study whether the nucleotides release is associated specifically with inhibition of U46619-induced contraction. AR-C118925XX also caused a relaxation response at basal tone, but the relaxation was small, due to the lack of tone in these preparations. However, another precontractile agent KCl was used in this study, and AR-C118925XX still

induced vascular relaxation of mesenteric arteries. This demonstrated that nucleotides are released during basal and contractile tone evoked by U46619 (and other vasoconstrictors) and suggests that these nucleotides provide a supporting role in vasocontractile function of porcine mesenteric arteries. In this study, AR-C118925XX also induced vascular relaxation in porcine coronary and splenic arteries. Additionally, AR-C118925XX induced vascular relaxation in rat mesenteric arteries. This suggests that constitutive release of nucleotides within the vasculature may be widespread occurring in multiple species and vascular beds. Investigation into the nucleotides release and their role in control of vascular tone via P2X and P2Y receptors may introduce potential therapeutic targets for the treatment of vascular disorders including hypertension.

Connexin and pannexin channels are expressed in vascular cells and involved in ATP release (Lohman et al., 2012). If there is an ongoing release of endogenous ATP which contributes to contractile tone of porcine mesenteric arteries, it would be expected carbenoxolone and probenecid, connexin and pannexin channel blockers, would have a similar effect on tone of the pre-contracted arteries to the P2Y₂ receptor antagonists i.e. that they would also cause a relaxation. This study confirmed that carbenoxolone and probenecid induced relaxation of U46619-preconstricted vascular tone of mesenteric arteries. The result obtained using connexin and pannexin channel antagonists in the current study may suggest that nucleotides are released from vascular smooth muscle of mesenteric arteries via these channels since the responses were similar in the presence and absence of endothelium. Pharmacological blockage of connexin and pannexin channels and subsequent inhibition of ATP release has been reported in several vascular beds, e.g. carbenoxolone inhibited thrombin-mediated ATP release in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (Gödecke et al., 2012). In addition, ATP release from smooth muscle cells and vasoconstriction in rat mesenteric arteries were inhibited by blockage of Cx43 hemichannels (Bol et al., 2017). Activation of Panx1 in vascular

smooth muscle is thought to be able to regulate both sympathetic nerve constriction and blood pressure. The pannexin channels blockers mefloquine, probenecid, and 10Panx1 were highly effective in decreasing the contractile response induced by phenylephrine; mice with overexpression of Panx1 released more ATP following phenylephrine stimulation, and ATP hydrolysis by apyrase reduced EFS contractions (Billaud et al., 2011; Dunaway et al., 2022). Endothelial Panx1 has been reported to increase ATP release in mouse small pulmonary arteries acting via a P2Y₂ receptor-PKC signalling pathway activated transient receptor potential (TRPV4) channels. Consequently, the pulmonary arteries are dilated and the pulmonary arterial pressure is lowered (Daneva et al., 2021). Thus, in this study, the results obtained using connexin and pannexin channel antagonists support the hypothesis of nucleotides are released from mesenteric arteries and that this involves flux through pannexin/connexin channels. However, some connexin and pannexin channel blockers have shown effects on other targets such as Ca²⁺ and K⁺ channels, gap-junction and P2X7 receptors (Willebrords et al., 2017).

To further support the hypothesis of ATP release, extracellular ATP was measured by luminescence in porcine mesenteric arteries under basal conditions. The presence of PVAT in this experiment increased the amount of ATP released. Additionally, stimulation of mesenteric arteries with U46619 had no effect on ATP release compared to basal release. This indicates that the release and vascular effect of ATP in the current study were not due to U46619 stimulation. In addition, apyrase caused a reduction in the amount of ATP released compared to basal conditions. Taken together, these data suggest that isolated mesenteric arteries are capable of releasing ATP to act in smooth muscle P2Y₂ receptors to modulate the vascular tone. Despite the finding in this study that preparations with PVAT release more ATP, the effects of P2 receptor antagonists in the raised tone of mesenteric arteries were similar in the presence and absence of PVAT. In addition, in this experiment, the ATP

concentrations were measured in mesenteric vessels in a tube without tensions. It is possible that this explains the low levels of ATP measured in the vessels. A higher amount of ATP may be released by tissues under tension. Extracellular ATP release at resting conditions has been observed in blood vessels including human umbilical vein endothelial cells (Gödecke et al., 2012; To et al., 2015). A majority of studies report very low (nanomolar range) basal extracellular ATP concentrations. The Background levels of ATP concentration and its gradients are high due to ATP concentration ranges in extracellular in nM vs mM in intracellular compartments (Burnstock, 2007; Yegutkin, 2014). However, the accumulation of spontaneous extracellular ATP was observed in some studies only when endogenous ecto-ATPase activity was inhibited (Daneva et al., 2021; Okada et al., 2006).

In conclusion, AR-C118925XX induced relaxation in endothelium-denuded mesenteric arteries by inhibiting P2Y₂ receptors. Consequently, the release of endogenous nucleotides and the response to P2 receptor antagonists are independent of the endothelium, and smooth muscle cells are the source of nucleotides. A specific effect of P2Y₂ receptor antagonists is consistent with the absence of the relaxation response to AR-C118925XX following UTP desensitization of P2Y₂/ P2Y₄ receptors. Based on the evidence, there appears to be a possible involvement of endogenously released ATP/UTP via connexins and pannexins acting via vasocontractile P2Y receptors.

Chapter 5

Investigating the region-specific anticontractile effect of PVAT in porcine arteries, and the role of ATP and UTP in adipokines release from 3T3-L1 adipocytes

5.1 Introduction

Most of the peripheral vasculature is surrounded by PVAT which is mainly composed of white and brown adipocytes. Additionally, PVAT contains a fraction, containing stromal vascular lymphocytes, macrophages, fibroblasts, mesenchymal stem cells and vasa vasorum endothelial cells (Szasz & Webb, 2012). There is substantial evidence that PVAT releases adipokines and bioactive substances that affect the contractility of vascular smooth muscle cells. These mediators can induce vasodilation (anticontractile effects) and include leptin, adiponectin, interleukin 6, interleukin-1, TNF-alpha, angiotensin 1-7 and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Hillock-Watling & Gotlieb, 2022; Qi et al., 2018). In addition, it has been shown that adipokines influence a number of processes including energy, appetite, lipid and glucose metabolism, insulin and inflammation (Pereira & Alvarez-Leite, 2014). One of the well-characterized adipokines is leptin. Aside from inhibiting food intake and stimulating energy expenditure, leptin also induces both endothelium-dependent and endothelium-independent vasorelaxation (Nakagawa et al., 2002). Adipocytes also release adiponectin which exerts its effect through binding to its receptors AdipoR1 and AdipoR2. In addition to regulating glucose levels, lipid metabolism, and insulin sensitivity, adiponectin induces vasodilation in a number of vascular beds including rat mesenteric arteries and porcine coronary arteries (Greenstein et al., 2009; Omae et al., 2013).

It is well known that purinergic receptors are important for regulating the functions of adipocytes. In white and brown adipocytes a variety of P2X and P2Y receptor subtypes have been identified (Bulloch & Daly, 2014). P2X and P2Y receptors in adipose tissues have been reported to contribute in regulation of adipogenesis, glucose transport, inflammatory responses and leptin and adiponectin production (Bulloch & Daly, 2014; Tozzi & Novak, 2017). In white adipocytes from rats, both ATP and UTP have been shown to increase the intracellular Ca²⁺concentration by activation of P2Y₂ and P2Y₁₁ receptors via the cAMP-PKA signalling pathway. P2Y₁₁ receptor

activation has been shown to inhibit insulin-induced leptin production and stimulation of lipolysis (Lee et al., 2005). In addition to $P2Y_2$ and $P2Y_6$ receptors, P2Y₁ receptors have been reported to be expressed in rat white adipose tissue to contribute to leptin secretion after stimulation by ADP (Laplante et al., 2010). It has been reported that the P2X₇ receptors play a role in inflammatory activation in adipose tissue. Activation (by ATP) of P2X₇ receptors expressed in human adipocytes modulates the release of inflammatory cytokines including TNFa, IL-6 and PAI-1 in human visceral (VAT) and subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) (Madec et al., 2011). The results of a study in human adipocytes indicate that $P2Y_1$, $P2Y_2$ and $P2Y_{12}$ receptors are the only purinergic receptors that are functionally involved in intracellular Ca²⁺ responses induced by ATP, ADP and UTP. This study also noted that selective antagonism of P2Y₂ receptors by AR-C118925XX or their knockdown caused a significant decrease in intracellular calcium concentration and increase in cellular cAMP, which led the authors to conclude that autocrine activation of P2Y₂ receptors is essential in regulation of basal lipolysis (Ali et al., 2018). Furthermore, in brown adipose tissue, ATP and UTP have also been reported to increase intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration (Lee et al., 2005).

In terms of understanding how purine nucleotides modulate PVAT functions, as well as how PVAT regulates the adjacent vasculature, there is still much to be understood. The aim of this chapter was to study whether the nucleotides ATP and UTP act on P2Y receptors on PVAT to release adiponectin and leptin. The outcome guided me to investigate if adiponectin released from PVAT contributes to the anti-contractile action of PVAT – for this I used porcine splenic arteries, because the preliminary studies in Chapter 3, which were confirmed in this chapter, showed no anti-contractile effect of PVAT on porcine mesenteric arteries.

5.2 RESULTS

5.2.1 Effect of PVAT in the contractile response of mesenteric arteries

To determine the effect of PVAT in the contractile response of mesenteric arteries, the vessels were contracted with U46619 in cumulative concentrations (1 nM to 300 nM). The response of mesenteric arteries to U46619 was not affected by the presence of PVAT. Response at maximum concentration of U46619 in the PVAT-free mesenteric arteries was $86.35 \pm 13.8\%$ (n= 6) compared to $99.87 \pm 11.4\%$ (n=6) in the mesenteric arteries with PVAT (Figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1: Cumulative concentration-response curves of U46619 (1 nM to 300 nM) of porcine isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT. Data are expressed as % of response to 60 mM KCl and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6).

5.2.2 Contractile responses of ATP and UTP in mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT

To study the effect of ATP and UTP in mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT, the vessels were contracted with ATP and UTP in cumulative concentrations (10 μ M to 1 mM). Both ATP and UTP produced concentration-dependent contractions. There were no significant

differences (P>0.10, 2-way ANOVA) between the responses to ATP and UTP in the mesenteric arteries with PVAT compared to the PVAT-free mesenteric arteries. Response at maximum concentration of ATP in the PVAT-free mesenteric arteries was 46.19 \pm 11.9% (n= 6) compared to 29.4.87 \pm 5.6% (n=6) in the mesenteric arteries with PVAT (Figure 5.2, A). Response at maximum concentration of UTP in the PVAT-free mesenteric arteries was 34.63 \pm 7.5% (n= 6) compared to 23.83 \pm 4.7% (n=6) in the mesenteric arteries arteries arteries with PVAT (Figure 5.2, B).







В

Figure 5.2: Cumulative concentration-response curves of ATP (A) and UTP (B) (10 μ M to 1 mM) in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT. Data are expressed as % of response to 60 mM KCl and are mean \pm SEM (n = 6).

5.2.3 Effect of PVAT in the contractile response of splenic arteries

Due to the fact that the vascular properties of PVAT differ according to anatomical location, the effect of PVAT in the contractile response of splenic arteries was studied. The vessels of splenic arteries with and without PVAT were contracted with U46619 in cumulative concentrations (1 nM to 300 nM). The response of splenic arteries to U46619 in the presence of PVAT was significantly diminished compared to vessels without PVAT. The response at the maximum concentration of U46619 in the PVAT-free splenic was 112.7 \pm 13% (n= 7) compared to 68.02 \pm 10% (n=7) in the splenic arteries with PVAT (Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.3: Cumulative concentration-response curves of U46619 (1 nM to 300 nM) of porcine isolated splenic arteries with and without PVAT. Data are expressed as % of response to 60 mM KCl and are mean \pm SEM (n = 7). Compared to the vessels with PVAT * P<0.05 and ** P< 0.01, 2-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's post hoc test.

5.2.4 Contractile responses of ATP and UTP in splenic arteries with and without PVAT

To study the effect of ATP and UTP in splenic arteries with and without PVAT, the vessels were contracted with ATP and UTP in cumulative concentrations (10 μ M to 1 mM). In the presence of PVAT, the contractile responses to ATP and UTP were significantly diminished. The response at the maximum concentration of ATP in the absence of PVAT was 29.75 ± 7.2% (n= 6) compared to 14.50 ± 2.8% (n=6) in the presence of PVAT (Figure 5.4, A). The response at the maximum concentration of UTP in the absence of PVAT was 38.14 ± 2.7% (n= 6) compared to 28.53 ± 2.7% (n=6) in the presence of PVAT (Figure 5.4, B). The effect of PVAT on the contractile response of splenic arteries induced by the stable analogue of ATP a, β -methylene ATP was also studied. In the absence of PVAT, the maximum contraction induced by a, β -me ATP 10 μ M was 141.4 ± 10.8% (n= 7) which was significantly reduced in the vessels with PVAT, at 95.13 ± 3.08% (n=7) (Figure 5.5).







Figure 5.4: Cumulative concentration-response curves of ATP (A) and UTP (B) (10 μ M to 1 mM) in U46619-pre-constricted porcine isolated splenic arteries with and without PVAT. Data are expressed as % of response to 60 mM KCl and are mean ± SEM (n = 6). Compared to the vessels with PVAT ** P< 0.01 and *** = P <0.001, 2-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's post hoc test.



Figure 5.5: The contractile response of a,β -methylene ATP 10 μ M in porcine splenic arteries with and without PVAT. Data are expressed as % of response to 60 mM KCl and are mean \pm SEM (n = 7). Compared to the vessels with PVAT ** P< 0.01, Student's 2-tailed unpaired t-test.

5.2.5 Effects of nucleotides on the release of leptin from cultured 3T3-

L1 adipocytes

Since PVAT reduced contraction induced by ATP and UTP, the possibility that these nucleotides stimulate the release of vasorelaxant molecules from PVAT was examined. It has been shown that leptin is one of the relaxant factors released from PVAT (Gálvez-Prieto et al., 2012). The levels of leptin released from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes into the media was studied using ELISA in the presence of exogenous ATP (300 μ M), UTP (300 μ M), ADP (300 μ M), UDP (300 μ M) and apyrase (10 units/ml). However, there was no significant difference in leptin release in 3T3-L1 adipocytes in the presence of ATP, UTP, ADP, UDP and apyrase compared to the control (n=5) (Figure 5.6).



Figure 5.6: The levels of leptin released from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes into the media after 24 h of incubation in the presence of ATP (300 μ M), UTP (300 μ M), ADP (300 μ M), UDP (300 μ M), apyrase (APY, 10 units/ml) and the vehicle control. Data are expressed as pg of leptin released per ml of media and are means ± SEM (n =5).

5.2.6 Effects of P2 receptor antagonists on the release of leptin from

cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes

To investigate the roles of P2 receptors in the release of leptin from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes, cells were treated with suramin (100 μ M), AR-C118925 (10 μ M), MSG228 (10 μ M), NF449 (30 μ M), MRS2578 (10 μ M) and insulin (170 nM). Suramin decreased leptin release 16.26 ± 3.0 pg/ml compared to 37.63 ± 0.9 pg/ml in the control (n=5). However, the other P2 receptor antagonists did not significantly affect the release of leptin (n=5). Insulin increased leptin release, and leptin concentration in the media was 60.44 ± 8.2 pg/ml compared to 37.63 ± 0.9 pg/ml in the control (n=5) pg/ml in the control (n=5).



Figure 5.7: The levels of leptin released from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes into the media after 24 h of incubation in the presence of suramin (100 μ M), AR-C118925 (10 μ M), MSG228 (10 μ M), NF449 (30 μ M), MRS2578 (10 μ M), DMSO, insulin (170 nM) and the vehicle control. Data are expressed as pg of leptin released per ml of media and are means ± SEM (n =5). Compared to the control ** P< 0.01, one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

5.2.7 Effects of nucleotides on the release of adiponectin from cultured

3T3-L1 adipocytes

In order to determine whether nucleotides affect the release of adiponectin, the levels of adiponectin released from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes into the media was studied using ELISA in the presence of exogenous ATP (300 μ M), UTP (300 μ M), ADP (300 μ M), UDP (300 μ M) and apyrase (10 units/ml). ATP, UTP and UDP increased adiponectin release in adipocytes. Adiponectin concentrations in the media were 37.56 ± 0.71, 38.98 ± 1.5 and 35.5 ± 4.1 ng/ml in the presence of ATP, UTP and UDP respectively, compared to 24.98 ± 0.7 ng/ml in the control (n=5). There was no effect of apyrase on the secretion of adiponectin (n=5) (Figure 5.8).



Figure 5.8: The levels of adiponectin released from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes into the media after 24 h of incubation in the presence of ATP (300 μ M), UTP (300 μ M), ADP (300 μ M), UDP (300 μ M), apyrase (APY, 10 units/ml) and the vehicle control. Data are expressed as ng of adiponectin released per ml of media and are means ± SEM (n =5). Compared to the control * P<0.05 and ** P< 0.01, one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

5.2.8 Effects of P2 receptor antagonists on the release of adiponectin

from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes

Since ATP, UTP and UDP induced the release of adiponectin from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes, the role of P2 receptors in the release of adiponectin was studied. 3T3-L1 adipocytes were treated with suramin (100 μ M), AR-C118925 (10 μ M), MSG228 (10 μ M), NF449 (30 μ M), MRS2578 (10 μ M) and insulin (170 nM). Suramin (100 μ M) increased adiponectin release 40.91 ± 2.2 ng/ml compared to 24.98 ± 0.7 ng/ml (n=5). Treatment of cells with AR-C118925XX, MSG228, MRS2578, NF449 and insulin did not significantly affect the release of adiponectin (n=5) (Figure 5.9).



Figure 5.9: The levels of adiponectin released from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes into the media after 24 h of incubation in the presence of suramin (100 μ M), AR-C118925 (10 μ M), MSG228 (10 μ M), NF449 (30 μ M), MRS2578 (10 μ M), DMSO, insulin (170 nM) and the vehicle control. Data are expressed as ng of adiponectin released per ml of media and are means \pm SEM (n =5). Compared to the control ** P< 0.01, one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

5.2.9 Effect of the selective $P2Y_2$ receptor antagonists AR-C118925XX and MSG228 on ATP and UTP-induced adiponectin release

In this result, the P2Y₂ receptor antagonists AR-C118925 and MSG228 did not affect the basal release of adiponectin (section 5.2.8). As ATP and UTP stimulated adiponectin release from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes, the effect of the selective P2Y₂ receptor antagonists AR-C118925XX and MSG228 (10 μ M) on ATP and UTP-induced adiponectin release was studied. Both AR-C118925XX and MSG228 significantly inhibited ATP-induced adiponectin release from 3T3-L1 adipocytes. The adiponectin concentration in the media was found to be 24.75 ± 3.05 ng/ml (n=5) and 20.98 ± 1.7 ng/ml (n=5) with co-incubation of ATP and AR-C118925XX, and ATP and MSG228, respectively, compared to 37.42 ± 2.6 ng/ml (n=5) when ATP was incubated alone (Figure 5.10, A). Furthermore, UTP-induced adiponectin release from 3T3-L1 adipocytes was significantly inhibited by incubation AR-C118925XX and MSG228. The adiponectin concentration in the media was found to be 17.26 \pm 3.4 ng/ml (n=5) and 16.24 \pm 1.9 ng/ml (n=5) when cells were treated with combination of UTP and AR-C118925XX and UTP and MSG228 respectively, compared to 40.95 \pm 3.2 ng/ml (n=5) when cells were treated by UTP alone (Figure 5.10, B).





Figure 5.10: Effect of AR-C118925XX and MSG228 on ATP and UTP-induced adiponectin release from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes after 24 h of incubation. (A) ATP (300 μ M) was incubated alone or in a combination with AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) and MSG228 (10 μ M). (B) UTP (300 μ M) was incubated alone or in a combination with AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) and MSG228. Data are expressed as ng of adiponectin released per ml of media and are means \pm SEM (n =5). Compared to the ATP or UTP alone * P<0.05, ** P< 0.01 and *** P <0.001, one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

5.2.10 Effect of AdipoRon on vascular tone in porcine isolated splenic arteries with PVAT

The results using cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes showed that ATP and UTP induced adiponectin release via activation of P2Y₂ receptors. I hypothesised that adiponectin released from PVAT might produce vascular relaxation in splenic arteries to account for the anti-contractile effect of PVAT. Therefore, the effect of AdipoRon, an adiponectin receptor agonist, on vascular tone of splenic arteries with PVAT was determined. AdipoRon (1 to 100 μ M) caused a relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in porcine splenic arteries. The relaxation response at maximum concentration of AdipoRon was found to be 48 ± 8.7% (n = 6) (Figure 5.11).




Figure 5.11: (A) Representative trace showing the effects of AdipoRon. (B) Effect of AdipoRon (1 to 100 μ M) on U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone of porcine splenic arteries with PVAT. The data are expressed as a percentage of the U46619-induced tone and are mean ± SEM (n = 6).

5.2.11 Effect of anti-Adiponectin antibody on contractile responses induced by ATP and UTP in splenic arteries with PVAT

In splenic arteries, the contractile responses to ATP and UTP were significantly diminished in the presence of PVAT. This effect might be due to ATP and UTP acting on P2Y₂ receptors on PVAT to release adiponectin, which causes vasodilatation. In order to further examine this hypothesis, anti-adiponectin antibody was incubated with splenic artery with PVAT and its effect on the PVAT-induced depression of responses to ATP and UTP was studied. In this study, pre-incubation of anti-adiponectin antibody had no significant effect on the contractile response to ATP and UTP in splenic arteries (Figure 5.12).



А

В



Figure 5.12: Effect of anti-adiponectin antibody on PVAT-induced relaxation in response to ATP (A) and UTP (B) (10 μ M to 1 mM) in U46619-preconstricted porcine isolated splenic arteries with PVAT. Data are expressed as % of response to 60 mM KCl and are mean ± SEM (n = 6).

5.3 Discussion

The key aim of this chapter was to study whether ATP and UTP stimulate adiponectin and leptin release from adipocytes by acting on P2Y receptors. This study also examined whether PVAT-induced relaxation of splenic arteries results from adiponectin release caused by ATP and UTP. The main finding from this chapter was that the presence of PVAT in splenic, but not mesenteric, arteries decreased the level of contraction induced by ATP, UTP and U46619. In addition, ATP and UTP increased adiponectin release in 3T3-L1 adipocytes through activation of P2Y₂ receptors.

PVAT was first studied by Soltis and Cassis who showed that PVAT had an anti-contractile effect to norepinephrine in isolated rat aorta (Soltis & Cassis, 1991). A transferable adipose-derived relaxing factor released by reduces the vasocontractile effects of agonists, including PVAT phenylephrine, serotonin, angiotensin II and endothelin-1 (Lohn et al., 2002). PVAT can release adipokines, NO and H₂S which influence vascular tone. In order to understand the mechanism of anti-contractile effects caused by perivascular-derived relaxing factors (PVRF), a variety of studies have been conducted. These studies have shown that the mechanisms for the relaxant effects caused by PVRF include endothelium-dependent mechanisms involving K⁺ channel activation in vascular smooth muscle. The vasorelaxation effect could also occur by activating large-conductance Ca^{2+} activated K⁺ (BK_{Ca}) channels in myocytes, as well as by activating soluble guanylyl cyclase (sGC) and K_{Ca} channels (Gao et al., 2005; Gao et al., 2007; Lohn et al., 2002). PVAT has been reported to cause vasocontraction in addition to anti-contractile effects by releasing PVATderived contractor factors including reactive oxygen species and angiotensin II (Ramirez et al., 2017). It has been reported that PVAT enhanced the arterial contraction of rat superior mesenteric artery to perivascular nerve stimulation which may involve angiotensin II (Gao et al., 2006; Lu et al., 2010).

In the current study, PVAT had no effect on the contractility of mesenteric arteries, and contractions to U46619, ATP and UTP were similar in PVATintact and denuded vessels. In contrast, in splenic arteries, there were anticontractile effects in PVAT-intact vessels, and the contractile responses of splenic arteries to U46619, ATP, UTP and α , β -methylene ATP in PVAT-intact vessels were significantly diminished compared to vessels without PVAT. The current finding has clearly shown that the vascular properties of PVAT differ according to anatomical location and species. It is well-known that PVAT exhibits regional phenotypic and functional differences depending on the type of vascular bed or location within a vascular bed (Gil-Ortega, Somoza, Huang, Gollasch, & Fernández-Alfonso, 2015). In the thoracic aorta, PVAT primarily consists of brown adipose tissue, while in the abdominal aorta and mesenteric artery it consists mostly of white adipose tissue (Barp et al., 2021). It has been reported that there are different anticontractile properties and NO production in rat abdominal and thoracic aortic PVAT. In the abdominal aorta, PVAT did not exhibit the same anticontractile effects as phenylephrine did in the thoracic aorta. In addition, the abdominal PVAT expressed a lower level of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) than the thoracic PVAT (Victorio et al., 2016). The contractile response to U46619 in mesenteric arteries of rats with intact PVAT has been reported to be diminished (Zaborska et al., 2016). This was performed in rats' mesentery, while this work was conducted in pigs' mesenteric vessels. This may explain why the results are contrasting. PVAT's anti-contractile property on the same vascular bed may be affected by some factors including gender and age. It has been reported that the anti-contractile property of PVAT was lost in male porcine coronary arteries, however, in female porcine coronary arteries PVAT inhibits contraction (Ahmad et al., 2017). In addition, it has been shown that age-related changes in NO bioavailability reduce PVAT's anti-contractile effects to U46619 and phenylephrine in rat mesenteric arteries (Lewis et al., 2015).

Purinergic receptors are well-known to regulate adipocyte functions. P2X and P2Y receptors in adipose tissues have been reported to contribute in regulation of adipogenesis, glucose transport, inflammatory responses and adipokine production (Bulloch & Daly, 2014; Tozzi & Novak, 2017). In white adipocytes from rats, both ATP and UTP have been shown to increase the intracellular Ca²⁺concentration by activation of P2Y₂ and P2Y₁₁ receptors via cAMP-PKA signalling pathway. P2Y₁₁ receptor activation has been shown to inhibit insulin-induced leptin production and stimulation of lipolysis (Lee, Jun, et al., 2005). In another study in rat adipocytes ATP did not induce lipolysis and glucose transport but stimulated lipogenesis (Schödel et al., 2004). It has been reported that targeting P2Y₁ receptors through inhibiting or deleting P2Y₁ receptors results in a decrease in leptin production in mouse adipose tissues (Laplante et al., 2010). It has been reported that noradrenaline induced adiponectin exocytosis by triggering cAMP. In this study, ATP also stimulated adiponectin secretion via elevation of Ca²⁺ and activation of P2Y₂ receptors G_{q11} /PLC pathway (Musovic et al., 2021). In addition, adiponectin expression and secretion were inhibited by stimulation of P2Y₄ receptors by UTP or MRS4062 in cardiac adipocytes, and an increase in adiponectin secretion is observed in P2Y₄ knockout mice (Lemaire et al., 2017).

In the current study, extracellular nucleotides ATP, UTP and UDP induced adiponectin release from 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Treatment of cells with different P2 receptors antagonists had no effect in the basal release of adiponectin. It was not observed that adding apyrase to 3T3-L1 adipocytes lowered the level of adiponectin, indicating that the P2 receptors are not constitutively activated in regulating adiponectin release. Inhibition of P2Y₂ receptors by AR-C118925XX and MSG228 inhibited ATP and UTP-induced adiponectin release from 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Therefore, it was found that exogenous nucleotides, ATP and UTP activated the P2Y₂ receptor on adipocytes causing adiponectin to be released. A previous study in human adipocytes reported that the rate of basal lipolysis and intracellular cAMP

levels were increased by blocking P2Y₂ receptors with AR-C118925XX. Furthermore, as a result of P2Y₂ receptor antagonism, there was an acute increase in basal lipolysis that changed the pattern of adipokines release including an increase in adiponectin release (Ali et al., 2018). Another study has confirmed a significant role of P2Y₂ receptors in increasing resistance to obesity induced by high-fat diets in mice. It was observed that the levels of serum adiponectin in WT mice fed high-fat diets were significantly higher, whereas the levels of adiponectin in P2Y₂ receptor KO mice fed high-fat diets were not significantly raised. Pharmacological blockade of P2Y₂ receptors by AR-C118925XX and P2Y₂ KO mice in this study established a role of P2Y₂ receptors in regulating the production of adipokines and promoting adipogenesis and inflammation (Zhang et al., 2020).

The results from cultured 3T3-L1 adipocytes showed that ATP and UTP induced adiponectin release. The fact that adiponectin induces vasodilation led me to hypothesize that adiponectin released from PVAT in response to nucleotides could induce vascular relaxation in splenic arteries as a mechanism involved in the anti-contractile effect of PVAT. The activation of the receptor for adiponectin by AdipoRon promoted a relaxation of U46619pre-constricted vascular tone in porcine splenic arteries. Due to the lack of selective antagonists of adiponectin receptors, an anti-adiponectin antibody was used. However, anti-adiponectin antibody had no significant effect on the contractile response to ATP and UTP in PVAT-intact splenic arteries; an increase in ATP and UTP contractions would have been expected if the antibody had blocked the actions of anti-contractile PVAT-derived adiponectin. The first demonstration of adiponectin's vasodilator properties was in rat and mouse aortic and mesenteric arteries, in which adiponectin inhibited serotonin-induced contractions. The relaxation response was endothelium-independent and a voltage-gated potassium (Kv) channel in the VSMC appears to be responsible for this effect (Fésüs et al., 2007). Adiponectin is also known to directly activate large conductance calcium activated potassium (BK) channel in rat and mouse mesenteric arteries

(Lynch et al., 2013; Weston et al., 2013). It has been shown that vessels with PVAT showed an anti-contractile effect in isolated mesenteric arteries of healthy rats, which was abolished after exposure to adiponectin blocking peptides. Pre-contracted vessels were rapidly dilated after exogenous adiponectin was added to the organ bath solution. Additionally, this study found that healthy PVAT around human small gluteal arteries had an anticontractile effect accompanied by an increase in NO bioavailability, which was lost after treatment with an adiponectin blocking peptide. While, PVAT of arteries from obese humans lacked the anti-contractile properties of healthy vessels. The findings indicate that healthy PVAT produces anticontractile effects through adiponectin release, which involves endothelial NO production (Greenstein et al., 2009). Thus, PVAT-induced relaxation of splenic arteries in response to nucleotides may be mediated by adiponectin and other relaxant factors. Clearly, much still remains to be understood about the level of adiponectin release and adiponectin receptor expression in splenic PVAT.

There is also evidence that leptin induces vasorelaxation in both an endothelium dependent and endothelium independent manner (Benkhoff et al., 2012; Momin et al., 2006). An in vivo study in rats showed that leptin intravenous infusion reduces arterial pressure by increasing NO levels (Frühbeck, 1999). In addition, vasodilation caused by leptin in isolated rat aorta is mediated by NO release via phosphorylation of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) at Ser1177 by activating Akt (Sahin et al., 2009; Vecchione et al., 2002). It is believed that leptin causes vasodilation in human saphenous vein and internal mammary artery in a mechanism-independent of endothelium and NO (Momin et al., 2006). In addition, leptin-induced vasodilation in human coronary arteries may not be mediated by NO as well (Matsuda et al., 2003).

However, ATP, UTP, ADP and UDP in the current study had no significant effect on the levels of leptin. Also, Leptin release was not affected by different P2 receptor antagonists. It has been shown in rat white adipocytes

that ATP (300 µM) decreased insulin-induced leptin release at different incubation times (12, 24 and 48 hours) (Lee et al., 2005). In the current study, insulin increased the release of leptin, and this is consistent with the fact that there is a strong link between insulin and leptin secretion. For example, it has been reported in 3T3-L1 adipocytes that leptin secretion and mRNA levels are increased by insulin through cAMP stimulation (Tsubai et al., 2016). Suramin was the only P2 receptor antagonist that altered the basal release of leptin and adiponectin. Suramin affects leptin and adiponectin in opposite directions. This could be due to a different effect of suramin than on P2 receptors. Suramin is a non-specific P2 receptor antagonist, however, suramin is known to target a number of membrane channels and signalling pathways including Na, K-ATPase, PKC and protein tyrosine phosphatases (Wiedemar et al., 2020). Therefore, there I found no evidence for constitutive activation of P2 receptors in regulation of adiponectin and leptin release.

In conclusion, PVAT can release a variety of adipokines and mediators, with the ability to induce both vascular contractile and vasorelaxant effects. As only two adipokines were examined in the current study, more studies are needed to examine nucleotides' effects on other PVAT-derived relaxant or contractile factors such as NO, PGI₂, thromboxane and angiotensin II. In this chapter, the data showed that extracellular nucleotides ATP and UTP induce adiponectin release from 3T3-L1 adipocytes through activating P2Y₂ receptors. There was no evidence for constitutive activation of P2 receptors in regulation of adiponectin and leptin release. PVAT-induced anticontractile actions in splenic arteries in response to nucleotides might be mediated by adiponectin and other relaxant factors.

Chapter 6

General Discussion

6.1 Overview of the main findings

As part of this thesis, nucleotides ATP and UTP were investigated to determine whether they are released constitutively by PVAT and whether this can affect the vascular tone of mesenteric arteries. This study found the following; the selective P2Y₂ receptor antagonists, AR-C118925XX and MSG228 at 10 µM and the non-selective P2 receptor antagonist suramin at 100 μ M were effective in inducing relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in mesenteric arteries. Further experiments demonstrated that the vasorelaxant response of pre-contracted mesenteric arteries to AR-C118925XX was abolished in the presence of apyrase (which metabolises nucleotides). Additionally, apyrase and ARL67156 (ectonucleotidases inhibitor) directly altered U46619- pre-constricted mesenteric artery tone. Moreover, carbenoxolone and probenecid (connexin/pannexin channel inhibitors) also caused a significant relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone in porcine mesenteric arteries. In this study, evidence ruled out the involvement of PVAT, endothelium and P2X and adenosine receptors in nucleotides release and responses to P2 receptor antagonists, suggesting that nucleotide release and actions involves the vascular smooth muscle. Relaxation of AR-C118925XX was also observed in other vascular beds and species, including porcine coronary and splenic arteries, as well as rat mesenteric arteries. Extracellular ATP was measured by luminescence directly from the Krebs solution in porcine mesenteric arteries. It appears that isolated mesenteric arteries are capable of releasing ATP and the presence of PVAT in this experiment increased the amount of ATP released from isolated mesenteric arteries. However, there were no differences in the effects of P2 receptor antagonists in the presence or absence of PVAT on mesenteric artery tone.

The present study also identified a role of extracellular nucleotides ATP and UTP in adiponectin release from 3T3-L1 adipocytes via activation of P2Y₂ receptors. Adiponectin release was not regulated by constitutive activation of P2Y₂ receptors. The anti-contractile effects of PVAT on porcine splenic

arteries in response to ATP and UTP might be mediated by adiponectin and other relaxant factors.

6.2 The selective involvement of P2Y₂ receptors and nucleotides release

I recorded the functional responses of isolated tissues using an isometric tension recording system (organ bath). This technique is useful in cardiovascular pharmacology and physiology experiments for a number of reasons. Among these are the ability to measure isometric vascular contraction or relaxation caused by increasing antagonist concentrations, and the ability to modulate agonist potency and efficacy in isolated blood vessel rings (Jespersen et al., 2015). This technique also allowed me to study the effects of PVAT on the contractility of blood vessel segments. Porcine vessels were used as a model in the current study for several reasons, including the fact that porcine vessels share many anatomical and physiological features with human vessels. There are many similarities between porcine and human vessels in terms of their size, structure and function, making them a suitable model for studying human cardiovascular function. Additionally, porcine vessels are readily available and easy to obtain, and because they are relatively large, it is easier to measure and manipulate physiological and pharmacological parameters (Suzuki et al., 2010; Tsang et al., 2016).

The diverse pharmacological profiles of endogenous nucleotides that stimulate more than one P2 receptor subtype have been recognised as a limitation in the study of P2 purine receptors. In addition, there is a possibility of multiple contractile and relaxant receptors present in a particular vascular bed depending on where they are expressed endothelium vs. smooth muscle and PVAT. There is an equal affinity between ATP and UTP for P2Y₂ receptors, but the two bind to more than one subtype of P2 receptor (Jacobson et al., 2020). Studies have shown that both nucleotides can have dual effects on vascular tone, contraction and relaxation depending on vascular type and experimental conditions (Burnstock, 2008). Generally, vasorelaxation occurs when nucleotides bind

to the P2 receptor subtype expressed in the endothelium, whereas vasoconstriction occurs when nucleotides bind to the P2 receptor subtype expressed in vascular smooth muscle (Erlinge & Burnstock, 2008). According to the current study in chapter 3 and 5, ATP and UTP induce only contractions in porcine mesenteric and splenic arteries. The contraction effect induced by these nucleotides in this study is consistent with the possibility that endogenous tonic release of ATP and UTP maintains the tone of the mesenteric arteries by binding to contractile P2Y₂ receptors in the vascular smooth muscle. The effects of ATP and UTP alone or in combination were studied using various exogenous concentrations. The addition of ATP or UTP alone or in combination produced contraction effects. However, presumably due to the rapid hydrolysis of these nucleotides, the exogenous concentrations (mM and μ M) used were higher than the endogenous extracellular range (nM).

Several P2 receptor subtypes lack selective antagonists, making it difficult to determine their functions. The selective targeting of $P2Y_2$ receptors by AR-C118925XX has been demonstrated in several studies (Muoboghare et al., 2019; Rafehi et al., 2017). AR-C118925XX greatly enhances our ability to understand how P2Y₂ receptors contribute to maintaining vascular tone. In the current study, AR-C118925XX caused relaxation effects in a number of vascular beds, which may suggest P2Y₂ receptor activation after constitutive release of nucleotides. While, the maximum response to exogenous ATP and UTP was not significantly affected by AR-C118925XX, the time to recover from the response was significantly reduced. Reasons for this are unclear but could involve the relative concentrations of endogenous vs exogenous nucleotides, diffusion (or limited diffusion) across the many cell layers of the media, and region specific expression of P2 receptors throughout the blood vessel wall. It has been shown that AR-C118925XX had no effect on the contractions evoked by UTP and ATP in rat isolated intrapulmonary and tail arteries. In addition, ATP-induced vasodilation was not affected by AR-C118925XX, but UTP-induced

vasodilation was significantly reduced by AR-C118925XX in intrapulmonary arteries of rats (Dales et al., 2022). ATP-induced small pulmonary vein contraction was inhibited by AR-C118925XX in another study (Henriquez et al., 2018). Therefore, AR-C118925XX appears to act differently depending on the experimental conditions and the expression profile of P2Y₂ receptors in different vascular beds and species. It is possible that the distribution of P2Y₂ receptors and the permeability of AR-C118925XX in the different layers of the vascular wall may explain the slow relaxation response of AR-C118925XX in this study since P2Y₂ receptors might not be blocked immediately by AR-C118925XX. The lack of effect of AR-C118925XX on the maximum contractions induced by ATP and UTP may be explained by this if I consider that high concentrations of ATP and UTP would be rapidly achieved by their exogenous application, followed by their rapid metabolism, and so the exogenous nucleotides could mainly be acting on non-P2Y₂ receptors. The results indicated that the mesenteric arteries did respond rapidly to the contractile agents ATP and UTP and the response was relatively short-lived (Figures 3.8, 3.9). P2X1 receptor clustering at the adventitial surface has been described (Hansen et al., 1999) which might contribute to the lack of effect of AR-C118925XX on responses to the exogenous nucleotides. It would be interesting to investigate whether there is a region specific expression of P2 receptors, especially $P2Y_2$ and $P2X_1$, throughout the mesenteric artery wall.

The selective P2Y₂ receptor antagonist AR-C118925XX was developed with submicromolar potency at recombinant human P2Y₂ receptors. A 10 μ M concentration of AR-C118925XX showed inactivity at 35 other non-purinergic receptors (Kemp et al., 2004; Rafehi et al., 2017). It was necessary to use a high concentration of AR-C118925XX (10 μ M) to block P2Y₂ receptors at a more intense level since there was no effect of 1 μ M on the vascular tone of mesenteric arteries in this study. In a wide range of experiments, a concentration of 10 μ M or above of AR-C118925XX has been

used as an antagonist of $P2Y_2$ receptors (Ali et al., 2018; Filiberto et al., 2022; Genovese et al., 2023; Róg et al., 2019).

This study did not examine P2Y₂ receptor expression in porcine mesenteric arteries. However, there is a well-known expression profile for P2Y₂ receptors in porcine coronary and rat mesenteric arteries (Buvinic et al., 2002; Ishida et al., 2011; Rayment et al., 2007). This study demonstrated that AR-C118925XX induced relaxation effects on the pre-contracted tone of porcine mesenteric and coronary arteries as well as rat mesenteric arteries. It was further demonstrated that P2Y₂ receptors play an important role in this study when MSG228 (P2Y₂ receptor antagonist) had similar effects to AR-C118925XX. Further experiments performed using UTP to desensitize P2Y₂/P2Y₄ receptors, I observed no relaxation response to AR-C118925XX, supporting the hypothesis that this antagonist specifically affected P2Y₂ receptors. There are currently no commercially available antagonists of P2Y₄ receptor, however, the P2Y₄ receptor is insensitive to suramin which discriminates between P2Y₂ and P2Y₄ receptor subtypes (Brunschweiger & Muller, 2006). In this study, suramin induced a similar relaxation effect to AR-C118925XX in porcine mesenteric arteries. The selective P2Y₆ receptor antagonist MRS2578 had no significant effect in the current study. AR-C118925XX responses also was not affected by desensitizing P2X1 receptors with α , β -MeATP. NF449 did not alter the vascular tone of mesenteric arteries when it blocked P2X1 receptors. A contractile P2X1 receptor has been found to exist on porcine mesenteric arteries that is sensitive to α,β -meATP (Shatarat et al., 2014).

Apyrase catalyses the sequential hydrolysis of nucleotides (Riewe et al., 2008). As long as ATP/UTP is being released, apyrase will affect the tone of pre-contracted arteries, in a similar manner to P2Y₂ receptor antagonists. The addition of apyrase to pre-contracted mesenteric arteries caused both contractions and relaxations. Also, AR-C118925XX had no vasorelaxant effect on pre-contracted mesenteric arteries treated with apyrase. In addition, there was a small contraction of the mesenteric artery in response

to ARL67156, suggesting that vasocontractile ATP or UTP was released endogenously. It has been reported that there was a significant increase in contractile responses to exogenous UTP in porcine coronary and ear arteries in response to ARL67156 (Rayment et al., 2007). It has been shown in in vivo that tonic level of constriction is provided by ATP in retinal arterioles. Apyrase lowered endogenous ATP levels, causing retinal arterioles to dilate, while an ATPase inhibitor increased them, causing vessels to constrict, which is similar to the current finding (Kur & Newman, 2014).

Further investigation as to the mechanism by which ATP and UTP are released tonically from mesenteric arteries in order to maintain vascular tone was conducted through inhibition of connexin and pannexin channels. According to my findings, pannexin and connexin channel blockers had similar effects on the contractile tone of pre-contracted arteries as P2Y₂ receptor antagonists, suggesting that there is a continuous release of endogenous ATP/UTP, through pannexin and or connexon channels which contributes to the contractile tone of porcine mesenteric arteries. Pharmacological blockage of connexin and pannexin channels and subsequent inhibition of ATP release were observed in various vascular beds (Bol et al., 2017; Gödecke et al., 2012). According to a recent study, ATP released from the endothelium via Panx1 activates smooth muscle P2Y₂ receptors in mouse aorta. In turn, this led to the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ and the regulation of vascular remodelling (Filiberto et al., 2022).

ATP levels were measured under basal conditions in this study, suggesting that isolated mesenteric arteries can release ATP to activate smooth muscle P2Y₂ receptors, modulating vascular tone. Although, it is technically challenging to measure extracellular levels of UTP in vascular smooth muscle, the concentrations of UTP have been quantified using a reaction based on UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase and HPLC coupled to radioenzymatic assays. Under resting conditions, UTP was detected in low nanomolar concentrations in most extracellular mediums. After mechanical

stimulation, however, UTP levels were elevated (Lazarowski & Harden, 1999). In both resting and mechanically stimulated conditions, an extracellular UTP/ATP ratio of 1:3 was observed (Lazarowski et al., 2003). Both ATP and UTP may have a common source and mechanism of release (Chapter 1). Thus, there is consistency in the results obtained from the inhibition of ATP and UTP binding to P2Y₂ receptors (AR-C118925XX, MSG228), the induction or inhibition of ATP and UTP metabolism (apyrase, ARL67156), and the blockage of the release of these nucleotides from connexin and pannexin channels (probencid, carbenoxelone). It seems unlikely that the observed effects are due to non-specific antagonist actions. Taken together, the previous observations indicate that endogenous ATP/UTP is released from vascular smooth muscle via connexins and pannexins acting on vasocontractile P2Y₂ receptors.

6.3 The interactions between nucleotides with PVAT-derived mediators

Historically, PVAT was seen simply as a structural protective layer that does not have any physiological function for the vessel walls it surrounds. Over the past few decades, many studies have been designed to investigate this relationship between PVAT and the vessel wall. These studies have demonstrated its importance, particularly in regulating vascular tone and revealing significant insights into vascular disease pathogenesis. PVAT plays an active role in vascular homeostasis and dysfunctions associated with obesity, hypertension, inflammation and coronary artery disease (Brown et al., 2014; Li et al., 2021). PVAT regulates vascular function by releasing adipokines, cytokines, reactive oxygen species, NO, and H₂S via endocrine and paracrine mechanisms (Xia & Li, 2017). In the present study, PVAT was investigated for its effect on blood vessel contractility and its role in nucleotides release. Chapter 3 provided evidence that porcine mesenteric PVAT has no effect on the contractility of mesenteric arteries. Therefore, PVAT did not represent the major source of nucleotides in the current study. This is because there were no differences in the responses to P2 receptor antagonists, ATP and UTP or apyrase in the presence or absence of PVAT.

Chapter 5 results showed that 3T3-L1 adipocytes were induced to release adiponectin by exogenous ATP and UTP. The inhibition of P2Y₂ receptors by AR-C118925XX and MSG228 inhibited ATP and UTP-induced adiponectin release from 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Addition of apyrase to 3T3-L1 adipocytes did not lower the level of adiponectin, indicating that the P2 receptors are not constitutively activated in regulating adiponectin release. Similarly serum adiponectin levels were significantly higher in WT mice fed high-fat diets, whereas P2Y₂ receptor knockout mice fed either high-fat or normal diets showed no significant increase in adiponectin levels (Zhang et al., 2020). It was found also that AR-C118925XX antagonized P2Y₂ receptors in human adipocytes and increased adiponectin release (Ali et al., 2018). The adipokines concentrations in these experiments were measured after 24 hours. It is unknown whether nucleotides will stay stable for 24 hours. It is possible that these nucleotides would have been metabolised. However, ATP and UTP-induced adiponectin release from 3T3-L1 adipocytes was inhibited by AR-C118925XX and MSG228, indicating that exogenous adipokines are stable. Future experiments could involve measuring adiponectin levels at different time points.

It was found in chapter 5 that PVAT-intact vessels showed anti-contractile effects and that contractile responses of splenic PVAT-intact arteries to U46619, ATP, UTP, and α,β -MeATP were significantly diminished compared to vessel without PVAT. PVAT, however, did not show any anti-contractile effects in the mesenteric arteries. In light of the conclusion from chapter 5 that ATP and UTP activate P2Y₂ receptors to release adiponectin from 3T3-L1 adipocytes, I investigated whether PVAT anti-contractile activity involves adiponectin released by PVAT in porcine splenic arteries. In addition, adiponectin is one of the most abundant adipokines produced by PVAT with anti-contractile and anti-inflammatory effects on the vascular wall (Yanai & Yoshida, 2019). AdipoRon activated the adiponectin receptor in porcine splenic arteries, resulting in a relaxation of U46619-pre-constricted vascular tone. Anti-adiponectin antibodies were used since there was no

selective antagonist for adiponectin receptors. Anti-adiponectin antibodies did not significantly affect ATP or UTP contractile responses in PVAT-intact splenic arteries; if the antibody had blocked the actions of anti-contractile PVAT-derived adiponectin, ATP and UTP contractions would have increased. The current study assessed the effect of nucleotides on the release of two adipokines only. There might be a role for other relaxant factors as well as adiponectin in PVAT-induced anti-contractile actions in splenic arteries in response to nucleotides. PVAT anti-contractile effects are mediated, however, by a number of factors including NO, PGI₂, angiotensin 1-7, H₂O₂ and H₂S (Brown et al., 2014). It has been shown that nucleotides and P2 receptors are important in controlling adipokines release from adipocytes. As an example, ATP stimulates adiponectin release by elevating Ca²⁺ and increasing P2Y₂ receptors via the G_{q11}/PLC pathway in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and inguinal white adipose tissue (Musovic et al., 2021). In order to regulate the tone of blood vessels, it is necessary to understand how nucleotides maintain PVAT release of relaxant and contractile factors.

6.4 Future studies

This thesis provides a detailed understanding of how nucleotides ATP and UTP are released constitutively and regulate vascular tone via P2Y₂ receptors. The present study provides clear evidence that targeting P2Y₂ receptors directly induce a vasorelaxation across a range of vascular beds and species including porcine mesenteric and coronary arteries as well as rat mesenteric arteries. In addition, the current study indicated that ATP and UTP activated P2Y₂ receptors in 3T3-L1 adipocytes to release adiponectin. A subsequent study showed in the splenic arteries that PVAT had an anti-contractile effect in response to ATP and UTP, and adiponectin receptor activation resulted in relaxation. There is, however, much to explore in the future based on the research presented here. The possibility that ATP and UTP may trigger the release of relaxant adipokines and mediators from PVAT through the activation of P2Y₂ receptors is one of the important area of interest. It would be interesting to conduct a more

comprehensive study using antagonists for P2Y₂ receptors and measure the concentrations of adipokines known to induce vasorelaxation. It will then be possible to explore the signalling pathways involved in this process. A further area of interest is the regulation of vascular tone by $P2Y_2$ receptors. In order to understand how AR-C118925 inhibited endogenous nucleotide contractions while not inhibiting most exogenous ATP and UTP responses, immunofluorescence could be used to study region-specific expression of P2 receptors throughout the blood vessel wall. Additionally, it is possible to carry out genetic knockouts of P2Y₂ receptors in vessels. The results of this study will confirm evidence for the basal release of ATP and UTP and the binding of these nucleotides to P2Y₂ receptors. Other P2 receptors, such as P2X1, may have functional roles that can be further explored. In addition, the direct vasorelaxation induced by AR-C118925XX and MSG228 suggests that P2Y₂ receptor antagonists may have therapeutic potential in the treatment of hypertension. Further research should be conducted to investigate whether P2Y₂ receptor antagonists have an effect on blood pressure in animal models of hypertension.

Purinergic receptors are not commonly studied in pigs, and there is a variety of species-specific molecular and cellular differences between pigs and rodents. Cloning the P2X and P2Y receptor genes from porcine vascular cells and understanding species cross-reactivity will be useful. It is possible to clone P2 receptors from porcine vascular tissues using recombinant DNA technology and HEK293 cells.

In this thesis, the proposed findings were derived from in vitro studies which could provide valuable information concerning the potential benefits of P2Y₂ receptor-mediated signalling in blood vessels to regulate vascular tone and blood pressure. Therefore, the physiological and clinical relevance of the findings requires further investigation. These findings provide meaningful data to justify follow-up studies in vivo to evaluate the role of nucleotides and P2 receptors and the mechanisms underlying their effects, which could lead to a novel hypertension and obesity therapeutic target.

6.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, the present study demonstrated that endogenous ATP and UTP are constitutively released via connexin and pannexin channels act via vasocontractile P2Y₂ receptors. These receptors are blocked by P2 receptors antagonists to cause vasorelaxation. Results from Chapter 3 showed a direct vasorelaxant effect of suramin, AR-C118925XX and MSG228 on the vascular tone of porcine pre-contracted mesenteric arteries. In addition, these data indicated that hydrolysis of endogenous nucleotides with apyrase induced relaxation and contraction of pre-constricted mesenteric arteries, while ectonucleotidase inhibition caused contraction (Figure 6.1). Exogenous addition of ATP and UTP induced contractions in pre-contracted mesenteric arteries. There was no significant effect of AR-C118925XX on the maximum response to ATP and UTP, but the time to recover from the response was significantly reduced.

Moreover, I demonstrated in chapter 4 that smooth muscle cells are the source of nucleotides and are independent of the endothelium in releasing endogenous nucleotides and responding to P2 receptor antagonists. After UTP desensitization of P2Y₂/P2Y₄ receptors, AR-C118925XX did not induce a relaxation response, consistent with a specific effect of P2Y₂ receptor antagonists. AR-C118925XX also caused relaxation in well-known P2Y₂ expression vascular beds, such as porcine coronary arteries and rat mesenteric arteries, which similarly induce relaxation. In addition, pannexin and connexin channel blockers had similar effects on the vascular tone of pre-contracted arteries as the P2Y₂ receptor antagonists, suggesting that porcine mesenteric arteries constantly release endogenous ATP and UTP. Also, the evidence from this chapter eliminated the possibility that P2X, P2Y₆ and adenosine receptors were involved in AR-C118925XX-induced relaxation.

As shown in chapter 5, ATP and UTP induce adiponectin release from 3T3-L1 adipocytes by activating $P2Y_2$ receptors. Adiponectin and leptin release was not regulated by the constitutive activation of P2 receptors. The anti-

contractile actions of PVAT in splenic arteries in response to nucleotides might be mediated by adiponectin and other relaxant factors.



Figure 6.1: Hypothesized schematic diagram of ATP and UTP basal release from VSMCs and their subsequent binding to P2Y₂ receptors. In VSMCs, ATP and UTP are released through connexin and pannexin channels and bind to vasocontractile P2Y₂ receptors. Pharmacological antagonists of P2Y₂ receptors by suramin, AR-C118925XX and MSG228 induce vasorelaxation. Inhibition of connexin and pannexin channels by carbenoxolone and probenecid affects the extracellular level of ATP and UTP which also induces vascular relaxation. By targeting ectoATPase on the cell surface of VSMCs, ATP and UTP are also increased extracellularly. There was an endotheliumindependent response to P2Y₂ receptor antagonists and the release of nucleotides. Both ATP and UTP activate P2Y₂ receptors in adipocytes to release adiponectin. It was shown that PVAT inhibited contractile activity in the splenic arteries in response to both ATP and UTP. I hypothesized that binding of ATP and UTP to $P2Y_2$ receptors in PVAT induces adiponectin release which in turn binds to adiponectin receptors (AdipoR1 and AdipoR2) and induces vasorelaxation.

Appendices

A. Responses to KCI and other vasoconstrictors in human mesenteric arteries



Figure 1: Representative traces showing responses to KCI and other vasoconstrictors in the human mesenteric arteries. Vasopressin alone or a combination of U46619 and endothelin were used as vasoconstrictors. Unstable vascular tone of the human mesenteric arteries was observed and all vasoconstrictors caused rhythmic contraction.

B. Effect of KCl and U46619 on vascular tone in porcine isolated mesenteric arteries



Figure 2: (A) Contractile responses induced by 60 mM KCl in PVAT and PVAT-free porcine mesenteric arteries. Data are expressed as gram and are mean \pm SEM (n = 13). (B) Contractile responses induced by U46619 (20 nM to 60 nM) to a level of 40-60% of the second KCl response in PVAT and PVAT-free porcine mesenteric arteries. Data are expressed as % of response to 60 mM KCl and are mean \pm SEM (n = 10).

References

- Abbas, Z. S. B., Latif, M. L., Dovlatova, N., Fox, S. C., Heptinstall, S., Dunn, W. R., & Ralevic, V. (2018). UDP-sugars activate P2Y14 receptors to mediate vasoconstriction of the porcine coronary artery. *Vascul Pharmacol*, 103-105, 36-46. doi:10.1016/j.vph.2017.12.063
- Abbracchio, M. P., Burnstock, G., Boeynaems, J.-M., Barnard, E. A., Boyer, J. L., Kennedy, C., . . . Jacobson, K. A. (2006). International Union of Pharmacology LVIII: update on the P2Y G protein-coupled nucleotide receptors: from molecular mechanisms and pathophysiology to therapy. *Pharmacological reviews*, 58(3), 281-341.
- Abu Bakar, H., Robert Dunn, W., Daly, C., & Ralevic, V. (2017). Sensory innervation of perivascular adipose tissue: a crucial role in artery vasodilatation and leptin release. *Cardiovascular research*, *113*(8), 962-972.
- Achari, A. E., & Jain, S. K. (2017). Adiponectin, a therapeutic target for obesity, diabetes, and endothelial dysfunction. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 18(6), 1321.
- Adamson, S. E., Meher, A. K., Chiu, Y.-h., Sandilos, J. K., Oberholtzer, N. P., Walker, N. N., . . . Isakson, B. E. (2015). Pannexin 1 is required for full activation of insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in adipocytes. *Molecular metabolism*, 4(9), 610-618.
- Ahmad, A. A., Randall, M. D., & Roberts, R. E. (2017). Sex differences in the regulation of porcine coronary artery tone by perivascular adipose tissue: a role of adiponectin? *British journal of pharmacology*, *174*(16), 2773-2783.
- Ahmadian, M., Wang, Y., & Sul, H. S. (2010). Lipolysis in adipocytes. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology*, *42*(5), 555-559.
- Alefishat, E., Alexander, S., & Ralevic, V. (2013). Antagonism of P2Y1-induced vasorelaxation by acyl CoA: a critical role for palmitate and 3'-phosphate. *British journal of pharmacology*, *168*(8), 1911-1922.
- Alefishat, E., Alexander, S. P., & Ralevic, V. (2015). Effects of NAD at purine receptors in isolated blood vessels. *Purinergic Signalling*, 11(1), 47-57.
- Ali, S. B., Turner, J. J., & Fountain, S. J. (2018). Constitutive P2Y2 receptor activity regulates basal lipolysis in human adipocytes. *J Cell Sci, 131*(22), jcs221994.
- Almabrouk, T. A., Ugusman, A. B., Katwan, O. J., Salt, I. P., & Kennedy, S. (2017). Deletion of AMPKo1 attenuates the anticontractile effect of perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) and reduces adiponectin release. *British journal of pharmacology*, 174(20), 3398-3410.
- Alsaqati, M., Latif, M., Chan, S., & Ralevic, V. (2014). Novel vasocontractile role of the P2Y14 receptor: characterization of its signalling in porcine isolated pancreatic arteries. *British journal of pharmacology*, *171*(3), 701-713.
- Anderson, C. M., & Parkinson, F. E. (1997). Potential signalling roles for UTP and UDP: sources, regulation and release of uracil nucleotides. *Trends in pharmacological* sciences, 18(4), 387-392.
- Arsyad, A., & Dobson, G. P. (2016). Adenosine relaxation in isolated rat aortic rings and possible roles of smooth muscle Kv channels, KATP channels and A2a receptors. BMC Pharmacology and Toxicology, 17(1), 1-11.
- Baqi, Y. (2015). Ecto-nucleotidase inhibitors: recent developments in drug discovery. *Mini Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry, 15*(1), 21-33.
- Bar, I., Guns, P.-J., Metallo, J., Cammarata, D., Wilkin, F., Boeynams, J.-M., . . . Robaye, B. (2008). Knockout mice reveal a role for P2Y6 receptor in macrophages, endothelial cells, and vascular smooth muscle cells. *Molecular pharmacology*, 74(3), 777-784.

Barac, A., & Panza, J. A. (2009). Mechanisms of decreased vascular function with aging. In (Vol. 53, pp. 900-902): Am Heart Assoc.

Barp, C. G., Bonaventura, D., & Assreuy, J. (2021). NO, ROS, RAS, and PVAT: More than a soup of letters. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *12*, 640021.

Barrett, M. O., Sesma, J. I., Ball, C. B., Jayasekara, P. S., Jacobson, K. A., Lazarowski, E. R., & Harden, T. K. (2013). A selective high-affinity antagonist of the P2Y14 receptor inhibits UDP-glucose-stimulated chemotaxis of human neutrophils. *Molecular pharmacology*, 84(1), 41-49.

Bartness, T., Vaughan, C., & Song, C. (2010). Sympathetic and sensory innervation of brown adipose tissue. *International journal of obesity*, *34*(S1), S36.

Beaucage, K. L., Xiao, A., Pollmann, S. I., Grol, M. W., Beach, R. J., Holdsworth, D. W., .
. Dixon, S. J. (2014). Loss of P2X7 nucleotide receptor function leads to abnormal fat distribution in mice. *Purinergic Signalling*, 10(2), 291-304.

Benkhoff, S., Loot, A. E., Pierson, I., Sturza, A., Kohlstedt, K., Fleming, I., . . . Schröder, K. (2012). Leptin potentiates endothelium-dependent relaxation by inducing endothelial expression of neuronal NO synthase. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and* vascular biology, 32(7), 1605-1612.

Billaud, M., Lohman, A. W., Straub, A. C., Looft-Wilson, R., Johnstone, S. R., Araj, C. A., . . . Penuela, S. (2011). Pannexin1 regulates a1-adrenergic receptor-mediated vasoconstriction. *Circulation Research*, 109(1), 80-85.

Bodary, P. F., Gu, S., Shen, Y., Hasty, A. H., Buckler, J. M., & Eitzman, D. T. (2005). Recombinant leptin promotes atherosclerosis and thrombosis in apolipoprotein Edeficient mice. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 25*(8), e119e122.

Bodin, P., & Burnstock, G. (1995). Synergistic effect of acute hypoxia on flow-induced release of ATP from cultured endothelial cells. *Experientia*, *51*(3), 256-259.

Bodin, P., & Burnstock, G. (2001). Evidence that release of adenosine triphosphate from endothelial cells during increased shear stress is vesicular. *Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology*, *38*(6), 900-908.

Bohlen, F., Kratzsch, J., Mueller, M., Seidel, B., Friedman-Einat, M., Witzigmann, H., . . . Thiery, J. (2007). Leptin inhibits cell growth of human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Vascular pharmacology*, *46*(1), 67-71.

Bol, M., Wang, N., De Bock, M., Wacquier, B., Decrock, E., Gadicherla, A., . . . Krysko, D. V. (2017). At the cross-point of connexins, calcium, and ATP: blocking hemichannels inhibits vasoconstriction of rat small mesenteric arteries. *Cardiovascular research*, 113(2), 195-206.

Brandao-Burch, A., Key, M. L., Patel, J. J., Arnett, T. R., & Orriss, I. R. (2012). The P2X7 receptor is an important regulator of extracellular ATP levels. *Frontiers in endocrinology*, *3*, 41.

Brayden, J. E., Li, Y., & Tavares, M. J. (2013). Purinergic receptors regulate myogenic tone in cerebral parenchymal arterioles. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism, 33*(2), 293-299.

Brito, N. A., Brito, M. N., & Bartness, T. J. (2008). Differential sympathetic drive to adipose tissues after food deprivation, cold exposure or glucoprivation. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology,* 294(5), R1445-R1452.

Britton, K., & Fox, C. (2011). Perivascular adipose tissue and vascular disease. *Clinical lipidology*, 6(1), 79-91.

Brown, N. K., Zhou, Z., Zhang, J., Zeng, R., Wu, J., Eitzman, D. T., . . . Chang, L. (2014). Perivascular adipose tissue in vascular function and disease: a review of current research and animal models. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, 34(8), 1621-1630.

Brown, N. K., Zhou, Z., Zhang, J., Zeng, R., Wu, J., Eitzman, D. T., . . . Chang, L. (2014). Perivascular adipose tissue in vascular function and disease: a review of current research and animal models. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, ATVBAHA. 114.303029. Browne, L. E. (2012). Structure of P2X receptors. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Membrane Transport and Signaling*, 1(1), 56-69.

- Brozovich, F., Nicholson, C., Degen, C., Gao, Y. Z., Aggarwal, M., & Morgan, K. (2016). Mechanisms of vascular smooth muscle contraction and the basis for pharmacologic treatment of smooth muscle disorders. *Pharmacological reviews*, *68*(2), 476-532.
- Brunschweiger, A., & Muller, C. E. (2006). P2 receptors activated by uracil nucleotidesan update. *Current medicinal chemistry*, *13*(3), 289-312.
- Bruzzone, R., Hormuzdi, S. G., Barbe, M. T., Herb, A., & Monyer, H. (2003). Pannexins, a family of gap junction proteins expressed in brain. *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences*, *100*(23), 13644-13649.
- Bulloch, J. M., & Daly, C. J. (2014). Autonomic nerves and perivascular fat: interactive mechanisms. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, *143*(1), 61-73.
- Burnstock, G. (1990). Noradrenaline and ATP as cotransmitters in sympathetic nerves. *Neurochemistry international, 17*(2), 357-368.
- Burnstock, G. (2007). Physiology and pathophysiology of purinergic neurotransmission. *Physiological reviews*.
- Burnstock, G. (2007). Purine and pyrimidine receptors. *Cellular and molecular life sciences*, *64*(12), 1471.
- Burnstock, G. (2008). Dual control of vascular tone and remodelling by ATP released from nerves and endothelial cells. *Pharmacological Reports, 60*(1), 12-20.
- Burnstock, G. (2009). Purinergic regulation of vascular tone and remodelling. *Autonomic and Autacoid Pharmacology*, 29(3), 63-72.
- Burnstock, G., & Ralevic, V. (2014). Purinergic signaling and blood vessels in health and disease. *Pharmacological reviews*, *66*(1), 102-192.
- Buvinic, S., Briones, R., & Huidobro-Toro, J. P. (2002). P2Y1 and P2Y2 receptors are coupled to the NO/cGMP pathway to vasodilate the rat arterial mesenteric bed. *British journal of pharmacology*, 136(6), 847-856.
- Cannon, B., & Nedergaard, J. (2004). Brown adipose tissue: function and physiological significance. *Physiological reviews*, *84*(1), 277-359.
- Cao, R., Brakenhielm, E., Wahlestedt, C., Thyberg, J., & Cao, Y. (2001). Leptin induces vascular permeability and synergistically stimulates angiogenesis with FGF-2 and VEGF. *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences, 98*(11), 6390-6395.
- Cedikova, M., Kripnerová, M., Dvorakova, J., Pitule, P., Grundmanova, M., Babuska, V., . . . Kuncova, J. (2016). Mitochondria in white, brown, and beige adipocytes. *Stem cells international, 2016*.
- Chang, L., Garcia-Barrio, M. T., & Chen, Y. E. (2020). Perivascular adipose tissue regulates vascular function by targeting vascular smooth muscle cells. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 40*(5), 1094-1109.
- Chen, B. C., Lee, C. M., & Lin, W. W. (1996). Inhibition of ecto-ATPase by PPADS, suramin and reactive blue in endothelial cells, C6 glioma cells and RAW 264.7 macrophages. *British journal of pharmacology*, *119*(8), 1628-1634.
- Cheng, C. K., Bakar, H. A., Gollasch, M., & Huang, Y. (2018). Perivascular adipose tissue: the sixth man of the cardiovascular system. *Cardiovascular drugs and therapy*, 1-22.
- Cheng, J.-T., Liu, I.-M., Chi, T.-C., Shinozuka, K., Lu, F.-H., Wu, T.-J., & Chang, C. J. (2000). Role of adenosine in insulin-stimulated release of leptin from isolated white adipocytes of Wistar rats. *Diabetes*, *49*(1), 20-24.
- Christensen, K. L., & Mulvany, M. J. (2001). Location of resistance arteries. *Journal of* vascular research, 38(1), 1-12.
- Coddou, C., Yan, Z., Obsil, T., Huidobro-Toro, J. P., & Stojilkovic, S. S. (2011). Activation and regulation of purinergic P2X receptor channels. *Pharmacological reviews*, 63(3), 641-683.
- Conroy, S., Kindon, N. D., Glenn, J., Stoddart, L. A., Lewis, R. J., Hill, S. J., . . . Stocks, M. J. (2018). Synthesis and evaluation of the first fluorescent antagonists of the human P2Y2 receptor based on AR-C118925. *Journal of medicinal chemistry*, 61(7), 3089-3113.

- Crack, B., Beukers, M., McKechnie, K., Ijzerman, A., & Leff, P. (1994). Pharmacological analysis of ecto-ATPase inhibition: evidence for combined enzyme inhibition and receptor antagonism in P2X-purinoceptor ligands. *British journal of pharmacology*, *113*(4), 1432-1438.
- Crack, B., Pollard, C., Beukers, M., Roberts, S., Hunt, S., Ingall, A., . . . Leff, P. (1995). Pharmacological and biochemical analysis of FPL 67156, a novel, selective inhibitor of ecto-ATPase. *British journal of pharmacology, 114*(2), 475-481.
- Dales, M. O., Mitchell, C., Gurney, A. M., Drummond, R. M., & Kennedy, C. (2022). Characterisation of P2Y receptor subtypes mediating vasodilation and vasoconstriction of rat pulmonary artery using selective antagonists. *Purinergic Signalling*, 1-14.
- Daneva, Z., Ottolini, M., Chen, Y. L., Klimentova, E., Kuppusamy, M., Shah, S. A., . . . Isakson, B. E. (2021). Endothelial pannexin 1–TRPV4 channel signaling lowers pulmonary arterial pressure in mice. *Elife*, *10*, e67777.
- Dardeno, T. A., Chou, S. H., Moon, H.-S., Chamberland, J. P., Fiorenza, C. G., & Mantzoros, C. S. (2010). Leptin in human physiology and therapeutics. *Frontiers in neuroendocrinology*, *31*(3), 377-393.
- Dashwood, M. R., & Loesch, A. (2011). Does perivascular fat influence neural control of the saphenous vein? Implications in coronary artery bypass surgery (CABG). *Curr Neurobiol, 2*(1), 71-74.
- Deng, Y., & Scherer, P. E. (2010). Adipokines as novel biomarkers and regulators of the metabolic syndrome. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1212(1), E1-E19.
- DeOliveira, C. C., Gotardo, E. M. F., Ribeiro, M. L., & Gambero, A. (2017). Role of A1 and A2A adenosine receptor agonists in adipose tissue inflammation induced by obesity in mice. *Eur J Pharmacol*, *799*, 154-159.
- Dubey, L., & Hesong, Z. (2006). Role of leptin in atherogenesis. *Experimental & Clinical Cardiology*, *11*(4), 269.
- Dunaway, L. S., Billaud, M., Macal, E., Good, M. E., Medina, C., Lorenz, U., . . . Isakson,
 B. E. (2022). Amount of Pannexin 1 in smooth muscle cells regulates sympathetic nerve induced vasoconstriction. *bioRxiv*.
- El-Ajouz, S., Ray, D., Allsopp, R., & Evans, R. (2012). Molecular basis of selective antagonism of the P2X1 receptor for ATP by NF449 and suramin: contribution of basic amino acids in the cysteine-rich loop. *British journal of pharmacology*, 165(2), 390-400.
- Erb, L., & Weisman, G. A. (2012). Coupling of P2Y receptors to G proteins and other signaling pathways. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Membrane Transport and Signaling*, 1(6), 789-803.
- Erlinge, D., & Burnstock, G. (2008). P2 receptors in cardiovascular regulation and disease. *Purinergic Signalling*, 4(1), 1-20.
- Faigle, M., Seessle, J., Zug, S., El Kasmi, K. C., & Eltzschig, H. K. (2008). ATP release from vascular endothelia occurs across Cx43 hemichannels and is attenuated during hypoxia. *PLoS One*, 3(7).
- Fernández-Alfonso, M. S., Somoza, B., Tsvetkov, D., Kuczmanski, A., Dashwood, M., & Gil-Ortega, M. (2011). Role of perivascular adipose tissue in health and disease. *Comprehensive Physiology*, 8(1), 23-59.
- Fésüs, G., Dubrovska, G., Gorzelniak, K., Kluge, R., Huang, Y., Luft, F. C., & Gollasch, M. (2007). Adiponectin is a novel humoral vasodilator. *Cardiovascular research*, 75(4), 719-727.
- Filiberto, A. C., Spinosa, M. D., Elder, C. T., Su, G., Leroy, V., Ladd, Z., . . . Hawkins, R. B. (2022). Endothelial pannexin-1 channels modulate macrophage and smooth muscle cell activation in abdominal aortic aneurysm formation. *Nature communications*, 13(1), 1521.
- Francis, S. H., Busch, J. L., & Corbin, J. D. (2010). cGMP-dependent protein kinases and cGMP phosphodiesterases in nitric oxide and cGMP action. *Pharmacological reviews*, *62*(3), 525-563.

- Fredholm, B. B., Frenguelli, B. G., Hills, R., IJzerman, A. P., Jacobson, K. A., Klotz, K.-N., . . . Stiles, G. L. (2021). Adenosine receptors in GtoPdb v. 2021.2. *IUPHAR/BPS Guide to Pharmacology CITE, 2021*(2).
- Fredholm, B. B., IJzerman, A. P., Jacobson, K. A., Klotz, K.-N., & Linden, J. (2001). International Union of Pharmacology. XXV. Nomenclature and classification of adenosine receptors. *Pharmacological reviews*, 53(4), 527-552.
- Froldi, G., Varani, K., Chinellato, A., Ragazzi, E., Caparrotta, L., & Borea, P. A. (1997). P2X-purinoceptors in the heart: actions of ATP and UTP. *Life sciences*, 60(17), 1419-1430.
- Frühbeck, G. (1999). Pivotal role of nitric oxide in the control of blood pressure after leptin administration. *Diabetes, 48*(4), 903-908.
- Fukata, Y., Kaibuchi, K., & Amano, M. (2001). Rho–Rho-kinase pathway in smooth muscle contraction and cytoskeletal reorganization of non-muscle cells. *Trends in pharmacological sciences*, *22*(1), 32-39.
- Gainetdinov, R. R., Premont, R. T., Bohn, L. M., Lefkowitz, R. J., & Caron, M. G. (2004). Desensitization of G protein-coupled receptors and neuronal functions. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.*, 27, 107-144.
- Gálvez-Prieto, B., Somoza, B., Gil-Ortega, M., García-Prieto, C. F., de Las Heras, A. I., González, M. C., . . . Kreutz, R. (2012). Anticontractile effect of perivascular adipose tissue and leptin are reduced in hypertension. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *3*, 103.
- Gao, N., Huang, J., He, W., Zhu, M., Kamm, K. E., & Stull, J. T. (2013). Signaling through myosin light chain kinase in smooth muscles. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288(11), 7596-7605.
- Gao, Y.-J., Takemori, K., Su, L.-Y., An, W.-S., Lu, C., Sharma, A. M., & Lee, R. M. (2006). Perivascular adipose tissue promotes vasoconstriction: the role of superoxide anion. *Cardiovascular research*, 71(2), 363-373.
- Gao, Y.-J., Zeng, Z.-h., Teoh, K., Sharma, A. M., Abouzahr, L., Cybulsky, I., . . . Lee, R.
 M. (2005). Perivascular adipose tissue modulates vascular function in the human internal thoracic artery. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*, 130(4), 1130-1136.
- Gao, Y. J., Lu, C., Su, L. Y., Sharma, A., & Lee, R. (2007). Modulation of vascular function by perivascular adipose tissue: the role of endothelium and hydrogen peroxide. *British journal of pharmacology*, *151*(3), 323-331.
- Genovese, M., Guidone, D., Buccirossi, M., Borrelli, A., Rodriguez-Gimeno, A., Bertozzi, F., . . . Galietta, L. J. (2023). Pharmacological potentiators of the calcium signaling cascade identified by high-throughput screening. *PNAS Nexus*, 2(1), pgac288.
- Gil-Ortega, M., Somoza, B., Huang, Y., Gollasch, M., & Fernandez-Alfonso, M. S. (2015). Regional differences in perivascular adipose tissue impacting vascular homeostasis. *Trends Endocrinol Metab, 26*(7), 367-375. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2015.04.003
- Gil-Ortega, M., Somoza, B., Huang, Y., Gollasch, M., & Fernández-Alfonso, M. S. (2015). Regional differences in perivascular adipose tissue impacting vascular homeostasis. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism, 26*(7), 367-375.
- Giniatullin, R., & Nistri, A. (2013). Desensitization properties of P2X3 receptors shaping pain signaling. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience*, *7*, 245.
- Giralt, M., & Villarroya, F. (2013). White, Brown, Beige/Brite: Different Adipose Cells for Different Functions? *Endocrinology*, *154*(9), 2992-3000. doi:10.1210/en.2013-1403
- Gitterman, D., & Evans, R. (2000). Properties of P2X and P2Y receptors are dependent on artery diameter in the rat mesenteric bed. *British journal of pharmacology*, *131*(8), 1561-1568.
- Gnad, T., Scheibler, S., von Kügelgen, I., Scheele, C., Kilić, A., Glöde, A., . . . Mutlu, S. (2014). Adenosine activates brown adipose tissue and recruits beige adipocytes via A2A receptors. *Nature*, *516*(7531), 395-399.

Gödecke, S., Roderigo, C., Rose, C. R., Rauch, B. H., Gödecke, A., & Schrader, J. (2012). Thrombin-induced ATP release from human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, *302*(6), C915-C923.

- Gollasch, M. (2012). Vasodilator signals from perivascular adipose tissue. *British journal* of pharmacology, 165(3), 633-642.
- Gomes, P., Srinivas, S. P., Van Driessche, W., Vereecke, J., & Himpens, B. (2005). ATP release through connexin hemichannels in corneal endothelial cells. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, *46*(4), 1208-1218.
- Goodwill, A. G., Dick, G. M., Kiel, A. M., & Tune, J. D. (2017). Regulation of coronary blood flow. *Comprehensive Physiology*, 7(2), 321.
- Gordan, R., Gwathmey, J. K., & Xie, L.-H. (2015). Autonomic and endocrine control of cardiovascular function. *World journal of cardiology*, *7*(4), 204.
- Gorini, S., Gatta, L., Pontecorvo, L., Vitiello, L., & la Sala, A. (2013). Regulation of innate immunity by extracellular nucleotides. *American journal of blood research, 3*(1), 14.
- Gorska, E., Popko, K., Stelmaszczyk-Emmel, A., Ciepiela, O., Kucharska, A., & Wasik, M. (2010). Leptin receptors. *European journal of medical research*, *15*(2), 1-5.
- Greenstein, A. S., Khavandi, K., Withers, S. B., Sonoyama, K., Clancy, O., Jeziorska, M., . . . Malik, R. A. (2009). Local inflammation and hypoxia abolish the protective anticontractile properties of perivascular fat in obese patients. *Circulation*, *119*(12), 1661-1670.
- Guan, Z., Osmond, D. A., & Inscho, E. W. (2007). P2X receptors as regulators of the renal microvasculature. *Trends in pharmacological sciences*, *28*(12), 646-652.
- Haanes, K. A., & Edvinsson, L. (2014). Characterization of the contractile P2Y14 receptor in mouse coronary and cerebral arteries. *FEBS letters*, *588*(17), 2936-2943.
- Haanes, K. A., Spray, S., Syberg, S., Jørgensen, N. R., Robaye, B., Boeynaems, J.-M., & Edvinsson, L. (2016). New insights on pyrimidine signalling within the arterial vasculature—Different roles for P2Y2 and P2Y6 receptors in large and small coronary arteries of the mouse. *Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology*, 93, 1-11.
- Haefliger, J.-A., Nicod, P., & Meda, P. (2004). Contribution of connexins to the function of the vascular wall. *Cardiovascular research*, *62*(2), 345-356.
- Hakim, C. H., Jackson, W. F., & Segal, S. S. (2008). Connexin isoform expression in smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells of hamster cheek pouch arterioles and retractor feed arteries. *Microcirculation*, *15*(6), 503-514.
- Hansen, M., Dutton, J., Balcar, V., Barden, J., & Bennett, M. (1999). P2X (purinergic) receptor distributions in rat blood vessels. *Journal of the autonomic nervous system*, *75*(2-3), 147-155.
- Hansen, P. B., Castrop, H., Briggs, J., & Schnermann, J. (2003). Adenosine induces vasoconstriction through Gi-dependent activation of phospholipase C in isolated perfused afferent arterioles of mice. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 14(10), 2457-2465.
- Harhun, M. I., Sukhanova, K., Gordienko, D., & Dyskina, Y. (2015). Molecular identification of P2X receptors in vascular smooth muscle cells from rat anterior, posterior, and basilar arteries. *Pharmacological Reports*, *67*(6), 1055-1060.
- Harris, A. L. (2007). Connexin channel permeability to cytoplasmic molecules. *Progress in biophysics and molecular biology*, *94*(1-2), 120-143.
- Hayoz, S., Jia, C., & Hegg, C. C. (2012). Mechanisms of constitutive and ATP-evoked ATP release in neonatal mouse olfactory epithelium. *Bmc Neuroscience*, *13*(1), 1-12.
- Headrick, J. P., Ashton, K. J., Rose'Meyer, R. B., & Peart, J. N. (2013). Cardiovascular adenosine receptors: expression, actions and interactions. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, 140(1), 92-111.
- Henriquez, M., Fonseca, M., & Perez-Zoghbi, J. F. (2018). Purinergic receptor stimulation induces calcium oscillations and smooth muscle contraction in small pulmonary veins. *The Journal of physiology*, *596*(13), 2491-2506.

- Hillock-Watling, C., & Gotlieb, A. I. (2022). The pathobiology of perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT), the fourth layer of the blood vessel wall. *Cardiovascular Pathology*, 107459.
- Hoffmann, C., Ziegler, N., Reiner, S., Krasel, C., & Lohse, M. J. (2008). Agonistselective, receptor-specific interaction of human P2Y receptors with β-arrestin-1 and-2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *283*(45), 30933-30941.
- Hondares, E., Iglesias, R., Giralt, A., Gonzalez, F. J., Giralt, M., Mampel, T., & Villarroya, F. (2011). Thermogenic activation induces FGF21 expression and release in brown adipose tissue. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(15), 12983-12990.
- Huang, F., Xiong, X., Wang, H., You, S., & Zeng, H. (2010). Leptin-induced vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation via regulating cell cycle, activating ERK1/2 and NF-κB. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin, 42(5), 325-331.
- Huang, J., Driscoll, E. M., Gonzales, M. L., Park, A. M., & Lucchesi, B. R. (2000). Prevention of arterial thrombosis by intravenously administered platelet P2T receptor antagonist AR-C69931MX in a canine model. *Journal of Pharmacology* and Experimental Therapeutics, 295(2), 492-499.
- Illes, P., Müller, C. E., Jacobson, K. A., Grutter, T., Nicke, A., Fountain, S. J., . . . Stojilkovic, S. S. (2021). Update of P2X receptor properties and their pharmacology: IUPHAR Review 30. *British journal of pharmacology*, *178*(3), 489-514.
- Ishida, K., Matsumoto, T., Taguchi, K., Kamata, K., & Kobayashi, T. (2011). Mechanisms underlying altered extracellular nucleotide-induced contractions in mesenteric arteries from rats in later-stage type 2 diabetes: effect of ANG II type 1 receptor antagonism. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 301(5), H1850-H1861.
- Jacobson, K. A., Delicado, E. G., Gachet, C., Kennedy, C., von Kügelgen, I., Li, B., . . . Perez-Sen, R. (2020). Update of P2Y receptor pharmacology: IUPHAR Review 27. *British journal of pharmacology, 177*(11), 2413-2433.
- Jacobson, K. A., & Gao, Z.-G. (2006). Adenosine receptors as therapeutic targets. *Nature reviews Drug discovery, 5*(3), 247.
- Jacobson, K. A., Jayasekara, M. S., & Costanzi, S. (2012). Molecular structure of P2Y receptors: mutagenesis, modeling, and chemical probes. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Membrane Transport and Signaling*, 1(6), 815-827.
- Jespersen, B., Tykocki, N. R., Watts, S. W., & Cobbett, P. J. (2015). Measurement of smooth muscle function in the isolated tissue bath-applications to pharmacology research. *JoVE (Journal of Visualized Experiments)*(95), e52324.
- Johansson, S. M., Lindgren, E., Yang, J.-N., Herling, A. W., & Fredholm, B. B. (2008). Adenosine A1 receptors regulate lipolysis and lipogenesis in mouse adipose tissue—Interactions with insulin. *Eur J Pharmacol, 597*(1-3), 92-101.
- Kang, K.-T. (2014). Endothelium-derived relaxing factors of small resistance arteries in hypertension. *Toxicological research, 30*, 141-148.
- Kauffenstein, G., Drouin, A., Thorin-Trescases, N., Bachelard, H., Robaye, B., D'Orléans-Juste, P., . . . Sevigny, J. (2010). NTPDase1 (CD39) controls nucleotidedependent vasoconstriction in mouse. *Cardiovascular research*, *85*(1), 204-213.
- Kauffenstein, G., Tamareille, S., Prunier, F., Roy, C., Ayer, A., Toutain, B., . . . Loufrani, L. (2016). Central role of P2Y6 UDP receptor in arteriolar myogenic tone.
 Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 36(8), 1598-1606.
- Kemp, B., & Cocks, T. (1999). Adenosine mediates relaxation of human small resistancelike coronary arteries via A2B receptors. *British journal of pharmacology*, 126(8), 1796-1800.
- Kemp, P. A., Sugar, R. A., & Jackson, A. D. (2004). Nucleotide-mediated mucin secretion from differentiated human bronchial epithelial cells. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*, 31(4), 446-455.
- Kennedy, C., Chootip, K., Mitchell, C., Syed, N.-i.-H., & Tengah, A. (2013). P2X and P2Y nucleotide receptors as targets in cardiovascular disease. *Future medicinal chemistry*, 5(4), 431-449.

Kim, H. S., Ohno, M., Xu, B., Kim, H. O., Choi, Y., Ji, X. D., . . . Jacobson, K. A. (2003).
2-Substitution of adenine nucleotide analogues containing a bicyclo [3.1. 0] hexane ring system locked in a northern conformation: enhanced potency as P2Y1 receptor antagonists. *Journal of medicinal chemistry*, 46(23), 4974-4987.

Klabunde, R. (2011). *Cardiovascular physiology concepts*: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

- Klaus, S. (1997). Functional differentiation of white and brown adipocytes. *Bioessays*, 19(3), 215-223.
- Kleppisch, T., & Nelson, M. T. (1995). Adenosine activates ATP-sensitive potassium channels in arterial myocytes via A2 receptors and cAMP-dependent protein kinase. *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences, 92*(26), 12441-12445.
- Kunduri, S. S., Mustafa, S. J., Ponnoth, D. S., Dick, G. M., & Nayeem, M. A. (2013). Adenosine A1 receptors link to smooth muscle contraction via CYP4a, PKC-a, and ERK1/2. *Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology*, *62*(1), 78.
- Kuo, I. Y., & Ehrlich, B. E. (2015). Signaling in muscle contraction. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, *7*(2), a006023.
- Kur, J., & Newman, E. A. (2014). Purinergic control of vascular tone in the retina. *The Journal of physiology*, *592*(3), 491-504.
- Lafontan, M., & Berlan, M. (1993). Fat cell adrenergic receptors and the control of white and brown fat cell function. *Journal of lipid research*, *34*(7), 1057-1091.
- Laplante, M.-A., Monassier, L., Freund, M., Bousquet, P., & Gachet, C. (2010). The purinergic P2Y1 receptor supports leptin secretion in adipose tissue. *Endocrinology*, *151*(5), 2060-2070.
- Lazarowski, E. R. (2012). Vesicular and conductive mechanisms of nucleotide release. *Purinergic Signalling*, *8*(3), 359-373.
- Lazarowski, E. R., Boucher, R. C., & Harden, T. K. (2003). Mechanisms of release of nucleotides and integration of their action as P2X-and P2Y-receptor activating molecules. *Molecular pharmacology*, *64*(4), 785-795.
- Lazarowski, E. R., & Harden, T. K. (1999). Quantitation of extracellular UTP using a sensitive enzymatic assay. *British journal of pharmacology, 127*(5), 1272-1278.
- Lee, H., Jun, D.-J., Suh, B.-C., Choi, B.-H., Lee, J.-H., Do, M.-S., . . . Kim, K.-T. (2005). Dual roles of P2 purinergic receptors in insulin-stimulated leptin production and lipolysis in differentiated rat white adipocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(31), 28556-28563.
- Lee, S., Vielhauer, N., Leaver, E., & Pappone, P. (2005). Differential regulation of Ca 2+ signaling and membrane trafficking by multiple P2 receptors in brown adipocytes. *The Journal of membrane biology*, 207(3), 131-142.
- Lemaire, A., Vanorlé, M., Horckmans, M., Di Pietrantonio, L., Clouet, S., Robaye, B., . . . Communi, D. (2017). Mouse P2Y4 nucleotide receptor is a negative regulator of cardiac adipose-derived stem cell differentiation and cardiac fat formation. *Stem cells and development*, *26*(5), 363-373.
- Levesque, S., Lavoie, É. G., Lecka, J., Bigonnesse, F., & Sévigny, J. (2007). Specificity of the ecto-ATPase inhibitor ARL 67156 on human and mouse ectonucleotidases. *British journal of pharmacology*, *152*(1), 141-150.
- Lewis, C., & Evans, R. (2000). Comparison of P2X receptors in rat mesenteric, basilar and septal (coronary) arteries. *Journal of the autonomic nervous system*, *81*(1-3), 69-74.
- Lewis, C., & Evans, R. (2001). P2X receptor immunoreactivity in different arteries from the femoral, pulmonary, cerebral, coronary and renal circulations. *Journal of vascular research*, *38*(4), 332-340.
- Lewis, C., Hourani, S., Long, C., & Collis, M. (1994). Characterization of adenosine receptors in the rat isolated aorta. *General pharmacology*, *25*(7), 1381-1387.
- Lewis, P., Naqvi, S., Mandal, P., & Potluri, P. (2015). LB03. 04: Sphygmomanometer cuff construction and materials affect transmission of pressure from cuff to arterial wall. Finite element analysis of human pressure measurements and DICOM data. *Journal of Hypertension, 33*, e127.
- Li, M., Kawate, T., Silberberg, S. D., & Swartz, K. J. (2010). Pore-opening mechanism in trimeric P2X receptor channels. *Nature communications*, *1*, 44.

- Li, X., Ma, Z., & Zhu, Y. Z. (2021). Regional heterogeneity of perivascular adipose tissue: morphology, origin, and secretome. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *12*, 697720.
- Lincoln, T. M., Dey, N., & Sellak, H. (2001). Invited review: cGMP-dependent protein kinase signaling mechanisms in smooth muscle: from the regulation of tone to gene expression. *Journal of applied physiology*, *91*(3), 1421-1430.
- Liu, S., McCormack, D., Evans, T., & Barnes, P. (1989). Characterization and distribution of P2-purinoceptor subtypes in rat pulmonary vessels. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 251(3), 1204-1210.
- Locovei, S., Bao, L., & Dahl, G. (2006). Pannexin 1 in erythrocytes: function without a gap. *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences, 103*(20), 7655-7659.
- Lohman, A. W., Billaud, M., & Isakson, B. E. (2012). Mechanisms of ATP release and signalling in the blood vessel wall. *Cardiovascular research*, *95*(3), 269-280.
- Lohn, M., Dubrovska, G., Lauterbach, B., Luft, F. C., Gollasch, M., & Sharma, A. M. (2002). Periadventitial fat releases a vascular relaxing factor. *The FASEB Journal*, *16*(9), 1057-1063.
- Lu, C., Su, L.-Y., Lee, R. M., & Gao, Y.-J. (2010). Mechanisms for perivascular adipose tissue-mediated potentiation of vascular contraction to perivascular neuronal stimulation: the role of adipocyte-derived angiotensin II. *Eur J Pharmacol, 634*(1-3), 107-112.
- Lynch, F. M., Withers, S. B., Yao, Z., Werner, M. E., Edwards, G., Weston, A. H., & Heagerty, A. M. (2013). Perivascular adipose tissue-derived adiponectin activates BKCa channels to induce anticontractile responses. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, *304*(6), H786-H795.
- Madec, S., Rossi, C., Chiarugi, M., Santini, E., Salvati, A., Ferrannini, E., & Solini, A.
 (2011). Adipocyte P2X7 receptors expression: a role in modulating inflammatory response in subjects with metabolic syndrome? *Atherosclerosis*, 219(2), 552-558.
- Malmsjö, M., Adner, M., Harden, T. K., Pendergast, W., Edvinsson, L., & Erlinge, D. (2000). The stable pyrimidines UDPβS and UTPγS discriminate between the P2 receptors that mediate vascular contraction and relaxation of the rat mesenteric artery. *British journal of pharmacology*, *131*(1), 51-56.
- Malmsjö, M., Hou, M., Harden, T. K., Pendergast, W., Pantev, E., Edvinsson, L., & Erlinge, D. (2000). Characterization of contractile P2 receptors in human coronary arteries by use of the stable pyrimidines uridine 5'-O-thiodiphosphate and uridine 5'-O-3-thiotriphosphate. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 293(3), 755-760.
- Malmsjö, M., Hou, M., Pendergast, W., Erlinge, D., & Edvinsson, L. (2003). Potent P2Y 6 receptor mediated contractions in human cerebral arteries. *BMC pharmacology*, *3*(1), 4.
- Mamedova, L. K., Joshi, B. V., Gao, Z.-G., von Kügelgen, I., & Jacobson, K. A. (2004). Disothiocyanate derivatives as potent, insurmountable antagonists of P2Y6 nucleotide receptors. *Biochemical pharmacology*, 67(9), 1763-1770.
- Mariman, E. C., & Wang, P. (2010). Adipocyte extracellular matrix composition, dynamics and role in obesity. *Cellular and molecular life sciences*, *67*(8), 1277-1292.
- Martínez-Cutillas, M., Gil, V., Gallego, D., Mañé, N., Clavé, P., Martín, M. T., & Jiménez, M. (2014). a, β-meATP mimics the effects of the purinergic neurotransmitter in the human and rat colon. *Eur J Pharmacol, 740*, 442-454.
- Matsuda, K., Teragawa, H., Fukuda, Y., Nakagawa, K., Higashi, Y., & Chayama, K. (2003). Leptin causes nitric-oxide independent coronary artery vasodilation in humans. *Hypertension Research*, 26(2), 147-152.
- Mazurek, R., Dave, J. M., Chandran, R. R., Misra, A., Sheikh, A. Q., & Greif, D. M. (2017). Vascular cells in blood vessel wall development and disease. In *Advances in Pharmacology* (Vol. 78, pp. 323-350): Elsevier.
- McLaren, G., Burke, K., Buchanan, K., Sneddon, P., & Kennedy, C. (1998). Evidence that ATP acts at two sites to evoke contraction in the rat isolated tail artery. *British journal of pharmacology*, *124*(1), 5-12.

- McLaren, G. J., Sneddon, P., & Kennedy, C. (1998). Comparison of the actions of ATP and UTP and P(2X1) receptors in smooth muscle of the rat tail artery. *Eur J Pharmacol*, *351*(1), 139-144.
- Medina-Gomez, G. (2012). Mitochondria and endocrine function of adipose tissue. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab, 26*(6), 791-804. doi:10.1016/j.beem.2012.06.002
- Mistry, H., Gitlin, J. M., Mitchell, J. A., & Hiley, C. R. (2003). Endothelium-dependent relaxation and endothelial hyperpolarization by P2Y receptor agonists in ratisolated mesenteric artery. *British journal of pharmacology*, *139*(3), 661-671.
- Mitchell, C., Tengah, A., Gurney, A. M., & Kennedy, C. (2012). Identification of contractile P2Y1, P2Y6, and P2Y12 receptors in rat intrapulmonary artery using selective ligands. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 343(3), 755-762.
- Miyagi, Y., Kobayashi, S., Nishimura, J., Fukui, M., & Kanaide, H. (1996). Dual regulation of cerebrovascular tone by UTP: P2U receptor-mediated contraction and endothelium-dependent relaxation. *British journal of pharmacology, 118*(4), 847-856.
- Mohammed, M., Myers, D., Sofola, O., Hainsworth, R., & Drinkhill, M. (2007). Vasodilator effects of leptin on canine isolated mesenteric arteries and veins. *Clinical and experimental pharmacology & physiology, 34*(8), 771-774.
- Momin, A. U., Melikian, N., Shah, A. M., Grieve, D. J., Wheatcroft, S. B., John, L., . . . Driver, C. (2006). Leptin is an endothelial-independent vasodilator in humans with coronary artery disease: evidence for tissue specificity of leptin resistance. *European heart journal*, *27*(19), 2294-2299.
- Münzberg, H., & Morrison, C. D. (2015). Structure, production and signaling of leptin. *Metabolism*, 64(1), 13-23.
- Muoboghare, M. O., Drummond, R. M., & Kennedy, C. (2019). Characterisation of P2Y2 receptors in human vascular endothelial cells using AR-C118925XX, a competitive and selective P2Y2 antagonist. *British journal of pharmacology, 176*(16), 2894-2904.
- Musovic, S., Komai, A. M., Said, M. K., Wu, Y., Asterholm, I. W., & Olofsson, C. S. (2021). Noradrenaline and ATP regulate white adipocyte adiponectin exocytosis: disturbed adrenergic and purinergic signalling in obesity-associated diabetes. *bioRxiv*.
- Mustafa, S. J., Morrison, R., Teng, B., & Pelleg, A. (2009). Adenosine receptors and the heart: role in regulation of coronary blood flow and cardiac electrophysiology. *Adenosine Receptors in Health and Disease*, 161-188.
- Nakagawa, K., Higashi, Y., Sasaki, S., Oshima, T., Matsuura, H., & Chayama, K. (2002). Leptin causes vasodilation in humans. *Hypertension Research*, *25*(2), 161-165.
- Nichols, C. M., Povstyan, O. V., Albert, A. P., Gordienko, D. V., Khan, O., Vasilikostas, G., . . . Harhun, M. I. (2014). Vascular smooth muscle cells from small human omental arteries express P2X1 and P2X4 receptor subunits. *Purinergic Signalling*, 10(4), 565-572.
- Nishimura, A., Sunggip, C., Oda, S., Numaga-Tomita, T., Tsuda, M., & Nishida, M. (2017). Purinergic P2Y receptors: molecular diversity and implications for treatment of cardiovascular diseases. *Pharmacology & therapeutics, 180*, 113-128.
- North, R. A. (2002). Molecular physiology of P2X receptors. *Physiological reviews, 82*(4), 1013-1067.
- Obradovic, M., Sudar-Milovanovic, E., Soskic, S., Essack, M., Arya, S., Stewart, A. J., Isenovic, E. R. (2021). Leptin and obesity: role and clinical implication. *Frontiers in endocrinology*, *12*, 585887.
- Okada, S. F., Nicholas, R. A., Kreda, S. M., Lazarowski, E. R., & Boucher, R. C. (2006). Physiological Regulation of ATP Release at the Apical Surface of Human Airway Epithelia*♦. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(32), 22992-23002.
- Okamoto, T., Akiyama, M., Takeda, M., Gabazza, E. C., Hayashi, T., & Suzuki, K. (2009). Connexin32 is expressed in vascular endothelial cells and participates in gap-

junction intercellular communication. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 382*(2), 264-268. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.02.148

- Omae, T., Nagaoka, T., Tanano, I., & Yoshida, A. (2013). Adiponectin-induced dilation of isolated porcine retinal arterioles via production of nitric oxide from endothelial cells. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science, 54*(7), 4586-4594.
- Oparil, S., Zaman, M. A., & Calhoun, D. A. (2003). Pathogenesis of hypertension. *Annals of internal medicine*, 139(9), 761-776.
- Panchin, Y. V. (2005). Evolution of gap junction proteins–the pannexin alternative. *Journal of Experimental Biology, 208*(8), 1415-1419.
- Parekh, A. B., & Putney Jr, J. W. (2005). Store-operated calcium channels. *Physiological reviews*, 85(2), 757-810.
- Park, A., Kim, W. K., & Bae, K.-H. (2014). Distinction of white, beige and brown adipocytes derived from mesenchymal stem cells. *World journal of stem cells*, 6(1), 33.
- Patel, D., Zhang, X., & Veenstra, R. D. (2014). Connexin hemichannel and pannexin channel electrophysiology: How do they differ? *FEBS letters, 588*(8), 1372-1378.
- Payne, G. A., Bohlen, H. G., Dincer, U. D., Borbouse, L., & Tune, J. D. (2009). Periadventitial adipose tissue impairs coronary endothelial function via PKC-β dependent phosphorylation of nitric oxide synthase. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*.
- Pelegrin, P., & Surprenant, A. (2006). Pannexin-1 mediates large pore formation and interleukin-1β release by the ATP-gated P2X7 receptor. *The EMBO journal*, *25*(21), 5071-5082.
- Penuela, S., Gehi, R., & Laird, D. W. (2013). The biochemistry and function of pannexin channels. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes, 1828*(1), 15-22.
- Pereira, S. S., & Alvarez-Leite, J. I. (2014). Adipokines: biological functions and metabolically healthy obese profile. *Journal of receptor, ligand and channel research*, *7*, 15-25.
- Polito, R., Monda, V., Nigro, E., Messina, A., Di Maio, G., Giuliano, M. T., . . . Mosca, L. (2020). The important role of adiponectin and orexin-A, two key proteins improving healthy status: focus on physical activity. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *11*, 356.
- Pugsley, M., & Tabrizchi, R. (2000). The vascular system: An overview of structure and function. *Journal of pharmacological and toxicological methods*, *44*(2), 333-340.
- Qi, X.-Y., Qu, S.-L., Xiong, W.-H., Rom, O., Chang, L., & Jiang, Z.-S. (2018). Perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) in atherosclerosis: a double-edged sword. *Cardiovascular diabetology*, *17*(1), 1-20.
- Quillon, A., Fromy, B., & Debret, R. (2015). Endothelium microenvironment sensing leading to nitric oxide mediated vasodilation: A review of nervous and biomechanical signals. *Nitric Oxide, 45*, 20-26.
- Rafehi, M., Burbiel, J. C., Attah, I. Y., Abdelrahman, A., & Müller, C. E. (2017). Synthesis, characterization, and in vitro evaluation of the selective P2Y 2 receptor antagonist AR-C118925. *Purinergic Signalling*, 13(1), 89-103.
- Rajsheker, S., Manka, D., Blomkalns, A. L., Chatterjee, T. K., Stoll, L. L., & Weintraub, N. L. (2010). Crosstalk between perivascular adipose tissue and blood vessels. *Current opinion in pharmacology*, 10(2), 191-196.
- Ralevic, V. (2009). Purines as neurotransmitters and neuromodulators in blood vessels. *Current vascular pharmacology*, 7(1), 3-14.
- Ralevic, V., & Burnstock, G. (1998). Receptors for purines and pyrimidines. *Pharmacological reviews, 50*(3), 413-492.
- Ralevic, V., & Dunn, W. R. (2015). Purinergic transmission in blood vessels. *Autonomic Neuroscience*, 191, 48-66.
- Ramirez, J., O'malley, E., & Ho, W. (2017). Pro-contractile effects of perivascular fat in health and disease. *British journal of pharmacology*, *174*(20), 3482-3495.
- Raqeeb, A., Sheng, J., Ao, N., & Braun, A. P. (2011). Purinergic P2Y2 receptors mediate rapid Ca2+ mobilization, membrane hyperpolarization and nitric oxide production in human vascular endothelial cells. *Cell calcium*, 49(4), 240-248.

- Rasmussen, M. S., Lihn, A. S., Pedersen, S. B., Bruun, J. M., Rasmussen, M., & Richelsen, B. (2006). Adiponectin receptors in human adipose tissue: effects of obesity, weight loss, and fat depots. *Obesity*, 14(1), 28-35.
- Ratz, P. H., Berg, K. M., Urban, N. H., & Miner, A. S. (2005). Regulation of smooth muscle calcium sensitivity: KCl as a calcium-sensitizing stimulus. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 288(4), C769-C783.
- Ray, C. J., & Marshall, J. M. (2006). The cellular mechanisms by which adenosine evokes release of nitric oxide from rat aortic endothelium. *The Journal of physiology*, 570(1), 85-96.
- Ray, F. R., Huang, W., Slater, M., & Barden, J. A. (2002). Purinergic receptor distribution in endothelial cells in blood vessels: a basis for selection of coronary artery grafts. *Atherosclerosis*, 162(1), 55-61.
- Rayment, S., Latif, M., Ralevic, V., & Alexander, S. (2007). Evidence for the expression of multiple uracil nucleotide-stimulated P2 receptors coupled to smooth muscle contraction in porcine isolated arteries. *British journal of pharmacology*, *150*(5), 604-612.
- Rayner, D. V. (2001). The sympathetic nervous system in white adipose tissue regulation. *Proceedings of the nutrition society*, 60(3), 357-364.
- Razzoli, M., Frontini, A., Gurney, A., Mondini, E., Cubuk, C., Katz, L. S., . . . Vidal-Puig, A. (2016). Stress-induced activation of brown adipose tissue prevents obesity in conditions of low adaptive thermogenesis. *Molecular metabolism*, 5(1), 19-33.
- Regan, J., VanPutte, C., & Russo, A. (2015). *Seeley's Essentials of Anatomy and Physiology*: McGraw-Hill Higher Education.
- Reiss, A. B., Grossfeld, D., Kasselman, L. J., Renna, H. A., Vernice, N. A., Drewes, W., . . DeLeon, J. (2019). Adenosine and the cardiovascular system. *American Journal* of Cardiovascular Drugs, 19(5), 449-464.
- Restini, C. B. A., Ismail, A., Kumar, R. K., Burnett, R., Garver, H., Fink, G. D., & Watts, S. W. (2018). Renal perivascular adipose tissue: Form and function. *Vascular pharmacology*, *106*, 37-45.
- Rettinger, J. r., & Schmalzing, G. n. (2003). Activation and desensitization of the recombinant P2X1 receptor at nanomolar ATP concentrations. *The Journal of general physiology*, *121*(5), 451-461.
- Rice, A. M., Fain, J. N., & Rivkees, S. A. (2000). A1 adenosine receptor activation increases adipocyte leptin secretion. *Endocrinology*, *141*(4), 1442-1445.
- Riewe, D., Grosman, L., Fernie, A. R., Wucke, C., & Geigenberger, P. (2008). The potato-specific apyrase is apoplastically localized and has influence on gene expression, growth, and development. *Plant Physiology*, *147*(3), 1092-1109.
- Riis-Vestergaard, M. J., Misfeldt, M. W., & Bek, T. (2014). Dual effects of adenosine on the tone of porcine retinal arterioles in vitro. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, *55*(3), 1630-1636.
- Robson, S. C., Sevigny, J., & Zimmermann, H. (2006). The E-NTPDase family of ectonucleotidases: Structure function relationships and pathophysiological significance. *Purinergic Signal, 2*(2), 409-430. doi:10.1007/s11302-006-9003-5
- Robson, S. C., Sévigny, J., & Zimmermann, H. (2006). The E-NTPDase family of ectonucleotidases: structure function relationships and pathophysiological significance. *Purinergic Signalling*, 2(2), 409-430.
- Róg, J., Oksiejuk, A., Gosselin, M. R., Brutkowski, W., Dymkowska, D., Nowak, N., . . . Zabłocki, K. (2019). Dystrophic mdx mouse myoblasts exhibit elevated ATP/UTPevoked metabotropic purinergic responses and alterations in calcium signalling. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Basis of Disease, 1865*(6), 1138-1151.
- Rosen, E. D., & MacDougald, O. A. (2006). Adipocyte differentiation from the inside out. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 7(12), 885-896. doi:10.1038/nrm2066
- Rosenwald, M., Perdikari, A., Rulicke, T., & Wolfrum, C. (2013). Bi-directional interconversion of brite and white adipocytes. *Nat Cell Biol*, *15*(6), 659-667. doi:10.1038/ncb2740
- Rossato, M., Favaretto, F., Granzotto, M., Crescenzi, M., Boscaro, A., Di Vincenzo, A., . . . Vettor, R. (2022). Molecular and Pharmacological Evidence for the Expression of Multiple Functional P2 Purinergic Receptors in Human Adipocytes. *Molecules*, 27(6), 1913.
- Rossi, C., Santini, E., Chiarugi, M., Salvati, A., Comassi, M., Vitolo, E., . . . Solini, A. (2014). The complex P 2 X 7 receptor/inflammasome in perivascular fat tissue of heavy smokers. *European journal of clinical investigation*, 44(3), 295-302.
- Rubinstein, J., Lasko, V. M., Koch, S. E., Singh, V. P., Carreira, V., Robbins, N., . . . Kranias, E. G. (2014). Novel role of transient receptor potential vanilloid 2 in the regulation of cardiac performance. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 306*(4), H574-H584.
- Rummery, N. M., Brock, J. A., Pakdeechote, P., Ralevic, V., & Dunn, W. R. (2007). ATP is the predominant sympathetic neurotransmitter in rat mesenteric arteries at high pressure. *The Journal of physiology*, *582*(2), 745-754.
- Sáez, J. C., Berthoud, V. M., Branes, M. C., Martinez, A. D., & Beyer, E. C. (2003). Plasma membrane channels formed by connexins: their regulation and functions. *Physiological reviews*, *83*(4), 1359-1400.
- Sáez, J. C., & Leybaert, L. (2014). Hunting for connexin hemichannels. *FEBS letters*, 588(8), 1205-1211.
- Sahin, A., Bariskaner, H., Gökbel, H., & Okudan, N. (2009). The dual effects of leptin on aortic rings with and without endothelium isolated from streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Methods and findings in experimental and clinical pharmacology*, *31*(5), 325-329.
- Sanabria, P., Ross, E., Ramírez, E., Colón, K., Hernández, M., Maldonado, H. M., . . . González, F. A. (2008). P2Y2 receptor desensitization on single endothelial cells. *Endothelium*, 15(1-2), 43-51.
- Sancho, M., Klug, N. R., Mughal, A., Koide, M., Huerta de la Cruz, S., Heppner, T. J., ... Nelson, M. T. (2022). Adenosine signaling activates ATP-sensitive K+ channels in endothelial cells and pericytes in CNS capillaries. *Science Signaling*, *15*(727), eabl5405.
- Sandoo, A., van Zanten, J. J. V., Metsios, G. S., Carroll, D., & Kitas, G. D. (2010). The endothelium and its role in regulating vascular tone. *Open Cardiovasc Med J, 4*, 302.
- Savi, P., Labouret, C., Delesque, N., Guette, F., Lupker, J., & Herbert, J. (2001). P2Y12, a new platelet ADP receptor, target of clopidogrel. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 283*(2), 379-383.
- Saxton, S. N., Ryding, K. E., Aldous, R. G., Withers, S. B., Ohanian, J., & Heagerty, A.
 M. (2018). Role of sympathetic nerves and adipocyte catecholamine uptake in the vasorelaxant function of perivascular adipose tissue. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, 38(4), 880-891.
- Scherer, P. E., Williams, S., Fogliano, M., Baldini, G., & Lodish, H. F. (1995). A novel serum protein similar to C1q, produced exclusively in adipocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(45), 26746-26749.
- Schödel, J., Weise, I., Klinger, R., & Schmidt, M. (2004). Stimulation of lipogenesis in rat adipocytes by ATP, a ligand for P2-receptors. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 321(4), 767-773.
- Schroeter, M. R., Schneiderman, J., Schumann, B., Glückermann, R., Grimmas, P., Buchwald, A. B., . . . Schäfer, K. (2007). Expression of the leptin receptor in different types of vascular lesions. *Histochemistry and cell biology*, *128*(4), 323-333.
- Schwiebert, L. M., Rice, W. C., Kudlow, B. A., Taylor, A. L., & Schwiebert, E. M. (2002). Extracellular ATP signaling and P2X nucleotide receptors in monolayers of primary human vascular endothelial cells. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 282(2), C289-C301.
- Sedaa, K. O., Bjur, R. A., Shinozuka, K., & Westfall, D. P. (1990). Nerve and druginduced release of adenine nucleosides and nucleotides from rabbit aorta. *Journal* of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 252(3), 1060-1067.

- Shatarat, A., Dunn, W. R., & Ralevic, V. (2014). Raised tone reveals ATP as a sympathetic neurotransmitter in the porcine mesenteric arterial bed. *Purinergic Signalling*, *10*(4), 639-649.
- Shatarat, A., Dunn, W. R., & Ralevic, V. (2014). Raised tone reveals ATP as a sympathetic neurotransmitter in the porcine mesenteric arterial bed. *Purinergic Signalling*, 10, 639-649.
- Sivaramakrishnan, V., Bidula, S., Campwala, H., Katikaneni, D., & Fountain, S. J. (2012). Constitutive lysosome exocytosis releases ATP and engages P2Y receptors in human monocytes. *Journal of cell science*, *125*(19), 4567-4575.
- Sohl, G., & Willecke, K. (2003). An update on connexin genes and their nomenclature in mouse and man. *Cell Commun Adhes, 10*(4-6), 173-180. doi:10.1080/cac.10.4-6.173.180
- Söhl, G., & Willecke, K. (2004). Gap junctions and the connexin protein family. *Cardiovascular research*, 62(2), 228-232.
- Soltis, E. E., & Cassis, L. A. (1991). Influence of perivascular adipose tissue on rat aortic smooth muscle responsiveness. *Clinical and Experimental Hypertension. Part A: Theory and Practice, 13*(2), 277-296.
- Sosinsky, G. E., Boassa, D., Dermietzel, R., Duffy, H. S., Laird, D. W., MacVicar, B., . . . Spray, D. C. (2011). Pannexin channels are not gap junction hemichannels. *Channels*, *5*(3), 193-197.
- Springthorpe, B., Bailey, A., Barton, P., Birkinshaw, T. N., Bonnert, R. V., Brown, R. C., . . . Humphries, R. G. (2007). From ATP to AZD6140: the discovery of an orally active reversible P2Y12 receptor antagonist for the prevention of thrombosis. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters, 17*(21), 6013-6018.

Stephens, M., Ludgate, M., & Rees, D. A. (2011). Brown fat and obesity: the next big thing? *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf), 74*(6), 661-670. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04018.x

- Sugihara, M., Morita, H., Matsuda, M., Umebayashi, H., Kajioka, S., Ito, S., . . . Yamazaki, J. (2011). Dual signaling pathways of arterial constriction by extracellular uridine 5'-triphosphate in the rat. *Journal of pharmacological sciences*, 1102180514-1102180514.
- Sun, C., Jiao, T., Merkus, D., Duncker, D. J., Mustafa, S. J., & Zhou, Z. (2019). Activation of adenosine A2A but not A2B receptors is involved in uridine adenosine tetraphosphate-induced porcine coronary smooth muscle relaxation. *Journal of pharmacological sciences*, 141(1), 64-69.
- Suzuki, Y., Yeung, A. C., & Ikeno, F. (2010). The representative porcine model for human cardiovascular disease. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, 2011.
- Szasz, T., Bomfim, G. F., & Webb, R. C. (2013). The influence of perivascular adipose tissue on vascular homeostasis. *Vascular health and risk management*, *9*, 105.
- Szasz, T., & Webb, R. C. (2012). Perivascular adipose tissue: more than just structural support. *Clinical science*, *122*(1), 1-12.
- Tan, K., Xu, A., Chow, W., Lam, M., Ai, V., Tam, S., & Lam, K. (2004).
 Hypoadiponectinemia is associated with impaired endothelium-dependent
 vasodilation. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 89*(2), 765-769.
- Tengah, A., Talip, S. T. A., Bujang, S. N. B., & Kennedy, C. (2018). Comparison of signalling mechanisms underlying UTP-evoked vasoconstriction of rat pulmonary and tail arteries. *Eur J Pharmacol, 837*, 45-52.
- Thévenin, A. F., Kowal, T. J., Fong, J. T., Kells, R. M., Fisher, C. G., & Falk, M. M. (2013). Proteins and mechanisms regulating gap-junction assembly, internalization, and degradation. *Physiology*, 28(2), 93-116.
- Tian, M., Abdelrahman, A., Baqi, Y., Fuentes, E., Azazna, D., Spanier, C., . . . Müller, C. E. (2020). Discovery and structure relationships of salicylanilide derivatives as potent, non-acidic P2X1 receptor antagonists. *Journal of medicinal chemistry*, 63(11), 6164-6178.
- To, W. L., Kumar, P., & Marshall, J. (2015). Hypoxia is an effective stimulus for vesicular release of ATP from human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Placenta, 36*(7), 759-766.

- Tozzi, M., Hansen, J. B., & Novak, I. (2020). Pannexin-1 mediated ATP release in adipocytes is sensitive to glucose and insulin and modulates lipolysis and macrophage migration. *Acta Physiologica*, *228*(2), e13360.
- Tozzi, M., & Novak, I. (2017). Purinergic receptors in adipose tissue as potential targets in metabolic disorders. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *8*, 878.
- Tsang, H.-G., Rashdan, N., Whitelaw, C., Corcoran, B., Summers, K., & MacRae, V. (2016). Large animal models of cardiovascular disease. *Cell biochemistry and function*, *34*(3), 113-132.
- Tsubai, T., Noda, Y., Ito, K., Nakao, M., Seino, Y., Oiso, Y., & Hamada, Y. (2016). Insulin elevates leptin secretion and mRNA levels via cyclic AMP in 3T3-L1 adipocytes deprived of glucose. *Heliyon*, 2(11), e00194.
- Ullian, M. E., Hazen-Martin, D. J., Walsh, L. G., Davda, R. K., & Egan, B. M. (1996). Carbenoxolone damages endothelium and enhances vasoconstrictor action in aortic rings. *Hypertension*, *27*(6), 1346-1352.
- Vecchione, C., Maffei, A., Colella, S., Aretini, A., Poulet, R., Frati, G., . . . Trimarco, B. (2002). Leptin effect on endothelial nitric oxide is mediated through Akt–endothelial nitric oxide synthase phosphorylation pathway. *Diabetes*, *51*(1), 168-173.
- Verlohren, S., Dubrovska, G., Tsang, S.-Y., Essin, K., Luft, F. C., Huang, Y., & Gollasch, M. (2004). Visceral periadventitial adipose tissue regulates arterial tone of mesenteric arteries. *Hypertension*, 44(3), 271-276.
- Vial, C., & Evans, R. J. (2002). P2X1 receptor-deficient mice establish the native P2X receptor and a P2Y6-like receptor in arteries. *Molecular pharmacology*, 62(6), 1438-1445.
- Victorio, J. A., Fontes, M. T., Rossoni, L. V., & Davel, A. P. (2016). Different anticontractile function and nitric oxide production of thoracic and abdominal perivascular adipose tissues. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *7*, 295.
- von Kuegelgen, I., & Hoffmann, K. (2016). Pharmacology and structure of P2Y receptors. *Neuropharmacology*, 104, 50-61.
- von Kügelgen, I. (2006). Pharmacological profiles of cloned mammalian P2Y-receptor subtypes. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, *110*(3), 415-432.
- von Kügelgen, I. (2019). Pharmacology of P2Y receptors. *Brain research bulletin, 151*, 12-24.
- von Kügelgen, I., & Hoffmann, K. (2016). Pharmacology and structure of P2Y receptors. *Neuropharmacology*, 104, 50-61.
- Wallace, A., Knight, G. E., Cowen, T., & Burnstock, G. (2006). Changes in purinergic signalling in developing and ageing rat tail artery: importance for temperature control. *Neuropharmacology*, 50(2), 191-208.
- Wang, L., Andersson, M., Karlsson, L., Watson, M.-A., Cousens, D. J., Jern, S., & Erlinge, D. (2003). Increased mitogenic and decreased contractile P2 receptors in smooth muscle cells by shear stress in human vessels with intact endothelium. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, 23(8), 1370-1376.
- Wang, L., Karlsson, L., Moses, S., Hultgårdh-Nilsson, A., Andersson, M., Borna, C., . . . Erlinge, D. (2002). P2 receptor expression profiles in human vascular smooth muscle and endothelial cells. *Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology*, 40(6), 841-853.
- Wang, S., Iring, A., Strilic, B., Juárez, J. A., Kaur, H., Troidl, K., . . . Fleming, I. (2015). P2Y 2 and G q/G 11 control blood pressure by mediating endothelial mechanotransduction. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *125*(8), 3077-3086.
- Wang, Y., Lam, K. S., Xu, J. Y., Lu, G., Xu, L. Y., Cooper, G. J., & Xu, A. (2005). Adiponectin inhibits cell proliferation by interacting with several growth factors in an oligomerization-dependent manner. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(18), 18341-18347.
- Webb, R. C. (2003). Smooth muscle contraction and relaxation. *Advances in physiology education, 27*(4), 201-206.

Westfall, T., Kennedy, C., & Sneddon, P. (1996). Enhancement of sympathetic purinergic neurotransmission in the guinea-pig isolated vas deferens by the novel ecto-ATPase inhibitor ARL 67156. *British journal of pharmacology*, *117*(5), 867-872.

- Weston, A., Egner, I., Dong, Y., Porter, E., Heagerty, A., & Edwards, G. (2013). Stimulated release of a hyperpolarizing factor (ADHF) from mesenteric artery perivascular adipose tissue: involvement of myocyte BKCa channels and adiponectin. *British journal of pharmacology*, *169*(7), 1500.
- Wiedemar, N., Hauser, D. A., & Mäser, P. (2020). 100 years of suramin. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 64(3), e01168-01119.
- Wihlborg, A.-K., Wang, L., Braun, O. O., Eyjolfsson, A., Gustafsson, R., Gudbjartsson, T., & Erlinge, D. (2004). ADP receptor P2Y12 is expressed in vascular smooth muscle cells and stimulates contraction in human blood vessels. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 24*(10), 1810-1815.
- Wihlborg, A. K., Malmsjö, M., Eyjolfsson, A., Gustafsson, R., Jacobson, K., & Erlinge, D. (2003). Extracellular nucleotides induce vasodilatation in human arteries via prostaglandins, nitric oxide and endothelium-derived hyperpolarising factor. *British journal of pharmacology*, 138(8), 1451-1458.
- Willebrords, J., Maes, M., Yanguas, S. C., & Vinken, M. (2017). Inhibitors of connexin and pannexin channels as potential therapeutics. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, 180, 144-160.
- Wolf, C., Rosefort, C., Fallah, G., Kassack, M. U., Hamacher, A., Bodnar, M., . . . Bahrenberg, G. (2011). Molecular determinants of potent P2X2 antagonism identified by functional analysis, mutagenesis, and homology docking. *Molecular pharmacology*, 79(4), 649-661.
- Xia, N., & Li, H. (2017). The role of perivascular adipose tissue in obesity-induced vascular dysfunction. *British journal of pharmacology*, *174*(20), 3425-3442.
- Yamamoto, K., & Ando, J. (2004). [Shear-stress sensing via P2 purinoceptors in vascular endothelial cells]. *Nihon Yakurigaku Zasshi, 124*(5), 319-328.
- Yamamoto, K., Korenaga, R., Kamiya, A., Qi, Z., Sokabe, M., & Ando, J. (2000). P2X4 receptors mediate ATP-induced calcium influx in human vascular endothelial cells. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 279*(1), H285-H292.
- Yamamoto, K., Sokabe, T., Matsumoto, T., Yoshimura, K., Shibata, M., Ohura, N., . . . Kato, S. (2006). Impaired flow-dependent control of vascular tone and remodeling in P2X4-deficient mice. *Nature medicine*, *12*(1), 133.
- Yamamoto, K., Sokabe, T., Matsumoto, T., Yoshimura, K., Shibata, M., Ohura, N., . . . Kato, S. (2006). Impaired flow-dependent control of vascular tone and remodeling in P2X4-deficient mice. *Nature medicine*, *12*(1), 133-137.
- Yamamoto, K., Sokabe, T., Ohura, N., Nakatsuka, H., Kamiya, A., & Ando, J. (2003). Endogenously released ATP mediates shear stress-induced Ca2+ influx into pulmonary artery endothelial cells. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 285(2), H793-H803.
- Yanai, H., & Yoshida, H. (2019). Beneficial effects of adiponectin on glucose and lipid metabolism and atherosclerotic progression: mechanisms and perspectives. *International journal of molecular sciences, 20*(5), 1190.
- Yegutkin, G., Bodin, P., & Burnstock, G. (2000). Effect of shear stress on the release of soluble ecto-enzymes ATPase and 5'-nucleotidase along with endogenous ATP from vascular endothelial cells. *British journal of pharmacology*, *129*(5), 921-926.
- Yegutkin, G. G. (2008). Nucleotide-and nucleoside-converting ectoenzymes: important modulators of purinergic signalling cascade. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research, 1783*(5), 673-694.
- Yegutkin, G. G. (2014). Enzymes involved in metabolism of extracellular nucleotides and nucleosides: functional implications and measurement of activities. *Critical reviews in biochemistry and molecular biology*, 49(6), 473-497.
- Zaborska, K., Wareing, M., Edwards, G., & Austin, C. (2016). Loss of anti-contractile effect of perivascular adipose tissue in offspring of obese rats. *International journal of obesity*, 40(8), 1205-1214.

- Zebisch, K., Voigt, V., Wabitsch, M., & Brandsch, M. (2012). Protocol for effective differentiation of 3T3-L1 cells to adipocytes. *Analytical biochemistry*, 425(1), 88-90.
- Zhang, Y., Ecelbarger, C. M., Lesniewski, L. A., Müller, C. E., & Kishore, B. K. (2020). P2Y2 receptor promotes high-fat diet-induced obesity. *Frontiers in endocrinology*, 11, 341.
- Zhang, Y., Proenca, R., Maffei, M., Barone, M., Leopold, L., & Friedman, J. M. (1994). Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature*, *372*(6505), 425-432.
- Zhang, Y., Wernly, B., Cao, X., Mustafa, S. J., Tang, Y., & Zhou, Z. (2021). Adenosine and adenosine receptor-mediated action in coronary microcirculation. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, *116*(1), 1-17.
- Zhao, Y., Vanhoutte, P. M., & Leung, S. W. (2015). Vascular nitric oxide: Beyond eNOS. Journal of pharmacological sciences, 129(2), 83-94.
- Zimmermann, H. (2000). Extracellular metabolism of ATP and other nucleotides. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's archives of pharmacology, 362*(4), 299-309.